

Please cite this paper as:

Houde, M., A. Kolse-Patil and S. Miroudot (2007-06-19), "The Interaction between Investment and Services Chapters in Selected Regional trade Agreements", *OECD Trade Policy Papers*, No. 55, OECD Publishing, Paris. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1787/054761108710</u>

OECD Trade Policy Papers No. 55



The Interaction between Investment and Services Chapters in Selected Regional trade Agreements

Marie-France Houde Akshay Kolse-Patil Sébastien Miroudot



Unclassified

COM/DAF/INV/TD(2006)40/FINAL



Organisation de Coopération et de Développement Economiques Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development

19-Jun-2007

English - Or. English

DIRECTORATE FOR FINANCIAL AND ENTERPRISE AFFAIRS TRADE DIRECTORATE

THE INTERACTION BETWEEN INVESTMENT AND SERVICES CHAPTERS IN SELECTED REGIONAL TRADE AGREEMENTS

OECD Trade Policy Working Paper No. 55

By Marie-France Houde, Akshay Kolse-Patil and Sébastien Miroudot

JT03229309

Document complet disponible sur OLIS dans son format d'origine Complete document available on OLIS in its original format

ABSTRACT

This report analyses the interactions between the investment and services chapters of 20 regional trade agreements. It classifies agreements into two broad categories of NAFTA-inspired and GATS-inspired agreements and identifies four major types of interaction between the investment and trade in services chapters. The report then looks at the implications of the services/investment interface for levels of investment protection and liberalisation.

Keywords: investment, services, regional trade agreements, RTA, investment liberalisation, investment protection, MFN, GATS, NAFTA.

JEL-codes: F13, F21.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This study has been prepared by Marie-France Houde and Akshay Kolse-Patil of the OECD Directorate for Financial and Enterprise Affairs (DAF) and Sébastien Miroudot of the OECD Trade and Agriculture Directorate (TAD), under the supervision of Dale Andrew, Head of the Trade Policy Linkages and Services Division of TAD and Pierre Poret, Head of the Investment Division of DAF. It has been discussed in the Investment Committee and Working Party of the Trade Committee and was declassified on the responsibility of the Secretary-General. The authors wish to thank Martin Molinuevo and Martin Roy for helpful comments and discussions during the preparation of this study.

The study is available on the OECD website in English and French: http://www.oecd.org/tad

Copyright OECD, 2007.

Applications for permission to reproduce or to translate all or part of this material should be made to: OECD Publication, 2 rue André Pascal, 75775 Paris Cedex 16, France.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

| ABSTRACT | 2 |
|--|----|
| ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS | 2 |
| KEY FINDINGS | 4 |
| SYNTHESIS | 6 |
| PART I. INTERACTIONS AMONGST INVESTMENT AND TRADE IN SERVICES CHAPTI DIFFERENT TYPES OF RTAs | |
| 1. The study sample | |
| 2. Key features of the investment and trade in services chapters of RTAs | 14 |
| PART II. IMPLICATIONS FOR INVESTMENT PROTECTION | |
| PART III. IMPLICATIONS FOR INVESTMENT LIBERALISATION | 32 |
| GATS and the NAFTA-inspired approach to the liberalisation of investment in services The implications of the Most-Favoured-Nation clause for the liberalisation of investment | |
| LIST OF REFERENCES | 50 |
| ANNEX 1 – KEY FEATURES OF THE RTAS REVIEWED | 53 |
| A. General contents of recent RTAs | 53 |
| B. Key features of investment chapters.C. Key features of services chapters | |
| ANNEX 2 - ANALYSIS OF THE SCHEDULES OF COMMITMENTS: METHODOLOGY, CA AND SUMMARY TABLES | |
| A. Methodology B. Caveats | |
| ANNEX 3 - THE GATS W/120 SERVICES SECTORAL CLASSIFICATION LIST | 81 |

Boxes

| Box 1. NAFTA-inspired reservations on MFN treatment | . 45 |
|--|------|
| Box 2. Specific rules that were followed when analysing the schedules and counting the limitations | . 76 |

KEY FINDINGS

This report analyses the interactions between the investment and services chapters of 20¹ Regional Trade Agreements (RTAs), in terms of the implications for levels of investment protection and liberalisation.

RTAs can generally be classified into two broad categories of NAFTA-inspired and GATS-inspired agreements. Investment disciplines in the former are lodged in the investment chapter and there is limited interaction with the services chapter. In GATS-inspired agreements, investment disciplines are divided between the services and the investment chapters and as a consequence interactions between them are more prevalent and are governed in either the investment or in the services chapter.

The level of investment protection is determined by the scope and coverage of the investment protection provisions and not by the type of interaction between the two chapters. In both types of RTAs, investment in services industries may benefit from the protections provided by the investment chapter (such as on expropriation, transfers, compensation for losses or investor-to-state dispute settlement). As investment provisions vary from one RTA to another, some countries have decided to maintain a former BIT alongside the more recently negotiated RTA.

Concerning the level of investment liberalisation, NAFTA-inspired agreements tend to have an advantage in terms of the number of sectors covered by non-discrimination disciplines and the degree of transparency and predictability through a "one-shot" liberalisation encompassing all sectors and a "ratchet" mechanism that locks in future reforms. GATS-inspired agreements are often favoured by countries that want to preserve a certain flexibility and progressiveness in their liberalisation, while they reform and establish new regulatory frameworks. But the differences between the two approaches should not be overstated. Provisions on future liberalisation and transparency can add transparency and predictability in the context of GATS-inspired agreements, while flexibility also exists in NAFTA-inspired agreements through reservations on existing and future non-conforming measures.

An ambitious level of investment liberalisation in a GATS-inspired agreement is possible by taking commitments in additional sectors or by increasing the transparency of schedules. Progressive liberalisation of investment can in principle also be pursued in NAFTA-inspired RTAs. Even more recently, some GATS-inspired agreements provide insights into the possibilities offered by a combination of positive and negative listing.

Several factors influence the choice of a GATS- or NAFTA-inspired approach: existing liberalisation of the negotiating partners' regimes; their administrative capacity; past approaches; and the pace at which

^{1.} The list includes one North/North agreement (AUSFTA), 13 North/South agreements (NAFTA, US-CAFTA-DR, US-Morocco, Japan-Singapore, Japan-Mexico, Japan-Malaysia, TAFTA, EC-Chile, EC-Jordan, EFTA-Korea (EFTA-Singapore, TPSEP and ANZSCEP) and six South/South agreements (Chile-Korea, India-Singapore, ASEAN agreements, COMESA and Andean Community Decisions).

they wish to liberalise. Choosing between positive or negative listing (or a hybrid approach) is a matter for negotiation between partners.

Not all agreements include a most-favoured-nation clause (MFN). When they do, GATS-inspired agreements tend to prevent the MFN rule from applying to third parties through a regional economic integration organisation (REIO) exception clause. Nonetheless, new investment liberalisation in third party agreements may be extended to parties of earlier RTAs, following a review of commitments. A difference in NAFTA-inspired agreements tends to be that the MFN rule can apply as regards future agreements that might contain better treatment for investors. However some countries have listed reservations in specific sectors limiting the extension of any possible better treatment. In the light of this, one can question the effectiveness of the MFN rule with respect to investment liberalisation in creating a level playing field between investors from various Parties.

SYNTHESIS

1. This document presents the results of the joint work carried out in 2006-2007 by the Working Parties of the Investment and Trade Committees on the interaction between investment and trade in services provisions in regional trade agreements (RTAs). The study is divided in three Parts preceded by a one page summary of the Key Findings and synthesis. Part I analyses the interactions between the investment and services chapters in a representative sample of 20 agreements. Part II analyses their implications for the level of investment protection provided. Part III analyses the implications of the services/investment interface and of the MFN rule for the level of the liberalisation provided².

The embracing trend of RTAs

2. After the abandonment of the Havana Charter of the International Trade Organisation in 1950, rule-making in international trade and investment largely evolved along two separate tracks, the first largely dominated by the GATT system, the second by the conclusion of bilateral investment treaties (BITs) aimed at "protecting", "promoting" and in the case of some later agreements, "liberalising" foreign investment. This general pattern started to change, however, with the entry into force of North American Free Trade Agreement (NAFTA) in 1994 and the establishment of the World Trade Organisation (WTO) in 1995. The NAFTA was the first agreement to combine BIT-like disciplines with comprehensive trade in services disciplines. The WTO brought in, for the first time, through the GATS, the supply of services into the realm of multilateral trade rules. These two important developments have expanded the landscape of regional agreements and the possible types of interactions between investment and service disciplines.

3. Since 1994, some 180 regional agreements combining investment and trade in services rules, mainly in the form of Free Trade Areas (FTAs), have come into existence as compared with 38 RTAs during the previous forty years altogether. The pace has markedly picked up since 2000. Over forty per cent of the cumulative total has come into being since 2000, cutting across countries or regions increasingly further apart and with more diversified economic backgrounds. Some 70 more agreements are reported to be under active consideration or negotiation. Mexico, Chile, Singapore, the United States, Australia and New Zealand are leading in terms of agreements concluded. EFTA, the EU and ASEAN stand out as the most active country groupings.

Two distinct cultures and sets of disciplines

4. RTA investment chapters essentially take their origins in BITs introduced in the late 1950s or early 1960s to provide absolute standards of protection for the foreign investor and their investments as regards transfers, expropriation and compensation, fair and equitable treatment, and investor-to-state-arbitration of investment disputes. Comprehensive obligations on national treatment and MFN treatment obligations at all phases of operation including establishment as well as the prohibition of performance requirements were later introduced in the US and Canadian treaties in the early 1990s. Today's RTA

^{2.} In the present study, the term "investment protection" is intended to cover the typical core protections found in BITs while the term "investment liberalisation" is principally intended to cover the non-discrimination obligations found in OECD liberalisation instruments as well as the WTO and other trade liberalisation agreements. The BITs and FTA/RTA investment chapters of some OECD countries also include some of the non-discrimination obligations characterised here as "investment liberalisation" provisions.

investment chapters typically provide broad investment coverage, strong protection and non-discrimination commitments and recourse to investor-state international arbitration.

5. Investment disciplines lodged in RTA services chapters, are, on the other hand, usually based on the GATS. Investment is covered only in the narrower form of a "commercial presence". Transparency and MFN treatment are the only general obligations. Obligations on market access and national treatment arise only to the extent liberalisation commitments are listed in separate schedules. Because of the importance they play in the ability to supply a service, domestic regulatory issues are also addressed. Avoidance of restrictions on international payments and transfers is the only significant "protection" provided by the trade in services chapters, and even so, only in sectors where liberalisation commitments are scheduled.

6. The Investment and Services chapters of NAFTA-inspired and GATS-inspired agreements differ, therefore, in their coverage of investment in services.³ This leads to four major types of interaction between these chapters.

(1) NAFTA-inspired Agreements – Limited interaction

7. The first type of interaction is characterised by a clear separation between the Investment chapter and Cross-Border Trade in Services (CBTS) chapters designed to limit the interaction between the two chapters. The Investment chapter acts as the depositary of, or controls, all the investment provisions of both goods and services (except for financial services). The CBTS chapter, which is partly inspired by the GATS, is uniquely devoted to the liberalisation of services provided without a commercial presence. Both chapters use a negative list approach for lodging reservations to their respective obligations.

8. NAFTA provides the classical example of no interaction between the Investment and Services chapters. More recent NAFTA-inspired agreements (US-CAFTA-DR or US-Morocco for example) allow for a limited interaction. In this latter case, the Market Access, Domestic Regulation and Transparency articles of the CBTS chapter apply to the Investment chapter subject to certain limitations.

9. The Financial Service chapters may incorporate from the Investment chapter and the Trade in Services chapters the provisions to be applied to this sector.

10. A "Relations to Other Chapters" clause states that in the event of any inconsistency between the Investment chapter and other chapters, these other chapters shall prevail to the extent of the inconsistency.

(2) *GATS-inspired agreements where the interaction is stated in the Investment chapter*

11. GATS-inspired agreements also generally have separate chapters on investment and services. However, investment in services is typically covered by both chapters. Liberalisation of the supply of services, including through commercial presence is controlled by the Trade in Services chapter whereas the protection of investments in services, notably the clauses on expropriation, compensation for losses, investor state dispute resolution, is located in the chapter on Investment. In addition, these agreements also usually employ a positive list approach for specific commitments for Trade in Services.

12. A majority of these agreements have adopted a second type of interaction between the investment and services chapters which is stated in the Investment chapter. The Trade in Services chapter comes first and contains the market access and non-discrimination obligations on commercial presence. The Investment chapter – which has a broader coverage based on an asset-based definition of investment – identifies the scope of its application and rules to deal with potential inconsistency between this chapter

^{3.} The two EU agreements examined here due to their specificities are separately discussed in paragraph 25.

and the Trade in Services chapter(s). The Financial Service chapters however are responsible for the core obligations on financial services.

13. EFTA agreements provide clear examples of this mode of interaction. In these agreements, the limitations mainly take the form of the non-application of the National Treatment and Most Favoured Nation Treatment obligations to Mode 3 (commercial presence) operations. A similar approach is followed by other agreements such as TAFTA or New Zealand-Singapore Agreement. Japan's Economic Partnership Agreements also generally fall in this category as the Investment chapter's scope article describes how inconsistencies between overlapping provisions should be resolved. In the case of Japan-Singapore FTA, the interaction is not stated in the Investment chapter but in the parties' reservations to this chapter.

(3) *GATS-inspired agreements where the interaction is stated in the Trade in Services chapter*

14. In a third type of interaction between the investment and services chapters, it is the Trade in Services chapter through a "Service-Investment" linkage clause which determines which provisions from the Investment chapter listed therein would apply. This approach has recently been introduced by the India-Singapore CECA. The specific provisions borrowed from the Investment chapter concern compensation for losses, expropriation, repatriation, subrogation, measures in public interest, special formalities and information requirements, access to courts of justice, senior management, investment disputes, other obligations and performance requirements. This type of interaction seeks to minimize any possible conflict between the two chapters by listing the various liberalisation and protection obligations that would apply to investment in services.

(4) *GATS-inspired agreements where no interaction is stated*

15. A fourth group of agreements are silent on the interaction. This approach solely relies on the rules of interpretation of international law to sort out the relationship between the investment and services provisions. This case mainly concerns separate agreements on investment and trade in services (ASEAN agreements and Andean Community Decisions). But this situation may also arise within individual agreements. For example, in the Japan-Singapore or EFTA-Korea agreements, the clause on transfers is contained in two chapters, the Trade in Service and Investment chapters, with one less permissive than the other. However, this duplication does not necessarily lead to conflict. Rather, both these obligations apply simultaneously to investments in services, which are subject to the obligations of both chapters. More recent agreements, however, are abandoning this approach in favour of an explicit and more precise mode of interaction between the investment and services chapters.

EC Trade Agreements

16. Even though European Communities (EC) Association Agreements with non-European partners generally follow the GATS approach, other features set them apart from the GATS-inspired agreements described above. The European Community and the member states share competence in the investment area. The coverage and structure of EC agreements are also unique. For example, the EC-Chile Agreement, which is the most comprehensive agreement concluded so far, has separate chapters on Trade in Services (covering all four modes of supply of services), Financial Services, Establishment and Current Payments and Capital Movements. In this case, it is the establishment chapter which excludes services from its coverage. In the EC-Jordan Association Agreement, however, the services chapters only cover the cross-border supply of services while the establishment chapter applies to all investments. The methodology for listing liberalisation commitments also differs in the two agreements, the EC-Chile agreement follows a positive list approach while the EC-Jordan agreement list the reservations to the obligations. EC agreements provide for national treatment (and MFN in some cases) on post-establishment and for

protection of transfers – capital movements. Other protection issues are addressed by the BITs concluded by Member States.

Level of investment protection provided

17. The level of investment protection does not seem to be affected by the types of interaction chosen. In all the agreements reviewed with dual coverage of investment in services, all investment in services benefits from the basic protections provided by the Investment chapter (such as on expropriation, transfers, compensation for losses or investor-to-state dispute settlement). This is because the "asset-based" definition of investment normally used for applying the basic standard protections of the Investment chapter obligations includes the narrower concept of "commercial presence", which is used for the liberalisation of investment in services in GATS-inspired agreements. This broad-asset based definition typically includes, in addition to majority or controlling participations in an enterprise, minority interests, intellectual property rights, concessions and other forms of property.

18. If the level of investment protection is indifferent to the type of RTA adopted, it is certainly determined by the scope and coverage of the investment protection provisions. Judging from the sample, the level of investment protection provided by RTAs is largely comparable if not interchangeable to that traditionally provided by BITs (as in the case of US BITs and RTA Investment chapters). Nonetheless, the investment provisions may still vary from one RTA to another. For a significant number of agreements reviewed (such as NAFTA, AUSFTA, Japan EPAs, India-Singapore CECA, Australia-Thailand), these obligations are new in the absence of former BITs between the parties. But in a number of other agreements reviewed, BITs remain in place alongside RTAs, with both sets of rules complementing each other (EC agreements, ASEAN agreements, Andean Community Decisions). BITs have been replaced by RTAs only when the latter's contents and coverage are clearly superior to that of BITs (for example EFTA-Korea Investment Agreement, as compared to Korea-Switzerland BIT).

Levels of liberalisation commitments achieved

19. The study provides a detailed analysis of the schedules of commitments in ten RTAs,⁴ focusing on investment in services. The difference between the NAFTA-inspired and the GATS-inspired approach that was described before is also relevant for the analysis of the schedules of commitments. It is often presented as a difference between the negative list (or "top-down") approach and the positive list (or "bottom-up") approach, but it should be understood mainly as a difference in the objective of the agreements and their coverage with respect to investment liberalisation. Although it is technically possible to offer the same level of commitments with a negative list of reservations or with the hybrid approach used in GATS (with a positive list of sectors where commitments are made and a list of reservations for these commitments), this is not the case from what can be observed in the schedules of the agreements analysed.

20. The NAFTA-inspired agreements aim at liberalising all kinds of investments and grant national treatment and MFN in all sectors covered. The coverage of the agreements is generally wider than in GATS-inspired agreements and reservations are fewer, although some of them can be quite general and give an opportunity to parties to maintain or to adopt non-conforming measures in a certain number of activities. The "ratchet" effect of NAFTA-inspired agreements locks in the investment regime and includes as commitments under the RTA any new effort towards liberalisation. Therefore, these agreements generally bring a higher degree of certainty and predictability for investors. Their higher degree of

^{4.} The list includes five NAFTA-inspired agreements (AUSFTA, NAFTA, US-Morocco, Japan-Mexico and Chile-Korea) and five GATS-inspired agreements (Japan-Singapore, TAFTA, EU-Chile, EFTA-Singapore and India-Singapore).

transparency should however be nuanced in cases where not all restrictions are listed in the Annex (e.g., sub-federal non conforming measures). There are other provisions in NAFTA-inspired agreements that also illustrate the liberalisation intent such as phasing-out commitments for certain non-conforming measures and other disciplines beyond national treatment and MFN on performance requirements or citizenship and residency requirements.

21. GATS-inspired agreements (where investment in services is covered in the services chapter) provide schedules of commitments with commitments in a higher number of sectors and sub-sectors compared with those made at the multilateral level (under the GATS). On the other hand, there is no willingness to expand the coverage of non-protection disciplines to all sectors. The approach remains close to GATS with commitments in a set of sectors and sub-sectors, flexibility and progressive liberalisation through a review of the commitments.⁵ An important perceptible difference is that the number of commitments tends to be more reciprocal in RTAs than in GATS schedules.

22. From countries' experience, the "hybrid" approach of GATS-inspired agreements is appreciated for its flexibility, as it allows countries to conduct a selective liberalisation of investment and to keep options in sectors where there are on-going regulatory reforms, while the NAFTA-inspired approach is favoured for its higher degree of predictability and transparency for investors through a "one-shot" liberalisation encompassing all sectors. However, there is no specific constraint coming from one approach or the other and countries can use either a positive list or negative list to achieve an ambitious degree of liberalisation. The negative list approach can also be flexible through its reservations on existing and future measures while transparency and predictability can be improved in the context of a positive list by providing enough information to investors, simplifying the way schedules of commitments are presented and by a clear commitment to future liberalisation.

23. The comparison between the schedules of commitments in the RTAs and GATS commitments in Mode 3 confirms that all agreements analysed are WTO-plus. The liberalisation of investment in services goes further than in the GATS both in NAFTA- and GATS-inspired agreements. This should be the case as these regional agreements need to provide for a higher degree of liberalisation in order to be consistent with WTO rules (GATS Article V). In the regional trade agreements, there is a tendency to create a degree of bilateral reciprocity in the commitments, unlike what can be observed in the GATS. It is particularly the case in agreements between developed countries and developing or emerging countries that have made fewer commitments under the GATS. This may well be a positive sign of how RTAs have the potential of promoting further investment liberalisation in services.

The MFN rule and its implications

24. The most-favoured-nation clause (MFN) is a common provision found both in the investment and trade in services chapters of RTAs. The MFN clause requires a party to a given agreement to provide investors and investments from the other party treatment "no less favourable" than that it accords to investors and investments of any other party or non-party to the agreement. MFN provisions in RTAs tend to be unconditional and to apply to all covered investments both pre- and post-establishment. However, not all of the agreements analysed in this study have an MFN provision. COMESA, EC-Chile, Japan-

^{5.} While some of the NAFTA-inspired RTAs can organise a gradual liberalisation of investment through phasing-out reservations, the approach is different in the sense that GATS-inspired agreements foresee a review of their commitments and further negotiations with a view to deepening liberalisation. In NAFTA-inspired agreements, such mechanisms are not necessary as almost all sectors are already committed and the ratchet effect locks in any new liberalisation. The negative list approach is also embodied in other mechanisms such as in the OECD Codes of Liberalisation for instance.

Singapore, Korea-Singapore and the India-Singapore Comprehensive Economic Co-operation Agreement have no MFN treatment for investment.

25. In services chapters modelled after the GATS, MFN clauses are generally inspired by GATS article II with a negative list of exemptions. The MFN clause found in investment chapters inspired by NAFTA has its scope more precisely defined, as the "no less favourable treatment" applies to both "investors" and "investment of investors" with respect to "the establishment, acquisition, expansion, management, conduct, operation, and sale or other disposition of investments". However, the clause specifies that such treatment should be granted "in like circumstances". Another important distinction between the NAFTA and the GATS approach is that no further exceptions can be negotiated in a GATS-type agreement after it has entered into force. The NAFTA approach allows for members to adopt new exceptions and non-conforming measures when they have listed the sectors concerned in the annex on future measures.

26. As some countries have signed both NAFTA-inspired and GATS-inspired agreements with different levels of liberalisation commitments, one could wonder if through the MFN rule there is a "multilateralisation" of regional commitments. In an RTA, the MFN rule is not only designed to ensure non-discriminatory treatment between the parties to the agreement but also to benefit from better treatment in third-party agreements. In the case of bilateral RTAs, it is only as regard to third-party investors that the MFN rule has any application. However, many agreements tend to prevent the extension of some liberalising commitments from one agreement to another through the MFN rule.

27. In GATS-inspired agreements, there is often a regional economic integration organisation (REIO) exception similar to GATS article V where a more favourable treatment granted to members of a third party RTA is not automatically extended to the parties of the current RTA on the basis of MFN treatment. The existence of an REIO exception does not *require* discriminatory treatment between members of different RTAs but it does allow for it and therefore can undermine the effect of the MFN clause. The result therefore is a risk of discriminatory treatment between the parties of different RTAs signed by the same country. To prevent this from happening, GATS-inspired agreements rely on a review of commitments to extend the more favourable treatment of a new agreement to parties of a prior RTA. In practice, commitments can be easily extended through a simple exchange of letters or a joint meeting between the Parties.

28. In NAFTA-inspired agreements, there is, in principle, an automatic extension of the more favourable treatment granted in a new agreement through the MFN clause (in many agreements, this principle applies to new agreements only, as there is often an MFN exception for past agreements). In some NAFTA-inspired agreements however, countries have also listed certain sectoral exceptions for future agreements. Such sectors will not automatically benefit from the better treatment of future agreements through the MFN clause. But very few sectors are concerned.

29. It is also possible to avoid investment distortions by signing RTAs with the same commitments as some countries tend to do. While the MFN rule can still operate in NAFTA-inspired agreements to extend new liberalisation commitments to investors from countries parties to a former agreement, a review of commitments is necessary in GATS-inspired agreements to ensure a level playing field between investors. Hence, one may question the *de facto* impact of the MFN clause in RTAs and its capacity to "multilateralise" regional commitments.

PART I.

INTERACTIONS AMONGST INVESTMENT AND TRADE IN SERVICES CHAPTERS OF DIFFERENT TYPES OF RTAs

1. The study sample

30. At the end of 2005 around 218 RTAs⁶ were known to contain investment provisions of one kind or another. While initially they belonged to the same region with similar levels of economic development, an increasing number of RTAs are being concluded between countries with different level of economic development and located in regions or continents far apart. Individually, Mexico, Chile, Singapore, the United States, Australia and New Zealand are leading in terms of the number of agreements concluded while EFTA, the EU and ASEAN stand out as the most active country groupings. A rapid rise in the number of agreements between developing countries is also apparent. This picture is far from frozen as a relatively large number of RTAs – 70 or so – are under negotiation or under consideration. RTAs are therefore covering a growing share of world trade and investment, increasingly moved by strategic market considerations unbound by geographical considerations, and this trend is likely to continue.⁷

31. Not all these agreements are comparable, however, in terms of objectives and purposes, coverage, depth, legal robustness, sophistication or impact. RTAs are also in constant evolution and various types of RTAs co-exist. This study examines a sample of 20 North/North, North/South and South/South agreements that would appear to represent the latest approaches across countries, regions or continents, about the role of investment-related provisions in RTAs, including on services.⁸ All but one⁹ have been notified to the WTO:

In a speech delivered in mid-January 2007, WTO Director General Pascal Lamy estimated that the number of 6. these agreements could rise to 400 by 2010, See WTO News - 17 January 2007. For a comprehensive inventory of regional agreements with investment content up the end of 2005 see http://www.unctad.org/en/docs/iteiit200510annex_en.pdf.) "Economic integration" is the expression used by Article V for designating preferential trade in service liberalisation agreements. GATT Article XXIV refers to customs unions and free trade areas. Customs unions require the establishment of a common external tariff and harmonization of trade policies. In an FTA, each party maintains its own trade policy vis-à-vis third parties. "Regional Trade Agreements" is the generic term used for notification to WTO of all these preferential agreements. See also Jo-Ann Crawford and Robertino V. Fiorentino, the "Changing Landscape of Regional Agreements" WTO. Trade Discussion Paper No 8. http://www.wto.org/english/res e/booksp e/discussion papers8 e.pdf

^{7.} According to the WTO, at least one half of world trade now takes place between members of RTAs and all WTO Member engaged in RTAs of one sort or another A similar trend has been observed on the investment side. It is estimated that RTAs capture about 60 per cent of outward investment in Australia, 44 per cent in Canada and 20 per cent in the United States. See "Novel Features in OECD Countries" Recent Investment Agreements: An Overview", pp 1-2, <u>https://www.oecd.org/dataoecd/42/9/35823420.pdf</u>.

^{8.} A deliberate decision has been made to leave intra-European RTAs – that is the European Community and the European Free Trade Association and their agreements with other European countries – outside the scope of this study on the grounds that they constitute a unique process of economic and political integration. The study also leaves out the RTAs that have succeeded the trading arrangements between former Soviet republics.

1. North/North Agreements

• (1) Australia-United States Free Trade Agreement (AUSFTA) (2004) as the most recent example of a comprehensive North/North Agreement.

2. North/South Agreements

- (2) The North American Free Trade Area (NAFTA) The first RTA to combine the disciplines of Services and Investment.
- (3) Free Trade Agreement between Central America, the Dominican Republic and the United States of America (US-CAFTA-DR) (2006) as an example of the last generation of NAFTA-inspired agreements concluded by the United States with Latin American countries.
- (4) US-Morocco Free Trade Agreement (2006) as an illustration of a US FTA with a MENA region country.
- (5), (6) and (7) Japan-Singapore New-Age Economic Partnership Agreement (JSEPA) (2002), Japan-Mexico Economic Partnership (2005) and Japan-Malaysia Economic Partnership (JMEPA) (2006) as an illustration of FTAs concluded between countries with different levels of economic development.
- (8) Thailand-Australia Free Trade Agreement (TAFTA) (2005) as example of an Australia's FTA with an Asian developing country.
- (9) and (10) EC-Chile Association Agreement (2003-2005) and Euro-Mediterranean Agreement establishing an Association with Jordan (2002) as representatives of the last generation of EU trade agreements, one with a Latin American country, the other as part of the Euro-Mediterranean Free-Trade Area initiative.
- (11) and (12) Free Trade Agreement between EFTA States (Switzerland, Liechtenstein, Norway and Iceland) and Singapore (ESFTA) (2003) and Free Trade Agreement between EFTA States and Korea (2006) as examples of the new generation of EFTA FTAs. ESFTA is also the first FTA concluded between the continents of Europe and Asia and the first EFTA agreement to address the right of establishment. The Investment Agreement between Korea and Iceland, Liechtenstein and Switzerland is, in addition, the most comprehensive investment agreement ever concluded by EFTA.
- (13) and (14) Trans-Pacific Strategic Economic Partnership among Brunei Darussalam, Chile, New Zealand and Singapore (TPSEP) (May 2006) as an example of an intercontinental agreement combining four APEC economies including one OECD country. The New Zealand-Singapore Closer Economic Partnership (ANZSCEP) (2001) is also analysed separately.

3. South/South RTAs

• (15) and (16) Free Trade Agreement between the Republic of Korea and the Republic of Chile (2004) and Free Trade Agreement between the Republic of Korea and the Republic of Singapore (KSFTA) (2006) as examples of one intercontinental FTA between two successful emerging market economies and one economically successful Asian economies.

^{9.} Namely the India-Singapore Comprehensive Economic Co-operation Agreement (2005).

- (17) India-Singapore Comprehensive Economic Co-operation Agreement (2005) as an illustration of India's new policy towards FTAs.
- (18) ASEAN Agreement for the Promotion and Protection of Investment (1987), as amended by the 1996 Protocol, and 1998 Framework Agreement on ASEAN Investment Area and the ASEAN Framework Agreement on Services (1995) as amended by the 2003 Protocol, as an example of a more gradual approach but with the potential of serving as a platform for the negotiation of FTAs with major players (such as China, India, EU, Australia or New Zealand).
- (19) Common Market for Eastern and Southern Africa (COMESA) (1993) although created to be a common market, is included as an illustration of a cooperative arrangement on investment among African countries.
- (20) Andean Community Community instruments on Foreign Investment and Transfer of Technology (Commission Decisions 291 and 292 (1991) and Decision 439 on a General Framework for the Liberalization of Trade in Services (1998) as an illustration of a sub-regional initiative to liberalize investment and trade in services.

2. Key features of the investment and trade in services chapters of RTAs

32. As elaborated in Annex 1 to the present document, recent RTAs address an increasing number of issues with the general intent of creating opportunities for developing the parties' economic potential and growth in a more integrated and complementary way.¹⁰ Investment and services chapters are one of the most important additions to recent RTAs.¹¹ The disciplines in the investment chapters are usually based on those of BITs while the disciplines in the services chapters are usually based on those of the GATS. Taken together, these two chapters create two sets of disciplines for investment in services, one horizontal which applies to goods and services and the other exclusively devoted to services.

33. Table 1 below lists the broad categories of disciplines and associated measures that can be found in RTA Investment chapters. They typically include a broad asset-based definition of investment, universal coverage of goods and services, core legal protections, establishment and non-discriminatory treatment, investment promotion and facilitation and capacity building, and recourse to investor-state international arbitration. These chapters also employ, as a general rule, a negative list of reservations or exceptions with respect to liberalisation. Annex 1 provides an overview of how these various provisions are covered in the sampled agreements.

^{10.} For a recent survey, see Investment Provisions in Economic Integration Agreements, UNCTAD, 2005.

^{11.} In addition, in addition to trade in goods, RTAs may cover intellectual property, government procurement competition, labour, environment, e-commerce, capacity building issues among others.

| Definition | Coverage | Investment liberalisation | Investment Protection | Investment Promotion/ Facilitation | Dispute Settlement | Schedule of commitments |
|---|---|---|--|---|--|----------------------------|
| Asset Based definition of investment Open/Closed Direct/Indirect Definition of investor | National measures Sub-national measures State enterprises Corporate responsibility | General obligations – Transparency – Establishment – Post- Establishment – National treatment – MFN treatment – Performance requirements – Senior Management/Board of Directors – Temporary Movement of Key Personnel – Standstill/rollback – Country exceptions – Economic integration clause – General exceptions – Monopolies and Concessions – Taxation – Environment – Labour – Origin requirements/ Denial of benefits | General obligations - Payments and transfers - Fair and equitable/Minimum standard - Full protection and security - Expropriation - Compensation | Investment Promotion Cooperation/ Capacity Building Mechanisms | State-to-State arbitration Investor-State arbitration | Negative or positive |

Table 1. Assessing Investment Chapters of RTAs¹²

34. Table 2 lists the broad categories of investment disciplines and associated measures that can be found in GATS-based RTA trade in services chapters. Striking differences emerge from a comparison with the investment template provided in Table 1. Trade in services is generally defined as the supply of a service through four distinct modes: cross-border trade (Mode 1), consumption abroad (Mode 2), commercial presence (Mode 3) and temporary movement of natural persons (Mode 4). All the measures listed in the chapter apply to these four modes of supply. If the inclusion of Modes 3 and 4 underlines the importance of factor mobility to trade in services, these two Modes are also those that come the closest to the activities covered by investment chapters.

35. The concept of "commercial presence" for trade in services is significantly narrower than the standard definition of investment in the investment chapter. While it covers matters relating to both the establishment and post-establishment phase and applies to both existing and *de novo* agreements, it

^{12.} Investment liberalisation covers the provisions which essentially aim to promote and secure nondiscriminatory treatment and limit departures from this treatment. These provisions correspond to the traditional obligations of the OECD Codes of Liberalisation, the WTO and other trade liberalisation agreements, Investment protection covers the obligations typically found in bilateral investment protection and promotion agreements that provide absolute levels of protection. The dividing line between these two concepts is not always clear cut however. The provisions aimed at protecting the investment of an investor may reinforce liberalisation commitments. Conversely liberalisation commitments can also be viewed as providing legal security against future changes in the investment regimes of host countries. This categorisation of the various provisions of investment chapters helps highlight the main differences with the main provisions of trade in services chapters as presented in Table 2.

remains an "enterprise-based"¹³ as opposed to an "asset-based" definition of investment. In other words this definition only encompasses foreign investment in services where the foreign investor holds more than 50 per cent of the equity interest or exercises control over the foreign investment enterprises.¹⁴ The coverage of Mode 4 may generally be considered broader, on the other hand, to that of key personnel and the movement of business persons covered by Investment or other RTA chapters. Transparency and MFN treatment are usually framed as "general obligations" in contrast to that of market access¹⁵ and national treatment which apply solely in sectors listed in separate schedules of commitments. Other obligations are conditioned by these schedules such as the objective administration of domestic regulations and the avoidance of restrictions on international payments and transfers. The latter is often the only investment protection provision incorporated in trade in services chapters. At the same time, the Trade in Services chapters normally contain special disciplines on non-discriminatory quantitative restrictions and other behind-the-border regulatory issues.¹⁶ These chapters usually employ a positive list approach for specific commitments. Annex 1 describes how these various provisions are covered in the sampled agreements.

| Table 2. GATS-based investment provisions in RTA services chapters |
|--|
|--|

| Definition | Coverage | Investment liberalisation | Investment protection | Investment promotion/facilitation provisions | Dispute Settlement provisions | Schedule of commitments |
|--|---|---|--|--|---|----------------------------|
| Commercial presence (Mode 3) as one of four modes ¹⁷ of supplying services | All services with carve- outs¹⁸ National measures Sub- national measures State enterprises | General obligations – Transparency – MFN treatment – Domestic Regulation – Recognition – Monopolies and Exclusive Service Suppliers – Business practices – BOP Safeguards – General exceptions – Origin requirements/ denial of benefits | Specific commitments – Transfers | Cooperation/Capacity Building Mechanisms | State-to-State (separate chapter) Investor-to- state (investment chapter) | Positive list |

- 13. The standard definition of commercial presence given by Article XXVIII (d) of the GATS consists of any type of business or professional establishment, including through the constitution, acquisition or maintenance of an enterprise or the creation of maintenance of a branch or a representative office.
- 14. Article XXVIII (g) of the GATS defines a "service supplier" as "any person that supplies a service". "A person means either a natural person or a juridical person" [Article XXVIII (j)]. A juridical person means in the case of a supply of a service through commercial presence any person "owned" or "controlled" by juridical persons from a Member. Ownership requires holding more 50 per cent of the equity interest in the commercial presence; control requires the power to name a majority of the directors or the direct control over the actions of the juridical person in question. [Article XVIII, paragraph (m)(ii) and (n)(i)].
- 15. Article XVI(2) of the GATS defines six limitations to market access, namely limitations on the number of service suppliers, service operations or employees in a sector, the value of transactions, the legal form of the service supplier, or the participation of foreign capital.
- 16. These paragraphs are derived from Chapter 3 "Investment", Regionalism and the Multilateral Trading System, OECD, 2003.
- 17. The other three are: cross-border supply (Mode 1), Movement of consumer (Mode2), Movement of Supplier (Mode 4).
- 18. The GATS does not apply to air traffic rights and services supplied in the exercise of a governmental authority.

| Specific commitments - Market access - National treatment - Specific commitments - Annexes ¹⁹ and |
|--|
| Decisions |

36. While the new generation of FTAs often feature separate chapters on Investment and Services, the interactions are largely a function of the respective contents of these chapters. NAFTA-inspired and GATS-inspired agreements markedly differ in their coverage of investment in services. This leads to four major types of interaction between the investment and services chapters in the investment area.

(1) NAFTA-inspired Agreements – Limited interaction

37. The first type of interaction is characterised by a clear separation between the investment and cross-border trade in services chapters designed to limit the interaction between the two chapters. The Investment chapter acts as the depositary of, or controls, all investment protection and liberalisation obligations (except for financial services). The Cross-border Trade in Services (CBTS) chapter excludes services supplied through an investment, akin to Mode 3 of the GATS (commercial presence). As in GATS, the CBTS chapter also addresses some behind-the-border regulatory issues.

38. NAFTA was the first RTA to introduce this form of agreement. Countries in the Western Hemisphere have been especially influenced by this approach. They have also subsequently "exported" this model to nations in different parts of the world through bilateral agreements. For instance, the US-Singapore FTA, the Australia-US FTA, the US-Morocco FTA, the Japan-Mexico EPA and Chile-Korea FTA are clearly inspired by the NAFTA approach. The NAFTA model has also been adopted by a number of Asian countries in their FTAs with regional partners such as in the case of Singapore-Australia or Singapore-Korea FTAs. As a result, this approach has proliferated beyond the Americas.

39. NAFTA provides the classical example of no interaction between the Investment and Services chapters. Therefore NAFTA has a separate Investment Chapter, which covers investment in goods and services, and an independent chapter on Cross Border Trade in Services (CBTS). This means that none of the obligations contained in the CBTS chapter apply to investment in services.

40. More recent NAFTA-inspired agreements provide, however, for a limited interaction between the Investment and the CBTS chapter by allowing application of specific provisions from the CBTS chapter to investment in services. For example, Article 11.1 (2) of the Chapter on CBTS in US-Morocco Agreement provides that "Articles 11.4 (Market Access), 11.7 (Transparency in Developing and Applying Regulations), and 11.8 (Domestic Regulation) also apply to measures by a Party affecting the supply of a Service in its territory by a covered investment". This enables to bring in behind-of-the border issues of particular relevance to services, including investment. However, a footnote provides that "nothing contained in the Chapter on CBTS, including in paragraph Article 11.1(2) shall be subject to investor-state dispute settlement." Thus, this approach, whilst generally separating Investment in Services from CBTS, does allow for a limited interaction between the two. It affords the protections provided in the investment chapter for investments in services while simultaneously allowing more limited benefits from the CBTS chapter.

^{19.} These include special annexes on financial services, telecommunications and air transport services.

41. A "*Relation to Other Chapters*" clause removes any possible ambiguities in regard to the application of other chapters. This clause states that "*in case of an inconsistency between the Investment chapter and another chapter, the other chapter shall prevail to the extent of the inconsistency*". This implies that commitments contained elsewhere in the agreement takes precedence over commitments in the investment chapter in case of conflict.

42. In short, NAFTA-inspired agreements establish a clear distinction between the Investment chapter and the CBTS chapter. The end result is to provide investors in services with the same protections that are offered to other investors, while a separate set of protection provisions applies to cross-border suppliers of services.

(2) GATS-inspired agreements where the interaction is stated in the Investment Chapter

43. GATS-inspired agreements also generally have separate chapters on investment and services. However, investment in services is typically covered by *both* the Investment and Trade in Services chapters (and the Financial Services chapter when this sector is treated separately). Liberalisation of the supply of services, including through commercial presence, is controlled by the services chapter(s) whereas the protection of investments in services, notably the clauses on expropriation, compensation for losses, investor state dispute resolution, is controlled by the chapter on Investment. In addition, these agreements usually employ a positive list approach for specific commitments for Trade in Services.

44. In the majority of the agreements reviewed, the interaction is stated in the Investment chapter. This is the second type of interaction observed in the sampled agreements. The Trade in Service chapter comes first and contains liberalisation obligations on commercial presence. The Investment chapter – which has a broader coverage due to its asset-based definition of investment – then identifies the limitations that need to be applied to ensure consistency with the Trade in Services chapter. Financial Service chapters are responsible for the obligations on financial services.

45. This approach has also the advantage of preserving the integrity of the GATS Agreement whose provisions are often reproduced *verbatim* in the services chapters. EFTA, TAFTA, JSEPA, JMEPA provide concrete examples of this approach despite significant variations in the number and coverage of the provisions of the chapters concerned.

EFTA

46. EFTA agreements provide for a GATS-based chapter on Trade in Services followed by a chapter on Investment. Investment in services (commercial presence) is covered by both the Trade in Services chapter and the Investment chapter. The Investment chapter explicitly states the limitations concerning its application to services. This approach can be seen in the EFTA-Singapore and EFTA-Korea FTAs (the EFTA-Korea FTA has a separate Investment Agreement to which Norway is not a party), which belong to the second generation of EFTA's FTAs. The Trade in Services chapter includes commercial presence as defined by GATS. As the narrower concept of "commercial presence" is included in the "asset-based" definition of an investment in the Investment Chapter, investment in services through this mode of supply is entitled to all the rights and protections provided to investments. The EFTA approach borrows heavily, in the form of definitions, clauses etc., from the GATS and uses a positive listing methodology to specify each party's commitments.

47. For example Article 2(2) of the separate Investment Agreement²⁰ between Korea, Iceland, Liechtenstein and Switzerland defining the scope and coverage of this agreement provides that "*Article 4*"

^{20.} This agreement does not include Norway.

(National and MFN Treatment) shall not apply to measures affecting trade in services, provided that the sector concerned is covered by Chapters 3 (Trade in Services) or 4 (Financial Services) of the EFTA-Korea Free Trade Agreement". Thus the Investment Agreement provides for interaction with the services chapters of the EFTA-Korea Agreement. A service provider falling within the definition of an investor or an investment would be entitled to all the rights provided for in the Trade in Services or Financial Services chapters as well as those provided in the Investment chapter, except to the extent of the express limitations relating to National Treatment and MFN Treatment. An investor can, however, raise a dispute with a Party only with regards to infringements of his rights under the Investment chapter.

48. It is also interesting to note that the scope and coverage of the investment provisions varies across EFTA agreements. So whilst the agreement with Korea excludes sectors covered by the Trade in Services and Financial Services chapters of the EFTA-Korea Trade Agreement, the EFTA-Singapore FTA exclusion is somewhat broader in stating that in Article 38.2 and 38.3 on Scope and Coverage that "Article 40(1) (National and Most Favoured Nation Treatment) shall not apply to measures affecting trade in services whether or not a sector concerned is scheduled in Chapter III (Trade in Services)... as well as to investors of a Party in services sectors and their investments in such sectors". The EFTA-Korea FTA is therefore more "liberal" than the EFTA-Singapore agreement, which could be considered more "prudent" on the subject of services and investment in services.

New-Zealand-Singapore

49. The New Zealand-Singapore Agreement has a similar approach. The Investment chapter at the outset proclaims in Article 26.1 that it applies "to all investments in goods and services" and then lays down exceptions to its scope and coverage. Article 26.2 states that "Article 28 (Most Favoured Nation Status), Article 29 (National Treatment) and Article 30 (Standard of Treatment) shall not apply to any measures affecting investments adopted or maintained pursuant to Part 5 (of the Agreement relating to Services) to the extent that they relate to the supply of any specific service through commercial presence... whether they or not they are covered by Annex 2 (devoted to the parties schedules of specific commitments).

Thailand-Australia Free Trade Area (TAFTA)

50. The TAFTA FTA also provides for an interaction between the Trade in Services and Investment chapters. The Trade in Services chapter (Chapter 8) follows the GATS approach by defining commercial presence. At the same time the Investment chapter (Chapter 9) does not exclude from its ambit trade in services unless a limitation is provided for. Clause 903 states that the part on "*Liberalization of Investments*" does not apply to "*the measure which is a measure by that Party affecting trade in services as set out in Article 803(1)*". Similarly, the Post-Establishment National Treatment is also excluded. However, the part on "*Promotion and Protection of Investments*" would apply to investment in services. Unlike the general practice in GATS-inspired agreements, there is also a single country schedule of commitments for presentation of the schedule of commitments on investment and services. This enhances the transparency of investment liberalisation commitments.

Japan EPAs

51. The Japan-Singapore Economic Agreement for a New Age Partnership (JSEPA) provides an example of an agreement with dual coverage of investment in services but where the Services and Investment chapters remain silent on the interactions. It is an annex to the JSEPA which provides an answer to this ambiguity. Annex V (b), which contains the list of Singapore's exceptions in the area of investment, provides that "*National treatment and prohibition of performance requirements shall not apply*

to services sectors not scheduled in Chapter 7" (Trade in Services). This entry also goes to state that " Where a service sector is scheduled in Chapter 7, the provisions, terms, limitations, conditions and qualifications in Chapter 7 (including market access measures) shall apply to investments in that service sector under Chapter 8". Thus investment in a sector listed under Chapter 7 (Trade in Services) is entitled to coverage both under the Chapter on Trade in Services and Chapter on Investment subject to any stated conditions or qualifications. It is worth noting that the list of Japan's exceptions in the area of investment does not provide for any limitations of that sort.

52. This would not appear; however, to be a general trend in more recent Japanese EPAs.²¹ The Japan-Malaysia EPA which entered into force in July 2007 establishes a clearer articulation between the Investment chapter (Chapter 7) and the Trade in Services chapter. Article 73 of the Investment chapter states that with respect to matters covered by the National Treatment, MFN and Performance Requirements the Trade in Services chapter "shall prevail to the extent of any inconsistency". With respect to any other matter, the Investment chapter shall prevail to "the extent of inconsistency". This approach implies that all the obligations should be applied simultaneously in the absence of any inconsistency. The two chapters also provide for own separate lists of reservations/exceptions and commitments following a negative scheduling approach in the first instance and a positive one in the second. The construction requires nevertheless a full analysis of the relevant provisions and annexes of the agreement.

53. There are exceptions. Japan's EPA with Mexico follows the NAFTA approach by clearly separating investment from services obligations. In addition to the standard NAFTA Relation to Other Chapter article (Article 69), the Investment chapter excludes financial services from its coverage. This is stated in its Article 57 (Scope and Coverage) which provides that "Nothing in this Chapter shall apply to measures adopted or maintained by a Party to the extent that they are covered by Chapter 9 (Financial Services). The Financial Services chapter states in turn, in its Article 111 (Relation to Other Chapters), that the provisions of Chapter 7 (Investment Chapter) and 8 (CBTS) shall not apply to measures mentioned in paragraph 1 of Article 107 which refers to "measures adopted or maintained by a Party for the other Party; and (c) investors of the other Party, and investments of such investors, in financial institutions in the Party".

(3) GATS-inspired agreements where the interaction is stated in the Trade in Services Chapter

54. According to the third type of interaction, it is the Trade in Services chapter through a "Service-Investment" linkage clause which determines which provisions from the Investment chapter listed therein would apply. This approach has recently been introduced by the India-Singapore CECA. The order of the two chapters is also reversed as compared to other GATS-based agreements, with the Investment chapter preceding the Trade in Services chapter.

55. CECA's Trade in Services (Chapter 7) covers all four modes of supply of service. A "Services-Investment Linkage" clause (Article 7.24) states that a number of clauses in the chapter on Investment apply, mutatis mutandis, to "measures affecting the supply of a service by a service supplier of a Party through commercial presence in the territory of the other party, only to the extent that they relate to an investment, regardless of whether or not such service sector is scheduled in a Party's Schedule of Specific Commitments". These clauses cover compensation for losses, expropriation, repatriation, subrogation, measures in public interest, special formalities and information requirements, access to courts of justice,

^{21.} Japan is actively pursuing FTAs and particularly in their broader form, the economic partnership agreements (EPAs), which cover trade liberalisation and extend to other areas. Japan's EPAs with Singapore, Mexico and Malaysia took effect in November 2002, April 2005 and July 2006 respectively. In addition, Japan has signed an EPA with the Philippines and the texts of the EPAS with Thailand, Indonesia and Chile are largely completed. In addition, Japan is currently negotiating a broad agreement with the ASEAN as a whole.

senior management, investment disputes, other obligations and performance requirements. Article 6.2 of the Investment chapter²² also states that "In the event of any inconsistency between the Investment chapter and another Chapter, the other Chapter shall prevail to the extent of the inconsistency."

56. This type of interaction thus selectively chooses rights and protections provided under the Chapter on Investment to apply to commercial presence. It is a clear but a la carte approach. This approach leads to transparency and leaves no room for ambiguity in the relationship between provisions on investment and those on services.²³

(4) GATS-inspired agreements where no interaction is stated

57. A fourth group of agreements, accounting for a minority of those reviewed, are silent on the interaction(s). This approach therefore would rely on the rules of interpretation of international law^{24} to determine the relationship between investment and services provisions. This case mainly concerns separate agreements on investment and services or agreements with a partial coverage of investment or services issues. This situation can arise as well within individual agreements where there is a duplication of clauses of general application in the investment and services chapters.

ASEAN

58. ASEAN provides a clear example of the absence of a stated interaction between investment and service provisions. Instead of a comprehensive all inclusive agreement, ASEAN has separate "Agreements" on Investment and Services, namely the ASEAN Agreement for Promotion and Protection of Investment, 1987 (amended in 1996), the Framework Agreement on ASEAN Investment Area (AIA), 1998 and the ASEAN Framework Agreement on Services, 1998 (amended in 2001). The ASEAN Agreement for Promotion and Protection of Investment offers to all investments, including investment in services, the typical protections found in BITs. The ASEAN Framework Agreement on Services includes "commercial presence" and related schedules of liberalisation commitments. The AIA covers "investment in incidental services" in five sectors, namely manufacturing, agriculture, fishery, forestry and mining and quarrying. This means that instead of providing interlinking between these two agreements, the AIA lists the specific sectors and related services in general is covered by the ASEAN Framework Agreement on Services.

• Andean Community

59. Decision 439 of the Andean community provides for liberalisation of trade in services. The decision lays down that the Commission will adopt an inventory of all the measures that are inconsistent with the principles of Article 6 (Market Access) and Article 8 (National Treatment) with the intention to eventually eliminate these measures and create an Andean Common Market in Services. Protection to

^{22.} Paragraph 6.2.3 of this Scope of Application article also states that "The Provisions of this Chapter as specified in Article 7.24 shall apply mutatis mutandis to the measures affecting the supply of services by a service provider of a Party through commercial presence in the territory of the other Party".

^{23.} As regards other interesting innovations introduced by CECA, see "Salient Features of India's Investment Agreements", OECD, *Investment for Development*, Annual Report 2006.

^{24.} For a succinct clear description of the applicable principles of public international law, see OECD Working Paper Moshe Hirsch, "Interactions between Investment and Non-Investment Obligations in International Law", Section II, in Trade Dispute Management, 2006, Vol. 3, Issue 5.

investments in general is provided by Andean Decision 291. It is worth mentioning that both Decisions follow a negative list approach to the scheduling of specific commitments.

Trans-Pacific Strategic Economic Partnership (TPSEP)

60. The TPSEP contains a GATS based chapter on trade in services but no chapter on investment. The agreement however uses the negative list approach for the parties' non-conforming measures. Therefore, even though the agreement does provide for liberalisation of the services sector, it does not provide for protection of investment in the services sector.

COMESA

61. COMESA contains a BIT-like chapter on Investment Promotion and Protection. COMESA is still negotiating the liberalisation of services.

Duplication of clauses

62. Another characteristic of Japan's EPAs is the duplication, in both the Investment and Trade in Services chapters, of certain clauses which are of general application and not subject to country specific exceptions of reservations. This concerns in particular the Transfers clause, which, as in the case of the JSEPA, is much broader in scope in the Investment chapter than in the Trade in Services chapter. Neither chapter however addresses the issue of possible conflict in applying these two provisions. The obligations should therefore be looked at as "cumulative" where each party has to abide by the two transfer provisions. The duplication would not always lead to conflict.²⁵ In case of conflict, unless otherwise provided, when issues fall under the coverage of the two different chapters, the parties would have to abide by the higher standard as provided by the rules of interpretation of international law.²⁶

EC Trade Agreements

63. The EC Trade Agreements with the Mediterranean region²⁷ and Chile²⁸ provide two variations in the EC's FTAs. The EC Agreements with countries in the Mediterranean mainly seek to liberalize services and investment in the future and to that end establish the necessary institutional framework and cooperation mechanisms. The EC-Chile Agreement is more recent and achieves greater liberalisation of Trade in Services and allows for "commercial presence/investment in services". Other features set them apart, however, from other agreements described above.

64. First, because of the shared competence between the European Community and the member states in the investment area, investment protection is largely covered by the member states' own bilateral

See http://europa.eu.int/comm./external_relations/euromed/med_ass_agreements.htm

28. The relevant articles on services investment in the Association Agreement with Chile: Part I, Title I, Articles Part IV Title III, V, VII, VIII, Х and XIV. 20-21; Annexes See http://europa.eu.int/comm./trade/issues:bilateral/countries/chile/euchlagr en.htm

^{25.} Martin Roy, "Implications for the GATS Negotiations on a Multilateral Investment Framework", Journal of World Investment 4 (6, 2003) pp 963-986.

^{26.} Relationships between Investment Agreements, OECD Working Papers on International Investment 2004/1.

^{27.} The relevant articles on investment are Articles 1, Title III (Right of Establishment and Services), Article 30-36 Title IV (Payments, Capital Movements and Other Economic Matters), Articles 48-52, 67 and Annex V and VI (EU-Jordan).

investment treaties while liberalisation of establishment and trade in services is covered by EC agreements. The structure of the investment obligations is also unique. These agreements may have separate chapters on trade in services, financial services, establishment and current payments and capital movements.

65. The EC-Chile agreement has a chapter on Trade in Services (Title III, Chapter 1) inspired from the GATS.²⁹ The chapter on Trade in Services defines a commercial presence and provides for specific commitments (positive lists) on both national treatment and market access. The Establishment chapter provides for National Treatment with respect to establishment in sectors listed in a separate Annex and subject to any conditions and qualifications set out therein (Article 132) but it "*shall not apply to trade in services or financial services*" (Article 130).³⁰ The freedom of current account transactions and free movements of capital relating to direct investments is provided by Title V (Current Payments and Capital Movements) subject to certain exceptions.³¹

66. The EC-Jordan Association Agreement is different. As for NAFTA-inspired agreements, it provides for a separate chapter on CBTS. With regards to investment, the agreement has a chapter on Establishment and a chapter on Payments and Capital Movements which apply to both goods and services. The chapter on establishment contains MFN and National Treatment obligations³² as well as certain provisions on key personnel. The Chapter on Payments and Capital Movements provides for the freedom of current and capital transactions subject to certain exceptional safeguards. The agreement, however, does not provide for other issues relating to investment protection such as expropriation.³³

- 33. In the realm of investment protection the chapter on Capital Movements provides:
 - (i) Article 48 of the agreement says that "Subject to the provisions of Articles 51(difficulties for the operation of exchange-rate policy or monetary policy) and 52(Balance of Payments), current payments connected with the movement of goods, person, services and capital within the framework of this Agreement shall be free of restrictions."
 - (ii) Thereafter article 49 provides that "there shall be no restrictions on the movement of capital from the Community to Jordan and on the movement of capital involving direct investment from Jordan to the Community".

^{29.} Financial services are covered however separately by Chapter II of Title III.

^{30.} Article 133 also states that each Party may regulate the establishment of legal and natural persons subject to the provisions of Article 132.

^{31.} Article 164 provides that the "the Parties shall allow, in freely convertible currency and in accordance with the Articles of Agreement of the International Monetary Fund, any payments and transfers of the Current Account between the Parties. Article 165 provides that the Parties "shall allow the free movements of capital relating to direct investments made in accordance with the laws of the host country and investments established in accordance with the provisions of Title III (Trade in Services and Establishment) of this Part (of the Agreement) and the liquidation or repatriation of these capitals and of any profit stemming there from" Article 165 provides that the Parties "shall allow the free movements of capital relating to direct investments made in accordance with the free movements of capital relating to direct investments made in accordance of the host country and investments of any profit stemming there from" Article 165 provides that the Parties "shall allow the free movements of capital relating to direct investments made in accordance with the laws of the host country and investments established in accordance with the laws of the host country and investments established in accordance with the laws of the host country and investments of the Agreement) and the liquidation or repatriation of this Part (of the Agreement) and the liquidation or repatriation of these capitals and of any profit stemming there from". In addition, under Annex XIV, Chile reserves the right to maintain certain requirements regarding the transfers of the proceeds from the sale or liquidation of investments in Chile.

^{32.} Article 30.1 provides for MFN treatment for the establishment of Jordanian companies and National Treatment (post-establishment) by the Community and its Member states to Jordanian companies; Article 30.2 provides for the best of MFN treatment or National Treatment as regards the establishment and post-establishment of Community companies.

67. The methodology for listing liberalisation commitments also differ in the two agreements, the establishment and trade in services chapters in the EC-Chile agreement follow a positive list approach while the disciplines of the EU-Jordan agreement apply unless excluded by explicitly listed reservations.

Financial Services

NAFTA-inspired Agreements

68. All the NAFTA-inspired agreements reviewed, except for the Korea-Chile agreement, have separate chapters for financial services. The Financial Services chapter acts, in this case, as the depositary of the obligations with respect to investment and cross-border trade in financial services and states the interaction with the Investment and CBTS chapters. Only the provisions that are explicitly incorporated in the Financial Services chapter shall apply subject to any stated qualifications. This interaction has the effect of minimizing the relationship with other chapters while allowing it to define provisions adapted to the special needs and requirements of this sector.

69. For example, the chapter on Financial Services in the AUSFTA begins by first stating in Article 13.1 that the scope of the chapter is limited to "measures adopted or maintained by a Party relating to (a) financial institutions of the other Party (b) investors of the other Party, and investments of such investors, in financial institutions in the Party's territory; and (c) cross-border trade in financial services "(which excludes supply of a financial service in the territory of a Party by an investment in that territory). Thereafter article 13.1 [1(2)] states that Chapters Ten (Cross-Border Trade in Services) and Eleven (Investment) "apply to measures described in paragraph 1 only to the extent that such Chapters or Articles of such Chapters are incorporated into this Chapter". Then it goes on to incorporate Articles 10.11 (Denial of Benefits), 11.7 (Expropriation and Compensation), 11.8 (Transfers), 11.11 (Investment and the Environment), 11.12 (Denial of Benefits), and 11.14 (Special Formalities and Information Requirements). It also provides that "Article 10.10 (Transfers and Payments) is incorporated into and made a part of the Chapter to the extent that cross-border trade in financial services is subject to obligations pursuant to Article 13.5 "(National Treatment of Cross-Border Trade in Financial Services).

70. Dispute settlement is also given a special treatment. Article 13.18 of the AUSFTA states that "Section B (Dispute Settlement Proceedings) of Chapter Twenty-One (Dispute Settlement) applies as modified by this Article to the settlement of disputes arising under this Chapter". The scope and coverage of the financial services in KSFTA is more precise; Article 12.12(c) states that "Section C of Chapter 10 (Investment) is hereby incorporated into and made a part of this Chapter solely for claims that a Party has breached Article 10.11 (transfers), 10.13 (expropriation and compensation), 10.16 (special formalities and information requirements) and 10.17 (denial of benefits), as incorporated into this Chapter. When an investor invokes the national treatment clause of the investment or the country exceptions on financial services, Article 12.13 (investment disputes in financial services) requires that the matter be referred to the Financial Services Committee for decision.

GATS-inspired Agreements

71. Among the GATS-inspired agreements reviewed, only the EFTA-Korea, EFTA-Singapore and EC-Chile agreements contain a chapter on financial services. In the other agreements, financial services are covered by the Trade in Services Chapters.

72. The *EFTA-Korea* chapter is clearly inspired by GATS as it contains verbatim many of its provisions. The chapter on Financial Services also provides that the provisions of chapter 3 (Trade in Services) apply to financial services only where specifically stated. Thereafter, the chapter goes on to include some of the definitions contained in GATS Annex on Financial Services and chapter on Trade in

Services. All the provisions of the Investment Agreement apply to the chapter on Financial Services except to the extent of express limitations contained in the agreement. The Investment Agreement also has a specialized investor-state dispute settlement mechanism for issues relating to financial services. *The EFTA-Singapore* agreement contains additional provisions relating to Financial Services in Annex VIII agreement. This Annex mainly defines the relevant terms and provides for national treatment of financial service suppliers.

73. The *EC-Chile* agreement contains a separate chapter on Financial Services which covers all four modes of supply. Annex IV to the Agreement lists the specific commitments by each Party on Market Access and National Treatment.

PART II.

IMPLICATIONS FOR INVESTMENT PROTECTION

74. Since the Investment chapters of the RTAs are the main depositary of the traditional protections offered by bilateral investment treaties, the implications that various types of interaction may have for the level of investment protection thus impinge upon whether these disciplines apply to services as well to non-services sectors. Three key findings emerge from the analysis of the sampled agreements.

75. First, the level of investment protection does not seem to be affected by the types of interaction followed. In all the agreements reviewed, investment in services benefits from the basic protections provided by the Investment chapter (namely expropriation, transfers, compensation for losses or investor-state dispute settlement). This is because the broad "asset-based" definition of investment which generally delineates the scope of application of these protections encompasses the narrower concept of "commercial presence" upon which the liberalisation obligations of GATS-inspired agreements are normally based. This is illustrated in Table 3 below. Even when the Trade in Services chapters incorporates basic protections from the Investment chapters – as it is the case of the India-Singapore Comprehensive Economic Cooperation Agreement or some Financial Services chapters – the Investment chapters' protections apply to other investments that meet the asset-based definition of these chapters. Put differently, "commercial presence" defines the level of liberalisation provided by GATS-inspired services disciplines but not the level of investment protection.

| Agreement(s) | Definition of investment in | Definition of commercial | Scope of Application of |
|----------------------------|----------------------------------|--------------------------|------------------------------|
| | Investment | presence in Services | Investment Protection |
| | Chapter | Chapter | Disciplines |
| NAFTA and NAFTA-inspired | | | |
| Agreements | | | |
| NAFTA | Asset based definition - Closed | | All protection (and |
| | list – | | liberalisation) disciplines |
| | Includes FDI, portfolio | | of the Investment chapter |
| | investment and various forms of | | apply to goods and |
| | tangible and intangible property | | services |
| Japan-Mexico EPA | Asset based definition - Closed | | All protection (and |
| - | list – | | liberalisation) disciplines |
| | Includes FDI, portfolio | | of the Investment chapter |
| | investment and various forms of | | apply to goods and |
| | tangible and intangible property | | services |
| US-CAFTA-DR | Asset based definition - Open | | All protection (and |
| US-Morocco FTA | List | | liberalisation) disciplines |
| Australia-US FTA | Includes FDI, portfolio | | of the Investment chapter |
| Chile-Korea FTA | investment and various forms of | | apply to goods and |
| Korea-Singapore FTA | tangible and intangible property | | services |
| GATS-inspired Agreements | | | |
| EFTA-Singapore FTA, | Asset-based definition - Open | GATS definition of | All the protections of the |
| New Zealand-Singapore FTA, | list; includes FDI, portfolio | commercial presence | Investment chapter |
| EFTA-Korea FTA | investment and various forms of | - | (separate Investment |
| | tangible and intangible property | | Agreement in the case of |
| | | | EFTA-Korea FTA) apply |
| | | | to commercial presence |

Table 3. Scope of Application of Investment Chapters' Protections*

| Agreement(s) | Definition of investment in Investment Chapter | Definition of commercial presence in Services Chapter | Scope of Application of Investment Protection Disciplines | |
|--|---|--|--|--|
| Japan-Singapore EPA Japan-Malaysia EPA | Asset based definition – Open list Includes FDI, portfolio investment and various forms of tangible and intangible property | GATS definition of commercial presence | All the protections of the Investment chapter apply | |
| Australia-Thailand FTA | Foreign direct investment, as defined by IMF | GATS definition of commercial presence | The protection of the Investment Chapter (limited to post- establishment, fair and equitable treatment and full protection and security of investment) apply to commercial presence | |
| India-Singapore ECA | Asset based definition – Open list: includes FDI, portfolio investment and various forms of tangible and intangible property | GATS definition of commercial presence | The Services chapter incorporates selected protections of the Investment chapter to be applied to commercial presence. The protection of the Investment chapter applies to other investments. | |
| ASEAN Agreement for Promotion and Protection of Investment, 1987 (AAPPI) and ASEAN Framework Agreement on Services (AFAS) | Asset-based definition of investment in AAPI – Open list | Commercial presence in AFAS not explicitly defined, but implicitly follows GATS | AAPPI protection applies to investment in services | |
| Andean Community | Direct Foreign Investment | GATS definition of commercial presence | Except for Free Transfers of intra-Andean direct investments, no investment protection disciplines | |
| EC-Chile Association Agreement | Direct investment including branches | GATS definition of commercial presence | Free Transfers | |
| EC-Jordan Association Agreement | Direct investment including branches | GATS definition of commercial presence | | |
| Trans-Pacific EPA | | GATS definition of commercial presence | No investment disciplines (only GATS-inspired obligations | |
| COMESA | Closed list | | Non investment protection disciplines | |

*These are the general obligations on Payments and Transfers, Fair and Equitable/Minimum standard, Full protection and security, Expropriation and Compensation.

76. Second, if the protection accorded by the Investment chapters appears to be indifferent to the mode of interaction chosen, the level of investment protection is no doubt determined by the coverage and scope of the protection provisions. As with any other obligations, this depends on what the negotiators set themselves to achieve at the beginning of the negotiations and what they ultimately obtain at the end of the negotiating process. As no negotiation is the same, the types of investment protection included and/or the way they are formulated may vary from one agreement to another. This is illustrated by Table 4 below.

Although both the NAFTA-inspired and GATS-inspired agreements are largely based on BIT-like protections³⁴ and are thus broadly similar, some differences can still be observed.

77. A number of the reviewed NAFTA-inspired agreements have developed interpretative notes to clarify the scope of application of the fair and equitable treatment standard and/or that of the expropriation provisions. If this practice is not apparent in GATS-inspired agreements, there are other distinctive features. The India-Singapore ECA does not contain any fair and equitable treatment standard. Some preconditions are imposed on the recourse to investor-state arbitration in the case of the EFTA-Singapore and EFTA-Korea agreements and New-Zealand Singapore agreement. In the case of the ASEAN agreements and the Australia-Thailand FTA, investor-to-state arbitration applies only to post-establishment. Three agreements (Andean Decisions, Trans-Pacific EPA and COMESA) do not contain any investment protection or investment disciplines.

78. A great majority of the reviewed agreements contain robust provisions on transfers however. In EC agreements, they apply to free movements of capital relating to direct investment and the liquidation and repatriation of these capitals. These observations are consistent with the recent findings of the work of the Investment Committee on international investment agreements.³⁵

| Agreement(s) | Fair and Equitable treatment | Full protection and | Transfers | Protection from Strife/Compensation for Losses | Exprop | riation | Investor- State Arbitration |
|-----------------------|------------------------------------|---------------------------|------------------|--|--------|------------------|-----------------------------------|
| | | security | | | Direct | Indirect | |
| NAFTA and | | | | | | | |
| NAFTA- | | | | | | | |
| inspired | | | | | | | |
| Agreements | | | | | | | |
| NAFTA | Yes | Yes | Yes ¹ | Yes | Yes | Yes | Yes |
| Japan-Mexico | Yes ¹ | Yes ¹ | Yes ¹ | Yes | Yes | Yes | Yes |
| EPA | | | | | | | |
| Korea- | | | | | | | |
| Singapore FTA | | | | | | | |
| Australia-US | Yes ¹ | Yes ¹ | Yes ¹ | Yes | Yes | Yes ² | Yes ³ |
| FTA | | | | | | | |
| US-CAFTA- | | | | | | | |
| DR | | | | | | | |
| US-Morocco | | | | | | | |
| FTA | | | | | | | |
| GATS- | | | | | | | |
| inspired | | | | | | | |
| Agreements | | | 1 | | | | 2 |
| EFTA | Yes | Yes | Yes ¹ | Yes | Yes | | Yes ² |
| Singapore FTA | | | 1 | | | | 1 |
| EFTA-Korea | Yes | Yes | Yes ¹ | Yes | Yes | Yes | Yes ¹ |
| Japan- | Yes | Yes | Yes ¹ | Yes | Yes | Yes | Yes |
| Singapore EPA | | ļ | | | | | |
| Japan-Malaysia EPA | Yes | Yes | Yes ¹ | Yes | Yes | Yes | Yes |

| Table 4. Key Investment Protections of Investme | ent Chapters |
|---|--------------|
|---|--------------|

^{34.} These provisions were initially elaborated by the 1967 OECD Draft Convention on the Protection of Foreign Property.

^{35.} Stocktaking of Developments in Investment Agreements, DAF/INV/WD/(2005)10/FINAL and International Investment Law: A Changing Landscape, (2005).

| Agreement(s) | Fair and Equitable treatment | Full protection and | Transfers | Protection from Strife/Compensation for Losses | Exproj | priation | Investor- State Arbitration |
|---|--------------------------------------|---------------------------|------------------|--|--------|----------|-----------------------------------|
| India- Singapore ECA | No | Yes | Yes ¹ | Yes | Yes | Yes | Yes |
| Australia- Thailand FTA | Yes | Yes | Yes ¹ | Yes | Yes | Yes | Yes ³ |
| ASEAN Agreement for Promotion and Protection of Investment, 1987 (AAPPI) as confirmed by ASEA Investment Framework | Yes | Yes | Yes ¹ | Yes | Yes | Yes | Yes ³ |
| New-Zealand Singapore CER | No | No | Yes ¹ | No | No | No | Yes ¹ |
| EC-Chile Association Agreement | | | Yes ² | | | L | |
| EC Jordan | No | No | Yes ² | No | No | No | No |
| Andean Community | No investment protection disciplines | | | | | | |
| Trans-Pacific EPA | No investment disciplines | | | | | | |
| COMESA | | | 1 | No Investment disciplines | | | |

F&ET – Fair and equitable treatment

1. Interpretative Note on minimum standard of treatment

Full protection and security

1. Interpretative Note on minimum standard of treatment

Transfer of funds

1 Allows for current and capital transactions

2 Free movements of capital relating to direct investment and the liquidation and repatriation of these capitals

Expropriation

Investor-state arbitration

1 No automatic consent given by the states

2 No automatic consent for pre-establishment disputes

3. Post-establishment only

79. Third, if there are no apparent legal or technical impediments to the inclusion of BIT-like protections into RTAs, this does not necessarily imply that RTAs' investment chapters always supplant BITs. Again this depends on the particular circumstances and outcome of each negotiation. As Table 5 shows, various situations are possible.

80. For a majority of the RTAs reviewed, the basic protections of the Investment chapters constitute, in the absence of BITs, the first obligations ever contracted by the parties between them. This is the case for AUSFTA, NAFTA, KSFTA, TAFTA, Japan's EPAs or CECA. But the pre-existence of BITs may also lead the parties to continue maintain them along side RTAs, with both set of rules complementing each other. This is the case for several other agreements reviewed (EFTA-Chile agreement, EC agreements, ASEAN Agreements and Andean Decisions). In other words, BITs seem to be replaced by RTAs only when the latter's contents and coverage are considered to be clearly superior or more comprehensive to those of BITs (for example EFTA-Korea Investment Agreement as compared to Korea-Switzerland BIT or US-Morocco FTA as compared to US-Morocco BIT). In the absence of any RTA investment disciplines, the parties have to rely on the legal guarantees provided by BITs. Those contracted between COMESA partners, for instance, are listed in the last entry of the Table.

| Agreement(s) | BITs? | Partners | | | | | | |
|----------------------------------|-------------------------------------|------------------------------|--|--|--|--|--|--|
| NAFTA and NAFTA- | NAFTA and NAFTA-inspired Agreements | | | | | | | |
| NAFTA (1994) | No | | | | | | | |
| Japan-Mexico EPA (2006) | No | | | | | | | |
| Japan-Singapore EPA (2006) | No | | | | | | | |
| Korea-Singapore FTA (2006) | No | | | | | | | |
| Australia-US FTA (2005) | No | | | | | | | |
| US-CAFTA-DR FTA (2006) | Yes | US-Honduras (2001) | | | | | | |
| US-Morocco FTA (2006) | Yes | US-Morocco (1991) | | | | | | |
| GATS-inspired Agree | ments | | | | | | | |
| EFTA Singapore FTA (2003) | Yes | Singapore-Switzerland (1978) | | | | | | |
| EFTA-Korea (2006) | Yes | Korea-Switzerland (1971) | | | | | | |
| Japan-Singapore EPA (2006) | No | | | | | | | |
| Japan-Malaysia EPA (2006) | No | | | | | | | |
| India-Singapore ECA (2005) | No | | | | | | | |
| Australia-Thailand FTA (2005) | No | | | | | | | |

Table 5. BITs concluded by RTA partners

| Agreement(s) | BITs? | Partners |
|--|-------|---|
| ASEAN Agreement for Promotion and Protection of Investment, 1987 (AAPPI) and AIA (1998) | Yes | Cambodia-Indonesia (1999), Cambodia-Malaysia (1994), Cambodia-Philippines (2000), Cambodia-Singapore (1996), Cambodia-Thailand (1997), Cambodia-Vietnam (2001), Indonesia-Lao People's Democratic Republic (1994), Indonesia- Malaysia (1994); Indonesia-Philippines (2001), Indonesia- Singapore (2000), Indonesia-Thailand (1998), Lao People's Democratic Republic-Malaysia (1992), Lao People's Democratic Republic-Myanmar (2003), Lao People's Democratic Republic- Singapore (1998), Lao People's Democratic Republic- Singapore (1998), Lao People's Democratic Republic- Singapore (1998), Lao People's Democratic Republic- Malaysia-Vietnam (1990), Myanmar-Philippines (1998), Myanmar-Vietnam (2000), Philippines-Thailand (1996), Philippines-Vietnam (1993), Singapore-Vietnam (1992) and Thailand-Vietnam (1992). |
| New-Zealand Singapore CER (2001) | No | |
| EC-Chile Association Agreement (2005) | Yes | Chile-Poland (2000), Chile-Portugal (1998), Chile-Spain (2003), Chile-Romania (1997), Chile-Sweden (1995) and Chile-United Kingdom (1997). |
| EC-Jordan (2003) | Yes | Jordan-Austria (2001), Jordan-Bulgaria (2003), Jordan-Czech Republic (2001), Jordan-France (1979), Jordan-Germany (1977), Jordan-Greece (2005), Jordan-Italy (2001), Jordan-Netherlands (1998), Jordan-Poland (1999), Jordan-Romania (1999), Jordan- Spain (2000), Jordan-Switzerland (2001) and Jordan-United Kingdom (1980) |
| Andean Community (1991) | Yes | Bolivia-Ecuador (1997), Bolivia-Peru (1995), Columbia-Peru (1994), Ecuador-Peru (1999), Ecuador-Venezuela (1995) and Peru-Venezuela (1997). |
| Trans-Pacific EPA (2006) | No | |
| COMESA (1994) | | Burundi-Comoros (2001), Comoros-Egypt (2000), D.R. Congo- Egypt (1998), D.R. Congo-South Africa (2004), D.R. Congo- Switzerland (1973), Djibouti-Egypt (1998), Egypt-Malawi (1999), Egypt-Mauritius (2003), Egypt-Sudan (2003), Egypt- Swaziland (2000), Egypt-Uganda 1995), Egypt-Zambia (2000), Egypt-Zimbabwe (1999), Eritrea-Uganda (2001), Ethiopia-Libya (2004), Ethiopia-Mauritius (2003), Ethiopia-Sudan (2000), Ethiopia-Uganda (2003), Libya-Egypt (1991), Madagascar- Mauritius (2005), Malawi-Zimbabwe (2003), Mauritius-Burundi (2001), Mauritius-Comoros (2001), Mauritius-Rwanda (2001), Mauritius-Swaziland (2000), Mauritius-Zimbabwe (2000), Uganda-Ethiopia (2003), Uganda-Zimbabwe (2003), and Zimbabwe-Malawi (2003). |

Sources: Andean Community, COMESA, OECD and UNCTAD

PART III. IMPLICATIONS FOR INVESTMENT LIBERALISATION

1. GATS and the NAFTA-inspired approach to the liberalisation of investment in services

81. Part I of the study has described the interaction between provisions on investment and trade in services and Part II has addressed the implications for the protection of investment. We turn now to the implications for the degree of liberalisation achieved. Two models of liberalisation commitments can be identified. The first model is represented by NAFTA, the first major RTA with investment content, which groups provisions on investment for all sectors and grants national treatment and most-favoured-nation treatment in all covered sectors with a negative list of reservations. The second model is based on the GATS approach that is followed in other types of agreements and combines the positive listing of sectors where countries undertake commitments with a negative list of limitations that countries wish to maintain in scheduled sectors.

82. This part of the study focuses on investment in services and assesses the degree of liberalisation achieved according to the approach adopted with respect to the investment/services interaction. The first section describes the GATS approach and the second section the NAFTA-inspired lists of reservations. Section three provides the results of the analysis of the schedules of commitments in ten of the RTAs presented in Part I.³⁶ Section four compares the regional schedules of commitments with GATS schedules of commitments. It identifies to what extent the regional agreements are "WTO-plus", that is whether they offer more at the regional level than the multilateral liberalisation of investment in the GATS (Mode 3). The methodology used to analyse the schedules of commitments is detailed in Annex 2. It is also in this Annex that can be found the tables describing the commitments on investment in services in the RTAs and the comparison with GATS schedules of commitments on Mode 3.

a) The GATS-inspired approach to scheduling commitments

83. The General Agreement on Trade in Services (GATS) covers all forms of trade in services, including Mode 3, "the supply of a service (...) by a service supplier of one Member, through commercial presence in the territory of any other Member" (Article I). It organises "a multilateral framework of principles and rules for trade in services with a view to the expansion of such trade under conditions of transparency and progressive liberalization". The liberalisation of investment in GATS is undertaken through commitments in sectors and sub-sectors.

84. Although the GATS is often presented as a model of a "positive list" approach, it can be more accurately described as an hybrid model where specific commitments on market access (Article XVI) and national treatment (Article XVII) are made in a positive list of sectors, but where limitations to these commitments are presented in a negative list. The MFN principle in GATS is a general obligation and applies to all services sectors covered by the agreement with a negative list of exemptions. Another characteristic of GATS schedules is that limitations are listed by mode of supply.

^{36.} Five of these agreements have NAFTA-inspired lists of reservations (AUSFTA, NAFTA, US-Morocco, Japan-Mexico and Chile-Korea) and the other five have GATS-inspired schedules of commitments (Japan-Singapore, TAFTA, EU-Chile, EFTA-Singapore and India-Singapore).

85. GATS schedules of commitments are considered by some authors as difficult to read or lacking transparency (Hoekman, 1995; Stephenson, 2002; Mattoo, 2005).³⁷ To assess the real level of market access, it is necessary to determine the activities covered in a given sector, to read the limitations on market access and national treatment listed for this sector according to the mode of supply, to check that there is no horizontal limitation that could apply and also to look at the possibility of MFN exemptions that can be found in a separate table. As only sectors where commitments are made are listed, it is necessary to make a deduction to find the sectors or sub-sectors that were excluded from the schedule and a minimum knowledge of the classification is therefore required. The absence of a commitment in a sector does not mean that foreign investment is prohibited or that discriminatory treatment is effectively applied to foreign investors. There is simply no information on the kind of restrictions that can exist in non-committed sectors (and it could be the case that no restriction exists). Additional research would be needed to know the kind of regulation applicable and the information cannot be in the schedule of commitments. Hence the "lack of transparency" pointed out by some analysts. In financial services, parties have the option to schedule their commitments in accordance with the negative list approach of the GATS Annex on Understanding on Commitments in Financial Services. Virtually all OECD countries and a few non-OECD countries have indicated to use this option.

86. Moreover, as GATS covers the four modes of supply of services, the definitions provided for market access, national treatment and most-favoured-nation treatment are not specific to investment (which is "commercial presence" in GATS, already a somewhat more restrictive concept). In particular, there is no distinction made in GATS between pre- and post-establishment. Market access is defined in Article XVI through a list of limitations that cannot be adopted or maintained in sectors where market access commitments are taken.³⁸ While the concept of "market access" could be understood as an equivalent of "pre-establishment" in the realm of investment, this definition does not lend itself to such an interpretation as national treatment limitations can also cover the pre-establishment phase. As a consequence, some authors point out that there is some confusion in GATS about the relationship between market access and national treatment, especially in the case of investment (Low and Mattoo, 2000).³⁹ A generally accepted interpretation(although not shared by all) is that national treatment applies to any existing or future market access commitment even when they are not scheduled (Mattoo, 1997).

87. Despite these issues, the GATS approach to scheduling commitments on investment in services has been quite popular in regional trade agreements. In the list of RTAs analysed in this study, TAFTA, Japan-Singapore, Japan-Malaysia, EC-Chile, EFTA-Singapore, EFTA-Korea, New Zealand-Singapore, and India-Singapore have GATS-like schedules of commitments.

88. There are several reasons to explain why the GATS approach is followed in these agreements. First, it is an easy way to ensure the consistency of the regional liberalisation with multilateral disciplines and to use a model well-known by negotiators where commitments are fully understood. Reproducing GATS at the regional level certainly help negotiators to strike a deal and ensure consistency with the

^{37.} Guidelines for the scheduling of specific commitments under GATS have been adopted by the WTO Council for Trade on Services (S/L/92, 28 March 2001). Transparency is a general obligation of GATS (Article III) requiring that all measures affecting trade in services shall be made publicly available.

^{38.} This list includes limitations on: (1) the number of service suppliers; (2) the value of service transactions or assets; (3) the total number of service operations or total quantity of service output; (4) the total number of natural persons that may be employed; (5) the type of legal entity or joint venture that may supply a service; and (6) the participation of foreign capital.

^{39.} The confusion comes also from a scheduling convention set out in Article XX:2 of GATS. This article states that when a limitation is relevant for both Articles XVI (market access) and XVII (national treatment), it should be entered in the "market access" column of the schedule and should be understood as being also a limitation to national treatment.

GATS, at least for governments who are used to the GATS approach and have already determined in the GATS context the kind of commitments they are willing to make (or not make). Second, it is likely that those countries that used the GATS as a model endorsed its approach and in particular the flexibility offered not to bind themselves in a given sector even if no restriction may actually apply. In that sense, one can expect agreements with a GATS approach to reproduce the same kind of commitments as in GATS, going further at the regional level or with a bilateral partner than it is possible at the multilateral level.

89. When an agreement is described as reproducing the GATS approach, it goes further than simply having a positive list of commitments or a schedule of commitments presented in the same way as in a GATS schedule. These agreements tend to incorporate different provisions of the GATS and make many explicit references to it. First, they generally refer to GATS for the definitions of the main terms used in the services chapter and their schedules of commitments such as "trade in services", "service supplier" or "market access". For example, article 3.3 of the EFTA-Korea agreement says that "The following definitions of Article I of the GATS are incorporated into and made part of this Chapter (...)" and subsequently "The following definitions of Article XXVIII of the GATS are hereby incorporated and made part of this Chapter (...)". Similarly, the articles on MFN treatment, market access, and national treatment usually refer to, respectively, Article II, Article XVI and Article XVII of the GATS.

90. Most of the GATS-inspired RTAs tend to reproduce a schedule of commitments similar to their GATS schedule, with additional commitments in specific sub-sectors (see section 4 below). In the case of the Thailand-Australia Free Trade Agreement (TAFTA), the presentation of the schedule is however different. Instead of reiterating the commitments made in the GATS, only the additional sub-sectors liberalised are listed. In particular, while limitations are scheduled both horizontally, and by reference to specific sectors and sub-sectors, per the GATS approach, they are not scheduled by reference to mode of supply, market access or national treatment. Instead, all limitations in relation to each horizontal commitment and sector specific commitment are listed together.

91. Future liberalisation is often foreseen in the RTAs along the same lines as in GATS Article XIX on progressive liberalisation. The mechanism involved is generally a review of the commitments after the entry into force of the agreement. For example, in the EU-Chile association agreement, article 100 indicates that the Parties shall review Chapter 1 on services "three years after the entry into force of [the] Agreement, with a view to further deepening liberalisation and reducing or eliminating remaining restrictions on a mutually advantageous basis and ensuring an overall balance of rights and obligations". An agreement like the EFTA-Singapore FTA shows a stronger commitment to future liberalisation, as it aims at "the elimination of substantially all remaining discrimination between the Parties with regard to trade in services (...) at the end of a transitional period of ten years from the date of entry into force of [the] Agreement". It also indicates that "such review shall continue if substantially all remaining discrimination has not been eliminated at the end of this transitional period".

b) NAFTA-inspired lists of reservations

92. In NAFTA chapter 11, national treatment (Article 1102) and MFN (Article 1103) are granted to all covered investments "with respect to the establishment, acquisition, expansion, management, conduct, operation, and sale or other disposition of investments". However, there are exceptions and reservations to the application of these two obligations. Article 1108 states that national treatment and MFN do not apply to a list of non-conforming measures set out in Annex I (Reservations for existing measures and liberalization commitments), Annex II (Reservations for future measures), Annex III (Activities reserved to the State) and Annex IV (Exceptions from most-favoured-nation treatment).

93. The reservations are all presented according to the same layout with information on the sector and sub-sector concerned, the industry classification (where national classifications can be used), the

obligations against which a reservation is taken, level of government, the measure, and its description. Some guidelines on the interpretation of the schedules are provided at the beginning of each annex. In that sense, the NAFTA-inspired schedules of commitments are easier to read. They also tend to be shorter as a consequence of the top-down approach, since it is not necessary to give an exhaustive list of all the sectors and sub-sectors where commitments are made.

94. Originally, Annex I of NAFTA was to have listed all non-conforming measures maintained at the sub-national level, within two years of the date of entry into force of the agreement. However, in 1996, NAFTA countries decided to "grandfather" existing restrictions (that is to freeze existing measures with a commitment to not make measures more non-conforming in the future) and no list of non-conforming measures at the local or sub-federal level is annexed to the agreement.

95. The difference between existing and future measures (between Annex I and Annex II in NAFTA) is important. Existing non-conforming measures that are listed in Annex I cannot be changed unless it is to increase the conformity of the measure with the obligation ("ratchet" effect). Only for activities or sectors listed in Annex II can future non-conforming measures be adopted. That is why the NAFTA scheduling has been presented as a "list it or lose it" approach. If a government has not included a reservation in its schedule in the period where it could do so, it cannot adopt any new measure that would be discriminatory for foreign investors. For each reservation listed, a phase-out commitment can be taken. However, there is no obligation to commit to future liberalisation and the phase-out element in the schedule can be filled in with "none". However, as in the GATS, nothing prevents the parties from progressively liberalising measures and lifting reservations if they so wish. A key difference between the GATS and NAFTA approaches is that the ratchet mechanism of the latter locks in liberalisation as it occurs and thus provides an added degree of predictability for investors.

96. In the Annex on future measures (Annex II in NAFTA), some reservations can be very broad with potentially a wide impact on the investment regime. For example, it is not uncommon to find reservations such as Country X "reserves the right to adopt or maintain any measure relating to investment in..." In that case, the outcome is not different than an "unbound" in a GATS schedule. In the Annex on future measures, it is possible to identify sectors that may be subject to non-conforming measures without listing a specific measure. It should also be kept in mind when comparing NAFTA lists of non-conforming measures and GATS-inspired schedules of commitments that in the latter, a broad reservation with a potentially discriminatory treatment affecting different sectors will have to be reiterated for each sector (unless it can be put in the horizontal section of the schedule). With the negative list approach it is possible to state one time the law involved and to list the actual sectors implicated by the reservation.

97. The NAFTA approach seems to have gained ground among regional trade agreements. In the sample of RTAs analysed in this study, AUSFTA, CAFTA-DR, US-Morocco, Japan-Mexico, the Trans-Pacific Strategic Economic Partnership, Chile-Korea and Korea-Singapore have NAFTA-like schedules of commitments. The approach has diffused beyond original NAFTA signatories, as the Trans-Pacific Strategic Economic Partnership, Chile-Korea or Korea-Singapore are agreements where no party is a member of NAFTA.

98. What is common to these agreements is not only the negative list approach but also the way the lists are organised and presented, in particular the difference between existing measures and future measures. There are however small variations in the NAFTA-inspired agreements. For example, the phase-out element is not always present and some agreements, such as US-Morocco, have reservations that apply during a transitory period. But the way investment is liberalised and commitments are made is the same.

99. NAFTA-inspired agreements are nonetheless influenced by GATS in the financial services chapters which incorporate the results of the WTO negotiation on financial services that took place after

the signature of GATS. An equivalent to the concept of "market access" appears in Article 1403 of NAFTA as "establishment of financial institutions". There is even a more explicit reference to GATS in the agreement between Mexico and Japan where GATS commitments on financial services are incorporated in the agreement. It highlights that GATS schedules and NAFTA lists of reservations are not incompatible and can be combined.

100. In the NAFTA approach, new services are automatically granted national treatment and mostfavoured-nation treatment, since no reservation could have been taken for them at the time the agreement was signed (another manifestation of the "ratchet" effect previously mentioned). In a GATS-like schedule of commitments, these new services would not be covered if they are in sectors or sub-sectors without commitments.⁴⁰ However, it is possible in the NAFTA approach, through the list of reservations on future measures, to prevent new services from falling automatically under the disciplines of the agreement. In the Mexico-Japan FTA for example, Japan has a reservation to deal with new services.

101. As highlighted before regarding GATS, the defining characteristic of the approach is not solely in the way commitments are scheduled. If a negative list approach can be seen as contributing to promote the liberalisation of investment, the pro-liberalisation approach in NAFTA relies on a broader set of disciplines that supplement national treatment and MFN treatment disciplines and that have been described in Part I:

- Article 1104 (standard of treatment) accords to investors the better of MFN or national treatment.
- NAFTA includes provisions on performance requirements (Article 1106) that are very comprehensive and that are extended to services.
- There are also provisions prohibiting certain types of nationality requirements for senior management (Article 1107)⁴¹
- Lastly, as emphasised before, the definition of the investor is broader than the GATS commercial presence of a service provider. The origin requirement is thus more liberal and all types of established companies benefit from the liberalisation commitments (Stephenson, 2002).

102. To the extent that NAFTA-inspired RTAs follow this approach – and they generally do so – they have the same liberalizing bias that can be found in NAFTA.

c) The degree of liberalisation achieved in the RTAs

103. To assess to what extent investment in services has been liberalised in regional trade agreements and to compare the NAFTA and GATS approaches, an analysis of the schedules of commitments on investment in services has been conducted for ten RTAs. The details of the methodology are presented in Annex 2, including a certain number of caveats that have to be acknowledged in such an analysis. The exercise aims to provide some transparency on the schedules of commitments in RTAs and to understand the underlying forces of liberalisation of investment in services.

^{40.} An example often mentioned is the case of sectors "unbound due to lack of technical feasibility". Mode 3 is however not concerned. When the new service is in sectors or sub-sectors where commitments have been made, its classification and the existence of the commitment could be questioned.

^{41.} Article 1107 of NAFTA prohibits in its first paragraph requirements that an investor "appoint to senior management positions individuals of any particular nationality". The second paragraph specifies that a Party may require that a majority of a board of directors, or any committee thereof, "be of a particular nationality, or resident in the territory of the Party", provided that such requirements do not materially impair an investor's control over its investment.

104. The interesting question is to know if there is a relationship between the approach followed in scheduling commitments and the degree of liberalisation achieved. One might expect GATS-inspired agreements to reproduce the same level of commitments as in the GATS and some authors have questioned the real liberalisation of services trade in regional trade agreements of this type (as GATS schedules at the time of the end of the Uruguay round were seen as a *status quo* rather than a higher level of access to the market). While NAFTA and the negative list approach are often considered as more favourable to liberalisation, it is also important to check if lists of reservations do not introduce restrictions that would make these agreements not so different than the ones following a GATS approach. Many authors have asked such questions but there is very little detailed analysis of the schedules of commitments in RTAs.⁴²

105. Tables 12 to 14 in Annex 2 summarise the results of the analysis. Table 12 shows the commitments in five RTAs with a NAFTA-inspired approach to liberalisation (Australia-US, NAFTA, US-Morocco, Mexico-Japan and Chile-Korea). All the agreements using a negative list approach are agreements with very few reservations and where no sector has been totally excluded. There are some sectors where some activities or sub-sectors have no commitments, either because of a public monopoly ("activities reserved to the State" in the schedules of Mexico) or because of a broad reservation on future measures (where the country reserves the right to maintain or adopt any measure in a given sub-sector). There are only a few reservations of this type in sectors that have been traditionally more regulated with a certain degree of state intervention (communication services, health related and social services, transport services and some specific business services).

106. No sector is however in our analytical category of "commitments in a limited number of subsectors" (where less than 75% of the sector has no limitations). A number of reservations are listed, in particular in business services, communication services, financial services, health-related and social services and transport services. But their number is again not very high and these reservations are not here to exclude some services from the liberalisation but to pinpoint exceptions to national treatment or mostfavoured-nation treatment (that is the difference in the table between the colour of the cell – which shows the level of commitments – and the number reported – which indicates the reservations listed).

107. Table 13 presents the results of an analysis carried out for five agreements with a GATS-inspired schedule of commitments on investment in services. There is a definite difference with Table 12. Entire sectors can be without commitments in the case of these agreements. For example, Chile in the EU-Chile Association Agreement has no commitments in educational services, health related and social services and "other services not included elsewhere". India in its agreement with Singapore has also 3 out of 12 sectors without any commitment (educational services, environmental services and "other services not included elsewhere"). There are also sectors where only a limited number of commitments have been made (appearing as grey plain cells in the Table). This means that less than 75% of the sub-sectors of the GATS W/120 classification have commitments. It is often the case for communication services (where few or no commitments are made in postal and courier services, as well as audiovisual services) or transport services (where not all of the means of transportation are generally included).

108. There are very few "blank cells" that would indicate a commitment in the whole sector and the most frequently found category is "commitments in most of the sector". Here the positive rather than negative listing approach plays a role. Countries generally do not list the "other" sub-category in their schedules. It is often the case that commitments are made in all the sub-sectors of the classification but not

^{42.} Such an analysis can be found in Stephenson (2002) and recently in Roy et al. (2006) and Fink and Molinuevo (2007).

the last one which is the "other" category, grouping services of the same sector not listed before.⁴³ The comparison between Tables 12 and 13 should therefore be made carefully. In practice, there might be a very small difference in the investment regime when the cell is blank or has a lattice pattern in the Table, especially if the "other" sub-sector does not correspond to any meaningful activity. The difference that is worth taking note of is in the sectors where few commitments or no commitments are made. This is the main difference between agreements in Table 12 and Table 13.

109. As far as the number of limitations is concerned, there is a tendency to find higher numbers in the GATS-inspired agreements, but as pointed out before, this can be a consequence of the way the limitations are listed. The limitations are also concentrated in a few sectors, in particular financial services and business services. Another characteristic of the GATS-inspired agreements seems to be that countries prefer to exclude a sub-sector (i.e. to not list it in the schedule) rather than including it with all the existing limitations. This cautious approach is not possible in the top-down approach of NAFTA where all reservations must be listed. Another caveat regarding the number of limitations concerns the non-conforming measures at the local or sub-federal level. In GATS-inspired agreements, the schedule generally covers all government levels. Limitations that apply only in a province or state and not at the federal level are separately listed. In NAFTA-inspired agreements, while this need not be inherent to the negative list approach, non-conforming measures at the sub-federal level are generally not listed, as previously mentioned regarding NAFTA.

110. Technically, there could be the same level of commitments with a positive list or a negative list. Results similar to those found in Table 12 for NAFTA-inspired agreements could be reproduced in GATS-type agreements by scheduling all the sectors of the W/120 classification. Looking at the schedule of Japan in the Japan-Singapore FTA, it is interesting to see that there are several sectors with full coverage of all sub-sectors (construction, distribution, education, environmental and financial services). Conversely, it would be possible for countries in NAFTA-inspired agreements to reserve the right to maintain or adopt any measure in a whole sector, such as educational services or health related and social services. But this is not the case in the agreements analysed. Parties to the US-Australia, NAFTA, US-Morocco, Japan-Mexico and Chile-Korea FTAs have listed reservations, including the possibility of taking any discriminatory measure in some activities or even prohibiting investment when the sub-sector is a public monopoly but it does not lead to the exclusion of full sectors of the scope of the liberalisation commitments.

111. From the comparison between Table 12 and Table 13 in Annex 2, it is clear that NAFTA-inspired agreements have the advantage in terms of sectors covered by non-discriminatory principles when the agreement is signed. However, the analysis should be completed by taking into account several differences in the GATS-inspired and NAFTA-inspired approaches to scheduling liberalisation commitments. Table 6 below provides a summary of these main differences. It is not the objective of this study to settle the debate on positive versus negative lists of commitments but the following points should be considered:

• GATS-inspired agreements establish a progressive and selective liberalisation of investment in services. The full liberalisation is generally referred to as an objective in the agreement and the RTA provides for reviews of commitments in order to achieve this objective. NAFTA-inspired agreements in contrast can be described as "one-shot agreements" where from the onset all sectors are covered by the non-discriminatory disciplines and where further liberalisation is likely to occur through autonomous liberalisation (automatically binding in the agreement through the "ratchet" mechanism). To fully assess the degree of liberalisation achieved in each type of

^{43.} This is true for the twelfth sector "Other services not included elsewhere" where only 8 countries among all WTO Members have taken commitments. But it is also the case that few commitments are made inside each of the other eleven sectors where there is also a sub-category for sub-sectors not listed in the classification.

agreement would require taking into account future liberalisation in the GATS-inspired agreements.⁴⁴

- While the sectoral coverage of agreements provides useful information on the degree of liberalisation achieved, the type of commitments also matters. For example, GATS-inspired agreements cover non-discriminatory quantitative restrictions as one type of limitation to market access while NAFTA-inspired agreements do not deal with this type of barriers in their investment chapter. On the other hand, while commitments are bound in both GATS- and NAFTA-inspired agreements, there is in addition a ratchet mechanism in NAFTA-inspired agreements that locks in further liberalisation of non-conforming measures.
- Regarding the transparency achieved, the top-down approach of NAFTA-inspired agreements lists in theory all reservations to non-discriminatory disciplines and can offer predictability and certainty to investors as the investment regime is fully stated in the agreement. The idea of greater transparency for negative lists can however be nuanced when not all limitations are listed (e.g. sub-federal non-conforming measures). In GATS-inspired agreement, if schedules of commitments can be said to a certain extent to be less transparent, transparency is a general obligation (that applies therefore to all sectors) and information on the investment regime has to be provided to investors.
- Moreover, the way reservations are listed in the GATS-inspired agreements is not very different than in the NAFTA-inspired agreements. In both cases, it is a negative list explaining where there are exceptions to the non-discriminatory treatment. The positive versus negative list approach concerns only the coverage of the schedule (the number of sectors where commitments are made). There is a complexity inherent to the nature of the exercise and negative lists as well as positive lists have to manage the issue of limitations that apply to all sectors, the interpretation of "national treatment", "MFN" or "market access" in the context of the specific measure scheduled, the issue of the definition of services sectors and activities, the difference between temporary, existing and future non-conforming measures, etc. One advantage of NAFTA-inspired schedules is that the reservation can be explained in greater detail and more information provided (in particular on the domestic laws involved).
- The negative list approach is also more favourable to liberalisation when new services are introduced or become tradable as a consequence of technological progress. These new services are automatically covered by non-discriminatory disciplines in NAFTA-inspired RTAs (unless provided otherwise in the Annex on future reservations), whereas measures can be adopted if these new services are not in a sector scheduled in the case of a GATS-inspired agreement.
- GATS-inspired agreements can be said to provide for a higher degree of flexibility because a country can have a more liberal investment policy than reflected in its schedule of commitments while preserving options to regulate a given sector. As long as the sector is not committed or reservations have been made, it is possible to (re-)introduce non-conforming measures. Of course, this added flexibility reduces the transparency and predictability of the investment regime, thus creating a trade-off. In NAFTA-inspired agreements, the ratchet and standstill mechanisms automatically bind any liberalisation of a non-conforming measure that was listed in the Annex on reservations for existing measures. Any liberalisation of a measure becomes a commitment in the RTA. In the context of NAFTA-inspired agreements, flexibility can however be introduced through the Annex on future reservations, where full sectors can also be exempted

^{44.} As the agreements analysed are relatively recent it is not possible to assess yet the pace at which new subsectors or sectors are added in schedules of commitments that are reviewed.

from non-discriminatory treatment with the possibility of introducing non-conforming measures in the future.

112. What emerges from the above points is that the differences between the positive and negative list approach are not so marked in the sense that any country can use one approach or the other to achieve the same degree of liberalisation, transparency, flexibility and predictability. It is important to make a distinction between the practice (the current investment regime in GATS-inspired and NAFTA-inspired regional trade agreements) and what would be theoretically possible to achieve through one model or the other. So far, GATS-inspired agreements tend to have a smaller number of sub-sectors liberalised, as illustrated by Table 13, and as a consequence may offer less transparency and predictability for investors while being more suitable for a certain number of developing countries to reform and establish their regulatory framework. The analysis however shows that this flexibility can also be sought in agreements with a negative list approach or that transparency, if not through the schedules of commitments, is also part of GATS-inspired agreements.

| | NAFTA-inspired negative list approach | GATS-inspired "hybrid" approach with a positive list of sectors where commitments are made |
|--|---|---|
| Type of commitments or reservations listed | National treatment and MFN reservations are listed ^b . | Market access and national treatment commitments (covering also non-discriminatory quantitative restrictions). ^a |
| Bound commitments? | Commitments are bound. Standstill and ratchet mechanism (any new liberalisation of non- conforming measures becomes a commitment in the agreement) | Commitments are bound. Standstill in sectors where commitments are made (subject to reservations listed). |
| Further liberalisation? | No further liberalisation foreseen. The agreement might include phasing out non-conforming measures (but already stipulated when the agreement is signed) | Further liberalisation foreseen in the agreement through a review of commitments (sometimes with a view to provide for the elimination of all remaining discrimination at the end of a certain period) |
| Transparency | The top-down approach offers a higher degree of transparency for investors as all sectors are covered by non-discriminatory disciplines and only listed limitations apply. This transparency is reduced when some of these reservations are not listed (e.g., non-conforming measures at the sub-federal level) | No information is provided in the schedules of commitments on the liberalisation of investment in services sectors where no commitments are made. However, transparency is a general obligation of the agreement and information on the investment regime in all sectors should be made available |
| Flexibility | Flexibility can be introduced through reservations on future measures but such reservations have to be taken when the agreement is signed. | Countries can take commitments in the sectors of their choice and limitations are listed only in committed sectors, leaving some flexibility on the degree of liberalisation offered in other sectors. |
| Predictability | The ratchet mechanism locks in any new liberalisation of a non-conforming measure. New services sectors are automatically covered by non-discriminatory disciplines. | Predictability is limited to the sectors where commitments are made. |

 Table 6. A comparison between the GATS-inspired and NAFTA-inspired approach to scheduling liberalisation commitments in regional trade agreements

a. The MFN principle is a general obligation that is not found in all agreements.

b. Some NAFTA-inspired agreements also list reservations to obligations related to performance requirements and citizenship or residency requirements for senior managements and boards of directors.

113. Therefore, countries are not constrained by one approach or the other. It is possible to reach an ambitious level of investment liberalisation in a GATS-inspired agreement by taking commitments in new sectors or to increase the transparency of GATS-like schedules of commitments. It is also possible to pursue a progressive and cautious liberalisation of investment through negative lists that include enough

reservations on existing and future measures. The most recent agreements give some insights of the many possibilities offered by the combination of positive and negative lists in GATS-inspired agreements (see Part I).

114. To conclude, it should also be recalled that whether the negative or positive list approach is adopted in an agreement depends on several factors:

- First, the degree of liberalisation of the negotiating partners and their willingness to create a substantially preferential investment regime. The advantages of the negative list approach have been emphasised for countries aiming at a high degree of investment liberalisation in a relatively short term.
- Countries are also inclined to stay with the same approach once they have started to negotiate NAFTA-style or GATS-style agreements. It is easier for them to draft annexes and schedules of commitments following the same model and it becomes an updating exercise. It also ensures the consistency of commitments across different regional trade agreements.
- The administrative capacity of countries can be another factor. Some lesser developed countries may not have the expertise or resources to develop a negative list for the first time. Negative lists can be demanding as the transparency achieved requires a detailed description of non-conforming measures and a full assessment of the reservations that have to be introduced to preserve some flexibility in future public policies.⁴⁵
- For developing countries that consider in their interest to preserve flexibility to introduce new restrictions in the future or to liberalise gradually at a pace that remains to be determined, the GATS-inspired approach has attraction. Tables 12 and 13 show that India or Thailand are part of regional agreements that follow a GATS-approach, while early reformers such as Korea, Mexico and Chile are the developing countries that are signatories of NAFTA-inspired agreements. Developed countries and emerging economies are more likely to use the negative list approach (Fink and Molinuevo, 2007)
- Last but not least, the choice between the positive or the negative list approach is matter of negotiation between the Parties to the agreement. While some Parties may favour positive list and others the negative list, they have sometimes to negotiate on the basis of another approach than the one they would have preferred to use.

d) Regional agreements and multilateral liberalisation: to what extent are the regional agreements "WTO-plus"?

115. Another question that has been asked regarding the schedules of commitments in regional trade agreements is to what extent these agreements go beyond GATS commitments in investment in services. It has been argued that RTAs are not offering much in terms of liberalisation, especially when they reiterate GATS schedules for trade in services. This section looks at what happens in Mode 3.

116. Table 14 includes the GATS schedules in Mode 3 for all the countries parties to RTAs analysed in Tables 12 and 13. A comparison between the regional and multilateral commitments is thus possible. It is clear that NAFTA-inspired agreements offer a much wider schedule of commitments than in GATS. The difference is especially striking for countries like Mexico, Morocco or Singapore. They make full

^{45.} However, once it has been done, it requires much less level of effort to update such a list. There is also the possibility of using a negative list approach without explicitly listing non-conforming measures as it is the case in some Bilateral Investment Treaties signed by Canada or the US. These agreements do not list reservations for existing measures (reservations for future measures are however listed).

commitments with very few reservations in the bilateral agreements in sectors where they have no commitments at the multilateral level. And the US, Australia or Japan have also more commitments in their bilateral agreements than in their GATS schedules. For this group of countries, the regional agreement is clearly a way of liberalising investment in services with specific partners by offering them a substantially preferential treatment.

Comparing Tables 13 and 14 throws up a less clear-cut result but a careful analysis also shows 117. that the GATS-inspired RTAs go further in terms of liberalising investment than what is committed under the GATS. Again there is a difference between developing countries (as defined in WTO) and developed countries. In the case of the EFTA-Singapore agreement for example, Switzerland has almost the same schedule of commitments as in GATS. The regional schedule has however additional commitments, in particular in supporting services for railway transport (CPC 743) and in freight transportation (CPC 7123). But Singapore offers a lot more than it does under GATS. The country has commitments in distribution services, educational services, environmental services and health-related and social services in the RTA, whereas these sectors were excluded from their GATS schedule. The regional agreement thus represents an opportunity for Singapore to liberalise services trade in Mode 3 with EFTA countries. The same analysis can be applied to the Singapore-Japan Economic Agreement for a New Age Partnership. The difference is that Japan has a schedule also with a substantial improvement in its commitments. Japan -together with Australia- is a country that has used both the negative and the positive list approach with different trading partners. Commitments from Japan under the positive list of the GATS-inspired agreement are closer to the ones that can be found in Table 12 in NAFTA-inspired agreements where Japan is a party.

118. A similar analysis can be carried out in the case of the EU-Chile agreement. Sectors where there are EU commitments in the RTA that are not in GATS are the following: interdisciplinary R&D services (CPC 853), services relating to the handling of postal items (a list of sub-sectors in postal and courier services), electronic mail, voice mail, on-line information and data retrieval, electronic data interchange (EDI), code and protocol conversion, libraries, and some maritime and internal waterways transport services. For Chile, commitments are extended to the following sectors in the RTA: legal services (not limited to public international law or international commercial law), computer and related services, research and development services, real estate services, many business services in the category "other business services, a few additional financial services, but also new commitments in construction, distribution services, environmental services, recreational, cultural and sporting services that had no equivalent in their GATS schedule. Reciprocity in the commitments is an objective of the agreement. Article 94 of Title III on Trade in Services and Establishment states that "The Parties shall reciprocally liberalise trade in services, in accordance with the provisions of this Title and in conformity with Article V of the GATS". This reciprocity element is not part of GATS and implies larger commitments from Chile.

119. The analysis shows that all the agreements studied are "WTO-plus" and that even agreements following the GATS model offer a more liberal schedule of commitments. This is not surprising since RTAs have to achieve a higher degree of liberalisation to be consistent with multilateral rules. Of course, there is again a difference between NAFTA-inspired and GATS-inspired agreements. In the case of the NAFTA approach, the agreements show that they aim at universal coverage of all sectors in the schedules of commitments, an approach different than GATS flexibility and progressive liberalisation. This is true for both countries from the North and the South in the case of North-South RTAs. In GATS-inspired schedules of commitments, the same philosophy as under GATS applies at the regional level. However, the fewer commitments the country has in its GATS schedule, the more the effort towards liberalisation in the regional agreement is visible. As pointed out in the case of EU-Chile, there is also a tendency for more reciprocal commitments than in GATS.

120. To the extent that regional liberalisation can serve as a laboratory for future liberalisation and that RTAs can be "building blocks" towards multilateral liberalisation, the two kinds of RTAs described can

help to make progress in this evolution. Developing countries that can be reticent about liberalising investment and trade in services have achieved a much higher degree of liberalisation with bilateral or regional partners in GATS-inspired as well as NAFTA-inspired agreements. To be complete, the analysis should take into account the future liberalisation that is foreseen in GATS-inspired agreements as well as future developments at the WTO in the services negotiations. We have assessed only one type of agreement, but liberalisation of investment in services can also rely on other types of agreements, including bilateral investment treaties, and also on domestic (unilateral) reforms.

2. The implications of the Most-Favoured-Nation clause for the liberalisation of investment⁴⁶

121. To complete the analysis of the role of regional trade agreements in promoting the liberalisation of investment in services, it is also interesting to look at the implications of the most-favoured-nation clause (MFN). This clause is a common element of trade agreements and creates specific interactions between investment and services agreements, as well as regional and multilateral agreements. The MFN clause aims to put foreign investors on a level playing field within a particular host country by extending to investors from one foreign country the same treatment given to investors from any other foreign country.

122. Preferential trade agreements are by definition an exception to the MFN principle as they can give more favourable treatment to parties to the agreement. They nonetheless include various types of MFN clauses that can serve as a guarantee that investors from non-parties will not receive better treatment or that this more favourable treatment can be extended to the parties of this agreement. MFN clauses in investment chapters of the RTAs tend to be unconditional and to apply to all covered investments and investors, although exceptions may be added through the RTA schedules of commitments.

123. This section first describes the different types of MFN clauses that can be found in the sample of RTAs studied and the exemptions to MFN treatment, distinguishing between GATS-inspired and NAFTA-inspired agreements. It then examines to what extent the provisions of the regional trade agreements are extended to other RTAs or "multilateralised" and what is the value of the MFN provision in practice.

124. Among the 20 RTAs covered in this study, five have no MFN provision (COMESA, EC-Chile, Japan-Singapore, Korea-Singapore and the India-Singapore Comprehensive Economic Co-operation Agreement)⁴⁷. In other cases, when investment in goods and services is dealt with in separate chapters, it may be the case that MFN treatment is accorded to either goods or services or partly to certain obligations relating to both. This is another consequence of the interaction between investment and services chapters described in Part I. For example, TAFTA and the New Zealand-Singapore CEP grant MFN treatment for goods but not for services, while the Trans-Pacific SEP has a MFN clause only in the services chapter (that covers Mode 3).⁴⁸ A first observation is hence that there is less regularity in the prevalence of MFN treatment as compared to national treatment.

a) The MFN provision in GATS-inspired agreements

125. In services chapters dealing with investment, MFN clauses are generally inspired by GATS article II with a list of exemptions. Article II of the GATS (that can be found reproduced – sometimes with

^{46.} This section will not address the application and interpretation of the MFN clause in regard to the investment protection and procedural aspects of investment agreements. These issues have been addressed by a recent study by the Investment Committee "Most-Favoured-Nation in International Investment Law", OECD (2005), International Investment Law: A Changing Landscape, Chapter 4.

^{47.} See Table 11 in Annex 1 for a summary table.

^{48.} In the case of the Trans-Pacific SEP, the investment chapter has not yet been negotiated and will be added later in the framework of the agreement.

slight changes – in some of the RTAs) states that "With respect to any measure covered by this Agreement, each Member shall accord immediately and unconditionally to services and service suppliers of any other Member treatment no less favourable than that it accords to like services and service suppliers of any other country".

126. As the MFN clause is the same for all kinds of trade in services in GATS-inspired agreements (that is for the 4 modes of supply), the scope of the provision can be ambiguous regarding the pre- or postentry MFN treatment. There is however no doubt that the MFN provision inspired from Article II of GATS covers both pre- and post-establishment.

127. MFN treatment does not come without exceptions and RTAs with a MFN clause include a list of specific exceptions. The NAFTA and GATS approach come close to each other in this area, as both have a negative list of reservations. There is nonetheless a difference. In GATS-inspired agreements, the member countries may make any exemption to the MFN clause that they can negotiate, but exemptions have to be made at the time the agreement enters into force. The elimination or narrowing of MFN exemptions may be negotiated in at a later time.

128. An important exception to the MFN treatment that can be found in certain GATS-inspired agreements is the regional economic integration organisation (REIO) exception. According to this clause, a more favourable treatment granted to members of another (third party) regional grouping by a Party of a given RTA is not (automatically) accorded on an MFN basis to the other Parties of the current (first) agreement. It is only through a request, a review of commitments, a renegotiation or through the unilateral decision of this Party to extend the more favourable treatment to its partners that the other Parties could benefit from the more favourable treatment.

129. The REIO exception in GATS-like agreements is generally inspired by Article V of GATS. This article provides that any member of GATS may be a party to a REIO while containing safeguards for non-REIO members. EFTA-Singapore and EFTA-Korea are examples of the GATS approach for investment in services. EFTA-Korea excludes from MFN treatment the "other agreements concluded by one of the Parties and notified under Article V or Article V *bis* of the GATS". Article 3.4 adds that "If a Party enters into an agreement of the type referred to in paragraph 2, it shall upon request from another Party afford adequate opportunity to that Party to negotiate the benefits granted therein." It is thus through a renegotiation that the benefits of another (third party) RTA can be extended to the parties of the (first) RTA and not through the application of the MFN clause.

130. When a GATS-inspired agreement has no REIO exception clause, it is assumed that the commitments are already reflecting the "most favoured" treatment available in a preferential trade agreement. There is then an article about the better treatment that could be granted in the future to a third party in another RTA. For example, in the Japan-Malaysia EPA, article 101 indicates that "if a Country has entered into an agreement on trade in services with a third State or enters into such an agreement after this Agreement comes into force (...), it shall, upon the request of the other Country, consider according to services and service suppliers of the other Country, treatment no less favourable than that it accords to like services and service suppliers of that third State pursuant to such an agreement". In some cases the request has to be "favourably" considered or the Party has to "afford adequate opportunity to the other Parties" to negotiate the new benefits, but there is no binding obligation to grant a no less favourable treatment than the one accorded in the more recent agreement.b) The MFN provision in NAFTA-inspired agreements

131. The scope of the MFN clause is more precisely described in NAFTA-inspired agreements. The treatment "no less favourable" applies "with respect to the establishment, acquisition, expansion, management, conduct, operation, and sale or other disposition of investments" (Article 1103 of NAFTA). It is also clear that both "investors" and "investments of investors" benefit from the MFN standard.

However, the MFN clause found in NAFTA and the NAFTA-inspired agreements specifies that the treatment "no less favourable" is accorded "in like circumstances".⁴⁹ The Australia-United States FTA, the FTA between Central America, the Dominican Republic and the United States (CAFTA-DR), US-Morocco and the Japan-Mexico Economic Partnership are other examples of NAFTA-like agreements, according pre- and post-establishment MFN treatment "in like circumstances."

132. In EFTA-Singapore and EFTA-Korea, the MFN clause reflects the hybrid inspiration of these agreements with a MFN clause in the services chapter modelled after GATS and a MFN clause in the investment chapter modelled after NAFTA (with the difference that NT and MFN are merged in a single article). It remains to be seen if the difference in the way the two MFN clauses are drafted has practical implications.

133. In NAFTA-inspired agreements, an equivalent to the REIO exception can be found as a reservation in the annex on reservations for future measures or in a specific annex on exceptions from MFN treatment (as in the NAFTA treaty, see Box 1). This creates another difference between GATS-inspired and NAFTA-inspired agreements. There is a wide exception to MFN treatment for all other RTAs in the case of GATS-inspired agreements, while in NAFTA-inspired agreements the parties can benefit from better treatment granted to third parties in another RTA signed after the entry into force of the later one.

Box 1. NAFTA-inspired reservations on MFN treatment

In NAFTA-like agreements, there is often an exception to MFN treatment regarding commitments made in other regional or multilateral agreements signed before the entry into force of the RTA in question. The exception is listed as a non-conforming measure in the annex of the agreement. However the exception does not cover future regional or multilateral agreements (with the exception of a few designated sectors).

For example, the US schedule in NAFTA (Annex IV) says: "The United States takes an exception to Article 1103 [MFN] for treatment accorded under all bilateral or multilateral international agreements in force or signed prior to the date of entry into force of this Agreement. For international agreements in force or signed after the date of entry into force of this Agreement, the United States takes an exception to Article 1103 for treatment accorded under those agreements involving: (a) aviation; (b) fisheries; (c) maritime matters, including salvage; or (d) telecommunications transport networks and telecommunications transport services (...)". Apart from the four sectors mentioned, there is no reservation for future agreements and parties to RTAs in force can benefit from more favourable treatment granted in later agreements signed by the US. In that sense it is better than a provision excluding all other RTAs from the application of MFN treatment.

In CAFTA-DR, the Dominican Republic has the same MFN reservation about past and future agreements as the US in its schedule, while El Salvador, Guatemala, Honduras and Nicaragua have included it only *vis-à-vis* the United States and the Dominican Republic. US-Australia, US-Morocco and Japan-Mexico also have this wide MFN reservation.⁵⁰ The Chile-Korea FTA, although inspired by NAFTA does not use a reservation in the annex to exclude other regional trade agreements from the application of MFN. It has a REIO exception stated in the MFN Article (Article 10.4). The Trans-Pacific Strategic Economic Partnership has a GATS-inspired services chapter that lists reservations through a NAFTA-inspired negative list. It also reproduces the NAFTA-approach towards MFN exemptions with the same kind of reservation regarding past and future third-party RTAs in the schedules of Chile, New Zealand and Singapore.

^{49.} See OECD (2005), *International Investment Law: A Changing Landscape*, Chapter V for a discussion of the implications of the "like circumstances".

^{50.} In the other agreements than NAFTA, only three sectors are concerned for future agreements: aviation, fisheries and maritime matters (including salvage).

c) The difference between a multilateral and regional MFN rule

134. The implications of the MFN rule are different at the regional and bilateral level as compared to the multilateral level since in the former group only the partner countries benefit from "no less favourable" treatment. The multilateral MFN rule ensures that all partners to the (global) trade agreement are given non-discriminatory treatment. It is a guarantee for an investor to receive treatment no less favourable than other investors from other countries. If more favourable treatment is granted to one of these investors it is automatically extended to all investors from all parties. At the multilateral level, the MFN rule is a principle of non-discriminatory treatment between a broad number of countries (e.g. currently 150 in the WTO).

135. The MFN rule has a different function in a regional trade agreement. To begin with, RTAs are the major exception to the above mentioned non-discriminatory treatment at the multilateral level. With the multiplication of RTAs, the scope of application of the multilateral MFN rule is reduced as most-favoured-nation treatment is replaced by preferential treatment not extended to other parties in the multilateral agreement because of REIO exception clauses. The preferential treatment of the RTA is thus not "multilateralised" (unless it is a unilateral decision from the country to do so – the MFN treatment is a guarantee of non-discrimination but nothing prevents a country from applying non-discriminatory treatment to all partners and extending a more favourable treatment to them in the absence of any MFN obligation or any RTAs).

136. The "regional" MFN rule, which is the same most-favoured nation treatment included this time in a regional or bilateral trade agreement, organises non-discrimination among countries that benefit from preferential treatment (as an exception to the multilateral MFN rule). The purpose is different as parties are less interested by the no less favourable treatment granted to the other parties *within* the RTA than by a more favourable treatment that could be granted to other parties in *another* RTA and could be extended to them through the MFN principle. The first RTA that includes the MFN provision can be called the "basic agreement" while the other agreement with more favourable treatment can be referred to as the "third-party agreement".

137. In the case of a bilateral RTA, it is clear that the MFN rule is not there to guarantee a treatment no less favourable than the one granted to other parties since there is only one partner in the agreement. In RTAs with a sufficiently large number of parties, the MFN rule could have a similar purpose than at the multilateral level. But even in a regional agreement with several parties, the value of the MFN rule will lie more often in comparing the preferential treatment of the basic agreement with the treatment obtained in third-party RTAs, in particular in more recent agreements that could offer more favourable treatment. To put it in a nutshell, the MFN clause in a RTA has a value for investors, not only as a standard to prevent any discriminatory treatment *vis-à-vis* other investors, but also if it can create a liberalisation dynamic.

138. One can even question if a MFN clause is required in a regional trade agreement. If national treatment is also granted (both pre- and post-establishment), the usefulness of the MFN clause may be questioned. The treatment afforded to domestic companies can generally be expected to be more favourable and the national treatment standard could be sufficient. It is only if market access is limited and reservations on national treatment have been listed that, as a "second best", investors can turn to the MFN principle to be at least treated as well as other foreign investors. However, once again, this rationale is less likely to apply in the context of a regional trade agreement. The MFN provision at the multilateral level already offers the level playing field that is sought by foreign investors. A regional trade agreement is interesting only if it creates a preferential treatment that would give an advantage to investors from the signatory countries.

139. Regarding investment, a noticeable difference is that there is a MFN rule at the multilateral level for investment in services, as MFN is a general obligation of the GATS. But there is no corresponding principle for non-services sectors. There is no multilateral agreement with non-discriminatory provisions for investment in the production of goods. In this context, the MFN principle in regional trade agreements has certainly more value for goods than for services. But that would suppose that through the MFN rule, countries could be granted the same kind of treatment than provided to investors from third-party agreements.

140. The only case where the MFN treatment might be *more* advantageous than national treatment is for investment incentives granted to foreign investors only (UNCTAD, 2004). In this case, foreign investors are favoured over domestic companies and the MFN treatment can be more enjoyable than the national treatment.

141. Another difference between the multilateral and regional MFN rule is that at the multilateral level the MFN clause can create a "free rider" situation, by unilaterally extending to all partners any additional rights that are granted to other parties in future agreements. Such a situation has the potential of creating an asymmetrical contractual imbalance between parties. This is not the case in a RTA where the MFN provision has a more limited scope of application.

142. To conclude, it seems that in a regional trade agreement, the MFN principle can have value for investors only if it creates a link with the treatment granted to foreign investors in third-party agreements. Either these other agreements provide an equivalent treatment and the MFN principle acts as a guarantee of non-discrimination among investors receiving a preferential treatment, or this third-party agreement is more advantageous for foreign investors and the MFN rule plays a positive role in extending this better treatment to all investors from signatory countries.

c) Are liberalising commitments extended to third parties through the MFN rule?

143. However, there are several obstacles for the MFN clause to operate in the context of RTAs. As pointed out before, RTAs themselves have exceptions to the application of the MFN treatment. REIO exception clauses or NAFTA-inspired reservations can prevent the commitments made in a third-party RTA to be extended to parties of the basic agreement.

144. As GATS-inspired agreements reproduce the multilateral MFN clause found in GATS Article V, they often include a REIO exception where non-parties to the RTA cannot claim the benefits of the preferential treatment accorded at the regional level under the multilateral MFN clause. The result therefore is a risk of discriminatory treatment between the parties of different RTAs signed by the same country. To prevent this from happening, GATS-inspired agreements rely on a review of commitments or further negotiations to extend the more favourable treatment of a new agreement to parties of a prior RTA.

145. In GATS-inspired agreements, the existence of an REIO exception does not *require* discriminatory treatment between members of different RTAs but it does allow for it. The selective liberalisation in GATS-inspired agreements (where countries choose sectors where commitments are taken) can to some extent encourage a different treatment for investors from different RTAs. However, there is no tangible sign of such a practice when looking at Table 13. A detailed analysis at the sub-sector level could say otherwise, but one observes in the Table a certain consistency in the schedules of commitments made by the same country in different RTAs. The only visible trend is that more recent agreements tend to include more commitments.

146. If not through the MFN rule, the extension of more favourable treatment across RTAs can take place in GATS-inspired agreements through a request or a review of commitments. For example, the

Thailand-Australia FTA allows for different mechanisms to incorporate treatment more favourable made in a newer agreement. Article 812 states that "If, after the Agreement enters into force, a Party enters into any agreement on trade in services with a non-Party, it shall consider a request by the other Party for the incorporation in this Agreement of treatment no less favourable than that provided under the former agreement". A requirement that is however sometimes found for such an extension is that it be made on a reciprocal basis. But nothing prevents a party from unilaterally extending the benefit of new commitments to all parties of other RTAs.

147. Of course, the review of commitments is less interesting for investors than the MFN rule, as additional rights from future third party agreements are not granted automatically. But it should be noted that the review of commitments tends to be different from a renegotiation of the treaty, e.g. by not creating a new agreement that would have to be ratified and to go through the Parliament in each country. A simple exchange of letters between Parties or the decision taken during a joint meeting may be sufficient for commitments to be aligned on new concessions made in third-party agreements.

148. In NAFTA-inspired agreements, there is an automatic extension of the more favourable treatment granted in a new agreement through the MFN clause, as there is no REIO exception clause and the general MFN exception mentioned applies only to past agreements. It is the only example of a MFN rule that could be applied to extend the commitments of newer agreements to parties of former RTAs. However, in most of the NAFTA-inspired agreements, countries have listed exceptions in certain sectors. Such sectors will not automatically benefit from the better treatment of future agreements through the MFN clause.

149. Another way of limiting the risk of investment distortions is to negotiate RTAs with the same liberalisation commitments and same reservations (and this is true for both GATS-inspired and NAFTA-inspired agreements). By looking at Tables 12 and 13, it seems to be what most countries have done. The US schedules of commitments for example show very few variations from one agreement to another. However, the situation of countries having negotiated a NAFTA-inspired agreement with a partner and a GATS-inspired agreement with another country can lead to distortions as the coverage of commitments varies between the two kinds of agreements.

150. As far as non-discrimination among investors is concerned, the question of the scope of the MFN clause is an important issue that is beyond the scope of this paper but should be kept in mind. Special privileges or incentives can be granted to an individual investor without falling under the scope of the MFN provision.⁵¹ Some agreements specify that the MFN principle apply "in like circumstances" but even without such a mention, international law has recognised the *ejusdem generis* principle according to which a MFN clause can only apply to the same subject matter.⁵² In the context of BITs, different ICSID cases have also brought questions on the scope of application of the MFN principle, in particular if it applies to procedural matters in addition to substantive matters.⁵³ As the exact scope of application of the MFN principle is not always clear, it seems that a cautious approach has been followed in recent RTAs with the different forms of "neutralization" of the MFN rule that we have described.

151. In sum, one may question the *de facto* impact of the most-favoured nation clause in regional trade agreements. It certainly has a value as a principle of non-discrimination among the parties of the agreement when the RTA has a large number of parties. However, while the MFN clause has also the potential to bestow additional benefits on investors and investments that are not specially negotiated by that party, it is

53. Idem.

^{51.} UNCTAD (2004).

^{52.} OECD (2005), *International Investment Law: A Changing Landscape*, Chapter V provides a review of the principle and its application.

unclear that this happens in practice. In GATS-inspired agreements where the MFN rule cannot apply because of the REIO exception clause, the review of commitments offers no guarantee of a nondiscriminatory treatment, especially if the agreement asks for reciprocity in the new concessions made. In NAFTA-inspired agreements, the practice so far has been to have very few reservations on MFN treatment as regard to future RTAs, but as noted above newer agreements are generally signed with very similar schedules of commitments. In other words, the scope for MFN benefits is very limited and one can question the potential liberalising effect of RTAs and their capacity to "multilateralise" investment commitments.

LIST OF REFERENCES

Bibliography

- Crawford, J.A. and R. Fiorentino (2005), "Changing Landscape of Regional Trade Agreements", Discussion Paper No. 8, http://www.wto.org/english/res_e/booksp_e/discussion_papers8_e.pdf
- Fink, C. and A. Mattoo (2002), "Regional Agreements and Trade in Services: Policy Issues", World Bank Policy Research Working Paper 2852, June.
- Fink, C. and M. Molinuevo (2007), "East Asian Free Trade Agreements in Services: Roaring Tigers or Timid Pandas?", mimeo.
- Hirsch, M. (2006), "Interactions between Investment and Non-Investment Obligations in International Investment Law" in Trade Dispute Management, Vol. 3; Issue5
- Hoekman, B. (1995), "Tentative First Steps. An Assessment of the Uruguay Round Agreement on Services", World Bank Policy Research Working Paper 1455, May.
- Kemp, S. (2000), "Trade in education services and the impacts of barriers to trade", in Findlay, C., Warren, T. (Eds), Impediments to Trade in Services: Measurement and Policy Implications, Routledge: London and New York, 231-44.
- Lesher, M. and S. Miroudot (2006), "Analysis of the Economic Impact of Investment Provisions in Regional Trade Agreements", OECD Trade Policy Working Paper No. 36, TD/TC/WP(2005)40/FINAL.
- Low, P. and A. Mattoo (2000), "Is There a Better Way? Alternative Approaches to Liberalization under the GATS", World Bank.
- OECD (Organisation for Economic Co-Operation and Development) (2002), *The Relationship between Regional Trade Agreements and the Multilateral Trading System – Services*, Working Party of the Trade Committee, TD/TC/WP(2002)27/FINAL.
- OECD (2003), Regionalism and the Multilateral Trading System, (http://publications.oecd.org/acrobatebook/2203031E.PDF)
- OECD (2005), "Novel Features in OECD Countries' Recent Investment Agreements: An Overview", http://www.oecd.org/dataoecd/42/9/35823420.pdf.
- OECD (2005), International Investment Law: A Changing Landscape, Paris.
- OECD (2005), "Relationships between International Investment Agreements, Working Paper 2004/1.
- OECD (2006), "Novel features in Recent OECD Bilateral Investment Treaties" in International Investment Perspectives.

OECD (2006), "Salient Features of India's Investment Agreements".

- Roy, M. (2003) "Implications for the GATS of Negotiations on a Multilateral Investment Framework: Potential Synergies and Pitfalls", *Journal of World Investment* 4(6), 963-986.
- Roy, M., Marchetti, J. and H. Lim (2006). "Services Liberalization in the New Generation of Preferential Trade Agreements (PTAs): How Much Further than the GATS?", WTO Staff Working Paper, ERSD-2006-07.
- Stephenson, S.M. (2002). "Regional versus multilateral liberalization of services", *World Trade Review* 1(2), 187-209.
- Szepesi, S. (2004), Comparing EU free trade agreements: Investment. (ECDPM InBrief 6D). Maastricht: ECDPM

http://www.ecdpm.org/Web_ECDPM/Web/Content/Navigation.nsf/index2?readform&http://www.ec dpm.org/Web_ECDPM/Web/Content/Content.nsf/7732def81dddfa7ac1256c240034fe65/5eec2f7148 00b082c1256eed002c6980?OpenDocument

- Ullrich, H. Comparing EU free trade agreements: Services. (ECDPM InBrief 6C). Maastricht : ECDPM <u>http://www.ecdpm.org/Web_ECDPM/Web/Content/Navigation.nsf/index2?readform&http://www.ec dpm.org/Web_ECDPM/Web/Content/Content.nsf/0/DF191BF77F3E50C7C1256F08002B8CFE</u>
- UNCTAD (United Nations Conference on Trade and development) (1998), *Country-Specific Lists of BITs*, <u>http://www.unctad.org/Templates/Page.asp?intItemID=2344&lang=1</u>
- UNCTAD (2004), *International Investment Agreements: Key Issues*, Volume I. New York and Geneva: United Nations.
- UNCTAD (2005), Series on International Investment Policies for Development: International Investment Agreements in Services, <u>http://www.unctad.org/en/docs/iteiit20052_en.pdf</u>
- UNCTAD (2005), Investment Provisions in Economic Integration Agreements http://www.unctad.org/en/docs/iteiit200510_en.pdf
- UNCTAD (2005), International Investment Arrangements: Trends and Emerging Issues http://www.unctad.org/en/docs/iteiit200511_en.pdf
- UNCTAD (2006), Systemic Issues in International Investment Agreements (IIAs) http://www.unctad.org/sections/dite_dir/docs/webiteiia20062_en.pdf

Websites

- Andean Community Treaties and Legislation http://www.comunidadandina.org/ingles/treaties.htm
- Australian Government Department of Foreign Affairs and Trade <u>http://www.dfat.gov.au/trade/</u>
- Europa Trade Trade Issues http://ec.europa.eu/comm/trade/issues/bilateral/countries/index_en.htm

- Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development www.oecd.org
- Singapore Free Trade Agreement http://app.fta.gov.sg/asp/index.asp
- Foreign Trade Information System (SICE) <u>http://www.sice.oas.org/</u>
- United Nations Conference on Trade and Development www.unctad.org
- USTR Bilateral Trade Agreements http://www.ustr.gov/Trade_Agreements/Bilateral/Section_Index.html
- WorldTradeLaw.Net Bilateral and Regional Trade Agreements Notified to the WTO <u>http://www.worldtradelaw.net/fta/ftadatabase/ftas.asp</u>

ANNEX 1 – KEY FEATURES OF THE RTAS REVIEWED

A. General contents of recent RTAs

152. Today's RTAs cover diverse policy areas with the purpose of developing the parties' economic potential and growth in a more integrated and complementary way. Their obligations often go beyond the WTO regulatory framework and include issues not traditionally covered by trade agreements such as investment, trade services, competition policy, intellectual property protection, technical cooperation and policy capacity building. The review of the general contents of the 20 RTAs included the present study leads to the following observations.

- Apart from the preambles and general sections on objectives and purposes, and definitions, the agreements are typically divided into three distinct parts covering (a) trade in goods; (b) trade in investment, services and/or other related issues and (c) implementation and review. Schedules of commitments and special understandings are usually lodged in separate annexes. In some cases, exchanges of letters also clarify the scope of application of the agreements.
- All but two of the agreements contain separate chapters on Investment and Trade in Services. In the case of ASEAN, services and investment disciplines are lodged in two separate "Framework Agreements", the first concluded in 1995,⁵⁴ the second in 1998.⁵⁵ In the case of the Andean Community, the main obligations are contained in two separate Decisions, Decision 291⁵⁶ and Decision 439⁵⁷ respectively adopted in 1991 and 1998.
- The investment and services disciplines are embedded in a wider web of mutually supportive and complementary disciplines. In addition to trade rules for goods, which still remain the core of the agreements, all but 4 contain separate chapters on government procurement and intellectual property, all but 5 contain separate chapters on competition policy and all but 5 contain separate chapters on transparency. Ten agreements also have a chapter on the movement of natural persons or business persons and 7 on environment and labour. New subjects (E-commerce) or forms of cooperation (science and technology, education and media) are also emerging. Corporate responsibility is included in one instance.
- The agreements are based on the trade-in-goods rules developed in the WTO. They all contain binding obligations on market access and non-discrimination, detailed provisions on rules of origin, customs procedures, sanitary and phytosanitary measures and technical barriers to

^{54.} The ASEAN Framework Agreement on Services (AFAS).

^{55.} The Framework Agreement on ASEAN Investment Area (AIA).

^{56.} Decision 291 establishes a Regime for the Common Treatment of Foreign Capital and Trademarks, Patents, Licensing Agreements and Royalties.

^{57.} Decision 439 establishing a General Framework of Principles and Rules and for Liberalizing the Trade in Services in the Andean Community.

trade. Trade remedies and safeguards are also covered in separate chapters in most of the cases. $^{\rm 58}$

On the implementation side, all agreements contain their own special administrative and institutional arrangements to monitor compliance of the obligations and dispute settlement provisions to resolve disputes over the application of the agreement. In the majority of cases dispute settlement provisions also include investor-to-state procedures as regards investment disputes.

B. Key features of investment chapters

153. RTA investment chapters typically include different types of disciplines and associated measures dealing with the subjects of investment liberalisation, investment protection, investment promotion and facilitation and dispute settlement. The review of the investment chapters of the 20 RTAs covered by the present study leads to the following observations. Tables 7, 9A and 10 present the observed features in a schematic form.

Regarding coverage

- All the investment chapters are tri-dimensional in that they provide for, albeit to various degrees, (a) investment liberalisation, (b) investment protection and (c) investment promotion, cooperation and facilitation.
- All agreements (except for those concluded by the EU and the ASEAN Investment Area which follow an FDI based approach) have adopted an "asset-based" definition of investment. The list of assets is also an open one except for Japan-Mexico EPA (which follows an exhaustive closed list). They also cover investment directly or indirectly owned or controlled except for CECA, the ASEAN Investment Agreement and Decision 291 of the Andean Community.
- Only the EFTA agreements reviewed contain umbrella clauses, provisions that place undertakings made by host States vis-à-vis investors under the investment chapter's protective umbrella.⁵⁹

Regarding liberalisation

- Transparency which may range from the publication of laws and regulations to procedural transparency – is provided for in all the agreements but, as a general rule, as a horizontal obligation lodged in a separate chapter applicable to the whole RTA. The investment chapters of the EFTA-Korea FTA, India-Singapore CECA and the ASEAN Investment Area include provisions in this area. COMESA or the Andean Community agreements do not contain such provisions.
- All agreements provide for national treatment with respect to establishment and postestablishment – except for COMESA and the EU Agreements which do not cover establishment. EFTA agreements and the New Zealand-Singapore CERTA excludes Mode 3 delivery of services from this obligation. In TAFTA, the National Treatment obligation at the

^{58.} Except in the case of Japan-Singapore EPA, EFTA-Korea and EU-Jordan.

^{59.} See "Interpretation of Umbrella Clauses in Investment Agreements", OECD Working Papers on International Investment, 2006/3.

establishment phase applies to covered "direct" investment and investments other than Mode 3; at the post-establishment to all investments other than Mode 3. In Japan-Malaysia FTA, the National Treatment obligation in the Investment chapter does not apply to the establishment, acquisition and expansion of portfolio investments. The ASEAN Investment Agreement only applies to five listed sectors and incidental services.⁶⁰

- Similarly all agreements provide for MFN treatment, except CECA, Japan-Singapore FTA (concerning establishment), Korea-Singapore and the Andean Pact. TAFTA, however, has an unqualified coverage of MFN treatment as it applies across the board, including to Mode 3.
- Obligations on performance requirements are absent from the EU and EFTA agreements, the New-Zealand-Singapore CERTA, the ASEAN Investment Area and COMESA. The NAFTAbased agreements have "TRIMS plus" obligations.
- Obligations on key personnel (Senior Management and Boards of Directors) are also absent from Japan-Singapore EPA, TAFTA, EC-Chile Agreement, New-Zealand-Singapore FTA, ASEAN, COMESA and the Andean Pact. The investment chapter in EFTA agreements and Japan-Malaysia EPA also include provisions on the temporary movement of business or certain other natural persons, as do Japan-Singapore EPA, Korea-Singapore FTA, TAFTA, New-Zealand-Singapore CERTA and India-Singapore CECA but in a separate chapter.
- All agreements except COMESA provide for country exceptions for non-conforming measures to the investment chapters. The scheduling of these commitments follows a negative list approach in all cases except for India's commitments under India-Singapore CECA and the EC- Chile Agreement which follow a positive list approach.
- Economic integration: Except for the EC-Jordan and EU-Chile agreements, all the others do not contain a special regional integration clause.
- Horizontal exceptions, often lodged in separate chapters, relating to the protection of essential security interests or taxation is a common feature of all agreements.
- General exceptions based on GATT Article XX and/or GATS Article XIV provisions are also provided for except for COMESA and the Andean Community Decision 291.
- Some agreements (AUSFTA, CAFTA-DR, US-Morocco FTA, CECA) also maintain separate provisions in separate chapters (except for CECA) on disclosure of information.
- Most of the reviewed agreements (except CAFTA-DR, US-Morocco FTA, COMESA, Andean Community) contain balance of payments safeguards to deal with BOP difficulties and/or temporary safeguard measures for addressing serious difficulties for the operation of monetary and exchange rate policy. These provisions generally share the features of temporality, non-discrimination, necessity, phase out, notification and consistency with IMF Articles. In addition, CAFTA-DR, US-Morocco, Japan-Malaysia Japan-Mexico and Japan-Singapore EPAs, Chile-Korea FTA, EFTA-Korea FTA and Korea-Singapore have included prudential derogation provisions that deal with more precision and in detailed situations relating to the need for preserving the parties' financial and monetary stability and integrity.

^{60.} Manufacturing, agriculture, fishery, forestry, mining and quarrying.

The chapter on Investment in a majority of agreements contains a clause on *Denial of Benefits* that denies the benefits of the agreement to investors not conducting substantial business operations in the territory of a party and certain other circumstances.

Regarding Protection

- All but the EU agreements and the Andean Decisions give guarantees on both direct and indirect expropriation. In the New-Zealand Singapore Agreement, the protection and expropriation obligations are subject to MFN and National Treatment.
- > Free transfers are provided for by all agreements studied.
- Clauses on standard treatment or minimum standard of treatment are found, on the other hand, in only five agreements (Australia-USA FTA, CAFTA-DR, US-Morocco FTA, Japan-Mexico EPA and Korea-Singapore FTA). The Japan-Singapore FTA does not contain a general treatment clause.
- > As indicated above, umbrella clauses have been found only in EFTA-based agreements.

Regarding Dispute Settlement

All the agreements reviewed except AUSFTA, the EC agreements, COMESA and the Andean Community provisions contain investor-to-state dispute settlement procedures. Prior consent is given in a majority of these cases except for the EFTA-Singapore FTA⁶¹ and New Zealand-Singapore Agreement. Transparency of awards or proceedings, amicus curiae submissions and consolidation of claims are only provided for in a handful of agreements, namely the USmodelled agreements.

Investment promotion and facilitation

Investment promotion and facilitation provisions are clearly on an upward trend, particularly in Japan EPAs. These provisions may be of the cooperation mechanisms set up for implementing the agreement. In some more recent agreements (EFTA-Singapore and EFTA-Korea Agreements, TAFTA, Japan-Malaysia and Japan-Singapore EPAs), these issues are singled out in the investment chapters or separate chapters (EC agreements) for further action.

^{61.} Article 48(3) provides that "A Party may conclude contractual agreements with investors of another Party giving its unconditional and irrevocable consent to the submission of all or certain types of disputes to international conciliation or arbitration in accordance with paragraph 2 above".

C. Key features of services chapters

Tables 8, 9B and 10 list the investment disciplines and associated measures that can be found in the 20 agreements reviewed. Two different approaches are taken. RTAs based on the GATS provide only for cross-border trade-in-services and excludes investment in services unless otherwise specified. From the sampled agreements it can be particularly observed that:

Market Access:

All the agreements make market access commitments in the chapter on services (except for EC-Jordan which aims for future liberalisation of services). The commitments may be in the form of a positive list or a negative list depending on whether the agreements subscribe to the GATS approach or are NAFTA based. In the case of some NAFTA based agreements which distinguish between Investment in Services (contained in the Investment chapter) and Cross-Border Trade in Services. However, as elaborated in part III of the study, these provisions also apply to Investment in Services.

National Treatment:

> All the agreements also provide for pre and post-establishment national treatment . The commitments again can be in the form of positive or negative lists.

Most Favoured Nation Treatment:

Except for EC-Chile, New Zealand-Singapore, Japan-Singapore, India-Singapore, Korea-Chile, all other agreements provide for pre and post establishment MFN.

Temporary Movement of Natural Persons:

All the agreements except US-Australia, US-Morocco and CAFTA-DR provide for movement of natural persons either in the chapter on trade in services or in a different chapter. The EC-Chile contains a review provision to improve the liberalistation commitments on Mode 4. In the EC-Jordan agreement, Mode 4 is to be liberalised in the course of future negotiations.

Domestic Regulation:

The Domestic regulation clause requires parties to apply measures relating to services in a reasonable, objective and impartial manner. All agreements except for Japan-Mexico, Chile-Korea and the Andean Community decision provide for a clause on domestic regulation.

Recognition

All the agreements provide for working towards the recognition of qualifications of service providers who are nationals of other parties. Some of the agreements provide for a specific time frame within which the parties shall work towards recognition. For example, the EFTA-Singapore agreement provides that within three years rules shall be framed for mutual recognition.

Monopoly Service Providers:

GATS based agreements like Japan-Singapore and Japan-Malaysia, EFTA-Korea, EFTA-Singapore, New Zealand-Singapore and India-Singapore generally address monopoly service providers. The Korea-Singapore FTA's CBTS chapter includes this provision. The clause on Monopoly service providers requires parties to prevent any abuse of monopolies.

Horizontal Exceptions:

All the agreements analysed provide for General and Security exceptions either in the chapter on services or in an independent chapter. The agreements based on a NAFTA approach do not provide for general exceptions dealing with investment but some do provide General Exceptions for Cross-Border Trade in Services by referring to Article XIV of GATS.

Country Exceptions:

Depending on whether they are based on the GATS approach (except for Andean Community and Trans-Pacific SEP) or the NAFTA approach, agreements use positive or negative lists.

Clause for further liberalisation:

Korea-Singapore, TAFTA, EC-Jordan, India-Singapore, ASEAN Framework Agreement and the Andean Community Decision 439 contain a clause for further liberalisation.

Transparency:

All the agreements, except for EC-Jordan agreement have either an independent clause on transparency in the chapter on services or elsewhere in the agreement.

Denial of Benefits:

All agreements, except for EC-Chile and EC-Jordan agreements, EFTA agreements with Singapore and Korea, New Zealand-Singapore and the Andean Community decision 439, contain this provision a Denial of Benefits clause. This clause extends preferential treatment to all legal persons conducting substantial business operations in the territory of a party.

Services Promotion and Facilitation:

Almost all the agreements establish the necessary institutional mechanisms for aiding in the implementation of the agreement, review of commitments and future negotiations on the commitments made under the agreements.

Business Practices:

For ensuring fair competition GATS has the Business Practices clause (Article IX). This clause seeks to remedy the inequities that maybe caused due to monopolies and unfair competition. Only Japan-Singapore, EFTA Korea and India-Singapore provide for an independent clause on Business Practices, based on GATS Article IX.

Transfers:

On the protection front most agreements allow for free transfers in the chapter on services. Except for Japan-Mexico, EFTA-Singapore and Korea-Chile all agreements have clauses relating to transfers. Some of the GATS based agreements refer only to transfers relating to "current transactions" in accordance with GATS, while NAFTA based agreements allow all transfers related to cross border supply of services and also list exceptions to the rule.

Expropriation:

Only the India-Singapore agreement provides for provision on expropriation in the services chapter. The services chapter in Article 7.24 provides for services investment linkage. This article lists provisions of the investment chapter which apply mutatis mutandis to the services chapter .This includes expropriation of a commercial presence.

| | | | | | | Establishment Post Establishment Temporary | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
|---------------------|----------------------|--------------|----------------|----------|----------|--|--|--------------------------------|---------------------------------------|--|--------------------------------|---------------------------------------|---------------------------------|---------------------------------------|---|-----------|------------------------------------|--------|----------|
| | | De | efinitions/S | cope/Cov | erage | | | | Treatment | | | | | | | Investr | nent Protectio | on | |
| | Date | Assa | t based | Invo | stment | | Est | ablishment | | Post E | stablishment | | Senior | Temporary Movement | Standard | | | Evero | priation |
| Agreement | of Agree- ment | Open list | Closed list | Direct | Indirect | Umbrella clause | NT | MFN | Perfor- mance require- ments | NT | MFN | Perfor- mance require- ments | Management/ Key Personnel | of Business/ Natural Persons | of treat- ment/ Fair and Equitable | Transfers | Compen- sation for losses | Direct | Indirect |
| | | | | | | | | | | North-North | | | | | | | | | |
| Australia- USA | 1 Jan. 2005 | + | | + | + | | + | + | + | + | + | + | + | | + | + | + | + | + |
| | | | | | | | | | | North-South | | | | | | | | | |
| NAFTA | 1 Jan. 2004 | | + | + | + | | + | + | + | + | + | + | + | ± | + | + | | + | + |
| CAFTA- DR | 1 July 2006 | + | | + | + | | + | + | + | + | + | + | + | | + | + | + | + | + |
| US- Morocco | 1 July 2006 | + | | + | + | | + | + | + | + | + | + | + | | + | + | + | + | + |
| Japan- Malaysia | 13 July 2006 | + | | + | + | | +(except portfolio investments | + | + | +(*Portfolio investment is excluded from establishment, acquisition, expansion of investment) | + | + | + | + | + | + | + | + | + |
| Japan- Mexico | 1 Jan. 2006 | | + | + | + | | + | + | + | + | + | + | + | | + | + | + | + | + |
| Japan- Singapore | 1 May 2006 | + | | + | + | | + | | + | + | | + | | ± | + | + | + | + | + |
| TAFTA | 1 Jan. 2005 | + | | + | + | | + (Only for covered direct investment and other than Mode 3) | + | | + (Other than Mode 3) | + | | | ± | + | + | + | + | + |
| EC- Chile | 1 Apr. 2005 | | | | | | + | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| EC- Jordan | 1 Feb. 2003 | | | | | | | + | | + | + | | + | | | ± | | | |
| EFTA- Singapore | 1 Jan. 2003 | + | | + | + | + | + (Other than mode 3) | + (Other than mode 3) | | + (Other than mode 3) | + (Other than mode 3) | | + | + | + | + | | + | + |

COM/DAF/INV/TD(2006)40/FINAL Table 7. Substantive provisions in Investment and related chapters of recent RTAs – Part 1

| | | | <i>a</i> | 10 | | | | | Treatment | of Investment | | | | 001 | | | | | |
|---|--------------------|--------------|----------------|-----------|----------|-----------------|-----------------------------|--------------------------------|---------------------------------------|---------------------------------------|--------------------------------|---------------------------------------|---------------------------------|---------------------------------------|---|-----------|------------------------------------|--------|----------|
| | Date | De | efinitions/S | cope/Cove | erage | | Est | ablishment | | Post E | stablishment | t | | Temporary | | Investr | nent Protecti | on | |
| | of | Asse | t based | Inve | stment | e | | | | | | | Senior | Movement | Standard | | | Expro | priation |
| Agreement | Agree- ment | Open list | Closed list | Direct | Indirect | Umbrella clause | NT | MFN | Perfor- mance require- ments | NT | MFN | Perfor- mance require- ments | Management/ Key Personnel | of Business/ Natural Persons | of treat- ment/ Fair and Equitable | Transfers | Compen- sation for losses | Direct | Indirect |
| EFTA- Korea ^a | 1 Sept. 2006 | + | | + | + | + | + (Other than mode 3) | + (Other than mode 3) | | + (Other than mode 3) | + (Other than mode 3) | | + | + | + | + | + | + | + |
| Trans- Pacific SEP | 1 May 2006 | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| New Zealand- Singapore | 1 Jan. 2001 | + | | + | + | | + (Other than mode 3) | + (Other than mode 3) | | + (Other than mode 3) | + (Other than mode 3) | | | ± | + (Other than mode 3) | + | | | |
| | | | | | | | | | | South-South | | | | | | | | | |
| Chile - Korea | 1 Apr. 2004 | + | | + | + | | + | | + | + | + | + | + | | + | + | + | + | + |
| Korea- Singapore | 2 March 2006 | + | | + | + | | + | | + | + | | + | + | ± | + | + | + | + | + |
| India- Singapore CECA | 1 Aug. 2005 | + | | + | | | + | | + | + | | + | + | ± | | + | + | + | + |
| ASEAN Investment Area ^b | 1998 | | | + | | | + | + | | | | | | | + | + | + | + | + |
| COMESA | 8 Dec. 1994 | | + | | | | | + | | | + | | | | + | + | | + | + |
| Andean Community (Decisions 291 & 292) | 1 Jan. 1991 | + | | + | | | + | | | · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · | | | | | | + | | | |

a. Separate Agreement on investment, referred to in FTA, between Korea, Iceland, Liechtenstein and Switzerland.

b. Protection of Investment contained in ASEAN Agreement for Promotion and Protection of Investment, 1987. Article 12 of the AIA provides that "Member States affirm their existing rights and obligations under the 1987 ASEAN Agreement for the Promotion and Protection of Investments and its 1996 Protocol."

Key:

1. + Provisions contained in the Investment Chapter

2. ± provisions are contained in a different Chapter

| | | | | Exception | s | | Future | Balance of | Denial | Disclo- | | | Prom | Investment otion and Coopera | ation |
|---|-------------------|-----|----------------------------|-----------------------|----------------------------------|----------------------------|---------------------|-------------------------|----------------|-----------------------------|---------------|------------------|-----------------------------------|--------------------------------------|--------|
| Agreement | Trans- parency | EIA | General Excep- tions | Security Interests | Pruden- tial mea- sures | Country excep- tions | Liberaliz- ation | Payments/ Safeguards | of Benefits | sure of Infor- mation | Tax- ation | Environ- ment | Invest- ment Promo- tion | Co-opera- tion Mechan- isms | Review |
| | | | | | | | No | rth-North | | | | | | | |
| Australia- USA | ± | | | ± | | + | | | + | ± | Ŧ | + | | ± | ± |
| | | | | | | | Not | rth-South | | | | | | | |
| NAFTA | ± | | | ± | | ± | | | + | | ± | + | | ± | ± |
| CAFTA-DR | ± | | | ± | | + | | | + | ± | ± | + | | | |
| US- | ± | | | ± | | + | | | + | ± | ± | + | | ± | ± |
| Morocco | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| Japan-Malaysia | | | + | + | + | + | | + | + | | + | + | + | + | ± |
| Japan- Mexico | ± | | | ± | | + | | + | + | | ± | + | | | |
| Japan-Singapore | | | + | ± | + | + | | + | | | + | | | + | + |
| TAFTA | ± | + | ± | ± | ± | + | | ± | + | | ± | | + | ± | + |
| EC-Chile | ± | ± | + | ± | | + | + | ± | | | ± | | ± | + | |
| EC-Jordan | ± | ± | + | ± | | + | + | ± | | | ± | | ± | ± | |
| EFTA-Singapore | ± | ± | + | ± | | + | | ± | | | + | | + | ± | ± |
| EFTA-Korea | + | ± | + | | + | + | | + | | | + | + | | + | + |
| Trans-Pacific SEP | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| New Zealand- | ± | | ± | ± | | + | | + | | ± | ± | | | | ± |
| Singapore | | | | | | | | + | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | Sou | th-South | | | | | | | |
| Chile-Korea | ± | | | ± | | + | + | + | + | | ± | + | | ± | |
| Korea-Singapore | ± | | ± | ± | | + | + | + | + | + | ± | + | ± | ± | ± |
| India-Singapore CECA | + | | + | + | | + | | + | | + | | | | | + |
| ASEAN | + | | + | | | + | | | | | | | | | |
| Investment Area | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| COMESA | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| Andean Community (Decisions 291 & 292) | | | | | | + | | | | | | | | | |

Table 7. Substantive provisions in Investment and other related chapters of recent RTAs – Part 2

Key:1. + Provisions contained in the Investment Chapter

2. ± means that the stated provisions are contained in a different Chapter

| | | D-finitions/S | cope/Coverage | | | | | Treatment | of Services | | | | | | Desta | ction of Sei | |
|------------------------------|-----------------------------------|--|---|--------------------|------------------|----|------------|---------------------------------------|------------------|--------|------------|---------------------------------------|--|------------------|-----------------------------------|--------------|----------------------|
| | | Definitions/SC | cope/Coverage | | | Es | tablishmer | nt | | Post E | Establishm | nent | Tempo- | | Protec | ction of Sei | vices |
| Agreements | Date of entry into force | Mode 3/ Com- mercial Presence | Invest- ment Chapter Covers Mode3/ Com- mercial Presence | Umbrella Clause | Market Access | NT | MFN | Perfor- mance Require- ments | Market Access | NT | MFN | Perfor- mance Require- ments | rary Move- ment of Business Persons/ Profes- sionals | Recog- nition | Trans- fer of Pay- ments | Direct | priation Indirect |
| | | • | • | | | | | North-N | orth | | | • | | • | | | |
| Australia- USA* | 1 Jan. 2005 | | + | | + | + | + | | + | + | + | | | + | + | | |
| | | | | | | | | North-S | outh | | | | | | | | |
| NAFTA** | 1 Jan. 2004 | | + | | | + | + | | | + | + | | ± | + | | | |
| CAFTA-DR* | 1 July 2006 | | + | | + | + | + | | + | + | + | | | + | + | | |
| US- Morocco* | 1 Jan. 2006 | | + | | + | + | + | | + | + | + | | | + | + | | |
| Japan- Malaysia | 13 July 2006 | + | + | | + | + | + | | + | + | + | | | + | + | | |
| Japan- Mexico** | 1 Apr. 2005 | | + | | | + | + | | | + | + | | ± | + | + | | |
| Japan- Singapore | 30 Nov. 2002 | + | + | | + | + | | | + | + | | | ± | ± | + | | |
| TAFTA | 1 Jan. 2005 | + | | | + | + | | | + | + | | | ± | + | + | | |
| EC-Chile | 1 March 2005 | + | | | + | + | | | + | + | | | +(future lib) | + | ± | | |
| EC-Jordan | 1 May 2002 | | | | | | | | | | | | | | ± | | |
| EFTA- Singapore | 1 Jan. 2003 | + | | | + | + | + | | + | + | + | | + | + | | | |
| EFTA-Korea | 1 Sept. 2006 | + | | | + | + | + | | + | + | + | | + | + | + | | |
| Trans-Pacific SEP | 1 May 2006 | + | | | + | + | + | | + | + | + | | ± | + | + | | |
| New Zealand- Singapore | 1 Jan. 2001 | + | | | + | + | | | + | + | | | ± | + | | | |

Table 8. Substantive provisions in Services and related chapters – Part 1

| | | Definitions/Sc | cope/Coverage | | | | | Treatment | of Services | | | | | | Protoc | tion of Sei | ruinon |
|--|-----------------------------------|--|---|--------------------|------------------|----|-----------|---------------------------------------|------------------|--------|-----------|---------------------------------------|--|------------------|-----------------------------------|-------------|----------|
| | | Definitions/SC | cope/Coverage | | | Es | tablishme | nt | | Post E | stablishm | ent | Tempo- | | Plotec | | |
| Agreements | Date of entry into force | Mode 3/ Com- mercial Presence | Invest- ment Chapter Covers Mode3/ Com- mercial Presence | Umbrella Clause | Market Access | NT | MFN | Perfor- mance Require- ments | Market Access | NT | MFN | Perfor- mance Require- ments | rary Move- ment of Business Persons/ Profes- sionals | Recog- nition | Trans- fer of Pay- ments | Expro | Indirect |
| | | | | | | | | South-S | outh | | | | • | | | | |
| Chile- Korea** | 1 Apr. 2004 | | + | | + | + | + | | + | + | + | | ± | + | + | | |
| Korea- Singapore | 2 March 2006 | | + | | + | + | | | + | + | | | | + | + | | |
| India- Singapore CECA | 1 Aug. 2005 | + | | | + | + | | + | + | + | | + | + | + | + | + | |
| ASEAN Framework Agreement on Services | 1995 | + | | | + | + | + | | + | | + | | | + | | | |
| COMESA | 8 Dec. 1994 | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| Andean Community (Decision 439) | 25 May 1998 | + | | | + | + | + | | + | + | + | | + | + | + | | |
| Key: | • | • | • | • | • | | | | • | • | - | | • | • | • | • | |

1. + Provisions contained in the Services Chapter

2. ± provisions are contained in a different Chapter

3. * Contains chapter on Cross Border Trade in Services. Only provisions on Market Access, Domestic Regulation and Transparency in Developing and Applying Regulation apply to Investment in Services.

4. ** Contains chapter on Cross Border Trade in Services which does not apply to Investment in Services

| | | Exce | ptions | | | | | | | Mono- | | | | | | | es promotion facilitation | |
|------------------------------|-------------------|-----------|-----------------|-------------|-----------------|---------------------------------------|---------------------------------------|------------------------|--------------|----------------------|--------------------------|-------------------|---------------|-----------------------|---------------------------------|------------------|------------------------------|-----------------------|
| Agreement | General Excep- | Security | Pruden- tial | | intry ptions | Clause for further Liberali- | Balance of Pay- ments/ Safe- | Finan- cial Ser- | Tele- com | poly Ser- vice | Domes- tic Regula- | Trans- parency | Tax- ation | Denial of Bene- | Disclo- sure of Infor- | Co- operation | Review of | Business Practices |
| | tions | Interests | mea- sures | +ve List | –ve List | zation | guards | vices | | Provi- ders | tion | | | fits | mation | Mecha- nisms | Commit- ments | |
| | | | | | | | | | Nor | th-North | | | | | | | | |
| Australia- USA | ± | ± | | | + | | | ± | ± | | + | + | ± | + | | ± | ± | |
| | | | | | | | | | Nor | th-South | | | | | | | | |
| NAFTA | ± | ± | | | | | Ŧ | | | | | | ± | | Ŧ | ± | ± | |
| CAFTA-DR | | ± | | | + | | | ± | ± | | + | + | ± | + | | ± | ± | |
| US- Morocco | ± | ± | | | + | | | ± | ± | | + | + | ± | + | | ± | ± | |
| Japan- Malaysia | ± | ± | | + | | + | + | | | + | + | + | Ŧ | + | ± | | + | |
| Japan - Mexico | ± | ± | | | + | | ± | ± | + | | | ± | ± | + | | + | + | |
| Japan- Singapore | + | ± | | + | | | + | + | + | + | + | ± | ± | + | | ± | ± | + |
| TAFTA | ± | ± | ± | + | | + | ± | + | + | | | ± | ± | + | | + | + | |
| EC-Chile | + | ± | | + | | | ± | ± | + | | + | + | ± | | | ± | + | |
| EC-Jordan | + | | | | | ± | ± | | | | | | ± | | | ± | | |
| EFTA- Singapore | + | + | | + | | + | + | + | + | + | + | | ± | | | ± | + | |
| EFTA- Korea | + | + | | + | | | + | ± | +1 | + | | + | | | | ± | + | + |
| Trans- Pacific SEP | ± | ± | | | + | | ± | | + | | + | + | ± | + | | | + | |
| New Zealand- Singapore | ± | ± | | + | | | ± | + | + | + | + | ± | ± | | ± | ± | ± | |

Table 8. Substantive provisions in Services and related chapters – Part 2

1. Applies only to interstate disputes.

| | | Exce | ptions | | | | | | | Mono- | | | | | | Service and f | es promotion facilitation | |
|--|-------------------|---------------|-----------------|-------------|-----------------|---------------------------------------|---------------------------------------|------------------------|----------------|----------------------|--------------------------|-------------------|---------------|-----------------------|------------------------------------|------------------|------------------------------|-----------------------|
| Agreement | General Excep- | Security | Pruden- tial | | intry ptions | Clause for further Liberali- | Balance of Pay- ments/ Safe- | Finan- cial Ser- | Tele- com | poly Ser- vice | Domes- tic Regula- | Trans- parency | Tax- ation | Denial of Bene- | Disclo-sure of Infor- mation | Co- operation | Review of | Business Practices |
| Chile - | Interests | mea- sures | +ve List | –ve List | zation | guards | vices | | Provi- ders | tion | | | fits | mation | Mecha- nisms | Commit- ments | | |
| | | | | | | | | | So | uth-South | | | | | | | | |
| Chile - Korea | ± | ± | | | + | | ± | | ± | | | ± | ± | + | | ± | | |
| Korea- Singapore | ± | ± | | | + | | ± | ± | ± | + | +3 | ± | ± | + | +(Financial services) | ± | ± | |
| India- Singapore CECA | + | + | | + | | + | + | + | + | + | + | + | | + | + | ± | ± | + |
| ASEAN Framework Agreement on Services | | | | + | | + | | | + | | | | | + | | | | |
| COMESA | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| Andean Community (Decision 439) | + | + | | | + | + | + | + | | | + | + | | | | | | |

Key:

1. + Provisions contained in the Services Chapter

2. ± provisions are contained in a different Chapter

3. Also applies to investments covered by the Investment Chapter.

| | D/ C | | | Estab | lishment | | | | | Post Establi | shment | | |
|------------------------------|--------------------------|------------------|------------------|------------------|------------------|------------------|-----------------------|------------------|------------------|------------------|------------------|------------------|------------------|
| Agreement | Date of Entry into | Market | s Access | National | Treatment | | oured nation tment | Mark | et Access | National ' | Treatment | | avoured tion |
| - | force | Positive List | Negative List | Positive List | Negative List | Positive List | Negative List | Positive List | Negative List | Positive List | Negative List | Positive List | Negative List |
| | | | | | • | Nor | th-North | | | | | | |
| Australia- USA | 1 Jan. 2005 | | | | + | | + | | | | + | | + |
| | | | • | | • | Nor | th-South | • | | • | | | |
| NAFTA | 1 Jan. 2004 | | | | + | | + | | | | + | | + |
| CAFTA- DR | 1 July 2006 | | | | + | | + | | | | + | | + |
| US- Morocco | 1 July 2006 | | | | + | | + | | | | + | | + |
| Japan- Malaysia | 13 July 2006 | | | | + | | + | | | | + | | + |
| Japan- Mexico | 1 Jan. 2006 | | | | + | | + | | | | + | | + |
| Japan- Singapore | 1 May 2006 | | | | + | | | | | | + | | |
| TAFTA | 1 Jan. 2005 | | | + | | | + | | | + | | | + |
| EC-Chile | 1 Apr. 2005 | | | + | | | | | | | | | |
| EC-Jordan | 1 Feb. 2003 | | | | | | + | | | + | | | + |
| EFTA- Singapore | 1 Jan. 2003 | | | | + | | + | | | | + | | + |
| EFTA- Korea | 1 Sept. 2006 | | | | + | | + | | | | + | | + |
| Trans- Pacific SEP | 1 May. 2006 | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| New Zealand- Singapore | 1 Jan. 2001 | | | | + | | + | | | | + | | + |

Table 9A. Country Exceptions/Commitments in Investment Chapter

| | Date of | | | Estab | lishment | | | | | Post Establi | shment | | , |
|---|--------------------|------------------|------------------|------------------|------------------|------------------|------------------|------------------|------------------|------------------|------------------|------------------|------------------|
| Agreement | Entry into | Market | s Access | National | Treatment | | oured nation | Mark | et Access | National ' | Treatment | | avoured tion |
| | force | Positive List | Negative List |
| | | | | | • | Sou | th-South | | • | | | | |
| Chile- Korea | 1 Apr. 2004 | | | | + | | + | | | | + | | + |
| Korea- Singapore | 2 March 2006 | | | | + | | | | | | + | | |
| India- Singapore CECA | 1 Aug. 2005 | | | + India | + Singapore | | | | | + | | | |
| ASEAN Investment Area | 1998 | | | | + | | + | | | | + | | + |
| COMESA | 8 Dec. 1994 | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| Andean Community (Decisions 291 & 292) | 1 Jan. 1991 | | | | + | | | | | | + | | |

| | Date of | | | Establ | ishment | | | | | Post Establi | shment | | |
|---|--------------------|------------------|------------------|------------------|------------------|------------------|-------------------|------------------|------------------|------------------|------------------|------------------|------------------|
| Agreement | Entry into | | s Access | | Treatment | nation t | avoured treatment | | et Access | | Treatment | Na | avoured tion |
| | force | Positive List | Negative List | Positive List | Negative List | Positive List | Negative List | Positive List | Negative List | Positive List | Negative List | Positive List | Negative List |
| Australia-USA | 1 Jan. 2005 | | + | | + | | + | | + | | + | | + |
| NAFTA | | | | | + | | + | | | | + | | + |
| CAFTA-DR | | | + | | + | | + | | + | | + | | + |
| US-Morocco | 1 Jan. 2006 | | + | | + | | + | | + | | + | | + |
| Japan-Malaysia | 13 July 2006 | + | | + | | | + | + | | + | | | + |
| Japan-Mexico | 1 Apr. 2005 | | | | + | | + | | | | + | | + |
| Japan-Singapore | 30 Nov. 2002 | + | | + | | | | + | | + | | | |
| TAFTA | 1 Jan. 2005 | + | | + | | | | + | | + | | | |
| EC-Chile | 1 Feb. 2003 | + | | + | | | | + | | + | | | |
| EC-Jordan | 1 Jan. 2005 | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| EFTA-Singapore | 1 Jan. 2003 | + | | + | | | + | + | | + | | | + |
| EFTA-Korea | 1 Sept. 2006 | + | | + | | | + | + | | + | | | + |
| Trans-Pacific SEP | 1 May 2006 | | + | | + | | + | | + | | + | | + |
| New Zealand- Singapore | 1 Jan. 2001 | + | | + | | | | | | + | | + | |
| Chile Korea | 1 Apr. 2004 | | | | + | | | | | | + | | |
| Korea-Singapore | 2 March 2006 | | + | | + | | | = | + | | + | | |
| India-Singapore CECA | 1 Aug. 2005 | + | | + | | | | + | | + | | | |
| ASEAN Framework Agreement on Services | 1995 | + | | | | | + | + | | | | | + |
| COMESA | 8 Dec. 1994 | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| Andean Community Decision 1998 | 28 May 1998 | | + | | + | | + | | + | | + | | + |

Table 9B. Country Exceptions/Commitments in Services Chapter

| | | | | | | | | Specif | ïc Investor/ St | ate provision | S | | | | | | | |
|---------------------------------|-----------------|--------------------|---|--------------------------------------|--|--|--|---------------|---|--------------------------------------|---|---|---------------------------------|------------------|---------|---------------|----------------|---------|
| | State/ State | Investor/ State | Claims by an investor of a Party on its own behalf and on behalf of an Enterprise | Prior Consent | Waivers of initiating/ continuing a proceeding before local courts/ Non- Exhaustion of local remedies | Participa- tion by the non- disputing Party | Transpa- rency (access to filing, minutes, transcript- tions and deci- sions) | Open hearings | Protec-tion of sensitive informa- tion | Amicus curiae submis- sions | Monetary awards and no punitive damages | Comment period before effective- ness of awards/ delay of enforce- ment | Enforcement | Interim measures | Experts | Consolidation | Applicable law | Appeals |
| | | | | | | | | -North | | r | | 1 | 1 | | | | | - |
| AUSFTA | ± | | | | | | ± | | ± | ± | ± | | | | | | | |
| | | - | | | | | | n-Soutl | | r | | | | | | | | |
| NAFTA | ± | + | + | + | | + | + | | + | + | + | + | + | + | + | + | + | |
| CAFTA- DR | ± | + | + | + | | + | + | + | + | + | + | + | + | + | + | + | + | |
| US- | ± | + | + | + | | + | | + | + | | + | + | + | + | + | + | + | |
| Morocco | | | | | | 4 1 1 0 5 | | | | | <i>(</i>), , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , | | | | | | | |
| Japan- Malaysia | ± | + | | + (for authorised investments) | | Article 85 (3) allows non- disputing Party to submit interpretation of the Agreement to arbitral tribunal. | | | | | (it provides monetary award but there is no prohibition clause for punitive damage) | | +(Article 85 (15) | + | | | | |
| Japan- Mexico | ± | + | + | + | | + | + | | + | | + | | + | + | + | + | + | |
| Japan Singapore | ± | + | | + | | | | | | | | | + (Article 82 (10 (e)) | + | | | | |
| TAFTA | ± | + | | | | | | 1 | | | | | (-// | | | | + | |
| EC-Chile | + | | | | | | | | | | | | | | + | | | |
| EC-Jordan | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| EFTA- Singapore ^a | ± | + | | | | | | | ± | | | ± | ± | | ± | | | |
| EFTA- | ± | + | | + | | | | | | | | ± | ± | + | ± | | | |

Table 10. Dispute Settlement with respect to Investments

| | | | Specific Investor/ State provisions | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
|-------|-----------------|--------------------|---|---------------|--|---|--|---------------|---|--------------------------------------|--|---|-------------|------------------|---------|---------------|----------------|---------|
| | State/ State | Investor/ State | Claims by an investor of a Party on its own behalf and on behalf of an Enterprise | Prior Consent | Waivers of initiating/ continuing a proceeding before local courts/ Non- Exhaustion of local remedies | Participa- tion by the non- disputing Party | Transpa- rency (access to filing, minutes, transcript- tions and deci- sions) | Open hearings | Protec-tion of sensitive informa- tion | Amicus curiae submis- sions | Monetary awards and no punitive damages | Comment period before effective- ness of awards/ delay of enforce- ment | Enforcement | Interim measures | Experts | Consolidation | Applicable law | Appeals |
| Korea | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |

| $\left \begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $ | | | | Specific Investor/ State provisions | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
|---|-----------------|-------------|---|--|---------------|--|----------------------------------|--|--------------|-------------------------------------|--------|--------------------------|-------------|--------------------|---|--|-------------|------------------|---------|---------------|----------------|---------|
| $ \begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$ | | | | investor of a Party on its own behalf and on behalf of an | Prior Consent | initiating/ continuing a proceeding before local courts/ Non- Exhaustion of local | tion by the non- disputing | rency (accest to filing, minutes, transcript- tions and deci- | Stan hearing | Protect of sen inform tion | sitive | <i>curiae</i> submis- | awar and | rds no punitive | : | period before effective- ness of awards/ delay of enforce- | Enforcement | Interim measures | Experts | Consolidation | Applicable law | Appeals |
| Zealand- Singapore ^b Image: Construction of the system of the syste | Pacific | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| Chile-Korea ± + <th< td=""><td>Zealand-</td><td>±</td><td>+</td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td>F</td><td>:</td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td>±</td><td></td><td></td><td></td></th<> | Zealand- | ± | + | | | | | | | F | : | | | | | | | | ± | | | |
| Korea-Singapore ± + + + + + + + + + <th<< td=""><td></td><td colspan="15">South-South</td></th<<> | | South-South | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| India-Singapore CECA \pm $+$ \pm \pm \pm \pm $+$ $-$ ASEAN Investment Area $+$ $+$ $ -$ </td <td></td> <td>+</td> <td>+</td> <td>+</td> <td></td> <td>+ -</td> <td>+ -</td> <td>F</td> <td></td> | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | + | + | + | | + - | + - | F | |
| ASEAN Investment Area++ \pm^d | Korea-Singapore | | | | | + | | | | | | + | | | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | | ± | | | | ± | ± | + | | | | | d | | |
| | | | | | | +* | | + | | | | | | | | | | _ | | _ | ±- | |
| Andean Community (Decisions 291 & 298) ± 1 Jan. 1991 | | | | | | 1 Ian 1991 | | | | | | + $+$ $-$ | | | | | | | | | | |

Key:

1. + Provisions contained in the Investment Chapter

2. ± provisions are contained in a different Chapter

Notes:

a. In the EFTA-Singapore agreement the provisions marked by "±" symbol apply only to State/State dispute.

b. In the New Zealand-Singapore agreement the provisions marked by "±" symbol apply only to State/State dispute.

c. Obligation contained in the 1987 ASEAN Agreement for the Promotion and Protection of Investments.

d. Applies only to interstate disputes.

| Agreements | Chapter | MFN treatment? | Reservations on MFN treatment | REIO exception clause? | Specific MFN reservation regarding third party agreements? | Request for incorporation of treatment no less favourable in a third party agreement | Review of commitments foreseen in the agreement with the aim of improving overall commitments? |
|-------------------------|---------------|-------------------|----------------------------------|------------------------------|--|--|--|
| NAFTA and NAFTA-inspire | ed agreements | | | | • | | |
| AUSFTA | Investment | Yes | Negative list | No | Reservation for all past agreements and in 3 sectors for future agreements | No | No |
| NAFTA | Investment | Yes | Negative list | No | Reservation for all past agreements and in 4 sectors for future agreements | No | No |
| US-CAFTA-DR | Investment | Yes | Negative list | No | Reservation for all past agreements and in 4 sectors for future agreements (US, Dominican Republic). Only vis-à-vis the US and Dominican Republic for the other countries. | No | No |
| US-Morocco | Investment | Yes | Negative list | No | Reservation for all past agreements and in 3 sectors for future agreements | No | No |
| Japan-Mexico | Investment | Yes | Negative list | No | Reservation for all past agreements and in 3 sectors for future agreements | No | No |
| Korea-Chile | Investment | Yes | Negative list | Yes | - | Yes | Every two years |
| Korea-Singapore | Investment | No | - | - | - | Yes | Annually |
| GATS-inspired agreemen | ts | | | | | | |
| Japan-Singapore | Investment | No | - | - | - | Yes | No |
| Japan-Singapore | Services | No | - | - | - | Yes | No |
| Japan-Malaysia | Investment | Yes | Negative list | No | Malaysia has a reservation with respect to preferential treatment granted in any ASEAN agreement | - | No |
| | Services | Yes | Negative list | No | No | Yes | Within five years |
| ТАГТА | Investment | Yes | None | No | No | Yes | No |
| TAFTA | Services | No | - | - | - | Yes | Within three years |
| | Investment | Yes | Negative list | Yes | - | Yes | Every two years |
| EFTA-Singapore | Services | Yes | Negative list | Yes | - | Yes | Every two years |
| EFTA-Korea | Investment | Yes | Negative list | Yes | - | Yes | Within three years and in regular intervals thereafter |
| | Services | Yes | Negative list | Yes | - | Yes | Every two years |
| Trans-Pacific SEP | Services | Yes | Negative list | No | Chile, New Zealand and Singapore have a reservation for all past agreements and in 3 sectors for future agreements | - | Within two years and every three years thereafter |
| New Zealand-Singapore | Investment | Yes | Negative list | No | No | - | Every two years |
| CEP | Services | No | - | - | - | No | Every two years |
| | Investment | No | - | - | - | Yes | Every two years |
| India-Singapore CECA | Services | No | - | - | - | Yes | Every two years |

Table 11. MFN Treatment Provisions in Selected Regional Trade Agreements

ANNEX 2 - ANALYSIS OF THE SCHEDULES OF COMMITMENTS: METHODOLOGY, CAVEATS AND SUMMARY TABLES

This annex explains the methodology used in Part II to assess the degree of liberalisation achieved in the RTAs and to make a comparison between the schedules of commitments contained in RTAs and GATS schedules.

A. Methodology

The analysis has been conducted on 10 of the agreements listed in Part I: AUSFTA, NAFTA, US-Morocco, Japan-Mexico, Japan-Singapore, Thailand-Australia, EC-Chile, EFTA-Singapore, Chile-Korea, and India-Singapore. To illustrate the commitments from EFTA countries, the schedule of Switzerland has been used in the analysis of the agreement between EFTA states and Singapore.

The assessment of liberalisation commitments focuses on services as it is in the services sector that the main obstacles to FDI remain. The analysis of the schedules of commitments shows that most reservations, exceptions, non-conforming measures listed deal with services. There are very few entries on manufacturing goods in the schedules. There are sometimes reservations in the primary sector (in particular mining and fishing activities) but the vast majority are in services sectors. This is not surprising since FDI in services accounts for 60% of total FDI flows; and this share of total FDI flows is considerably lower than the 80 to 90 per cent of total reservations or limitations in the schedules taken by services.

There are several difficulties involved in analysing schedules of commitments on investment in services and making comparisons among different trade agreements (and in particular between RTA schedules and GATS schedules for Mode 3):

- First, there is no agreed and official classification of services sectors and countries can schedule their liberalisation commitments according to their own definitions of services sectors. During the Uruguay Round which established the GATS, a services sectoral classification list (GNS_W/120) was widely used and is reproduced in Annex 3. WTO members were free to use this classification or the UN Central Product Classification (CPC)⁶² to which the GATS list refers (or their own classification). Many RTAs especially when they follow a GATS approach list commitments using W/120.
- Liberalisation commitments are presented differently in NAFTA-inspired agreements (with a negative list of reservations) and GATS-inspired agreements (with a positive list of sectors where commitments are taken and a list of limitations that apply in these sectors). There are also several models and concepts involved in "liberalising" investment: national treatment (pre- and post-entry), most-favoured-nation treatment (pre- and post-entry), right of establishment, market access. Foreign investors have access to domestic markets and benefit from non-discriminatory treatment according to different models of liberalisation.

^{62.} The CPC has been updated twice, in 1997 and 2002, and CPC 2.0 is foreseen for 2007.

- There are also several issues with the definition of national treatment, MFN and market access. In the NAFTA approach, the two principles are national treatment and MFN and they are granted pre- and post-establishment. Things become more complicated in GATS and in agreements that reproduce the GATS approach for investment in services. In the GATS, there is no distinction between pre- and post-establishment and it is not always clear whether limitations listed as "market access" are not also, *de facto*, limitations on "national treatment".
- Lastly, there is an intrinsic difference between a RTA covering investment in services and a multilateral agreement on trade in services covering Mode 3 (the GATS). For several of the RTAs analysed, their objective is to liberalise all forms of investment between two countries, while the GATS is a multilateral agreement on trade in services including supply through commercial presence (Mode 3). Also the GATS allows countries to take varying degrees of commitments. RTA schedules and the GATS schedules should be compared bearing in mind this difference. There is also a difference in chronology as the GATS was negotiated in 1994 and the agreements analysed are more recent (with the exception of NAFTA) and therefore may reflect policy developments towards investment in services.

An early methodology to quantitatively assess GATS schedules by creating an index (Hoekman, 1995) cannot be extended to analyse investment commitments in RTAs where liberalisation commitments take various forms. An index of the extensiveness of commitments would not be robust enough when calculated in the context of negative lists of reservations in NAFTA-inspired agreements and GATS-inspired schedules in other agreements. The comparison between a GATS index and an index of commitments in RTAs could also be misleading.

Here therefore a simpler methodology has been developed based on a graphical and numerical analysis at a less disaggregated level (the 12 services sectors in W/120).⁶³ The W/120 classification covers all sectors relevant for investment, although their economic importance may vary. The W/210 classification has often been criticised for inadequately reflecting the reality of trade in services (for example regarding environmental services or energy services). An analysis at a more aggregated level has the advantage of limiting the distortions inherent to classification issues.

Tables 12 and 13 summarise the results of the analysis. They provide a "mapping" of the schedules of commitments in the RTAs with respect to the three disciplines usually found in the agreements: national treatment, MFN treatment and market access commitments. The first column of the table reports the reservations that apply to all sectors or "horizontal limitations" in GATS language (this is why the column is tagged with "H"). The subsequent columns describe the 12 sectors of the W/120 classification. Box 2 details how the schedules were analysed to construct the tables.

For each sector, the tables report two kinds of information:

- First, the degree of commitments in the sector is indicated by the colour (or pattern) of the cell. The typology is the following:
 - No commitments in the sector or sector excluded (dark cell with black hatched lines).

^{63.} Roy *et al.* (2006) analyse commitments undertaken by 29 WTO Members under mode 1 and mode 3 in 28 RTAs at the level of the 152 sub-sectors (for mode 3) of the W/120 Classification List. For each country and each RTA, they report the proportion of sub-sectors where commitments are made. They also indicate if in comparison to GATS schedules and GATS offers the commitments are further improved in the regional agreement.

- Commitments in a limited number of sub-sectors: it means that the number of sub-sectors liberalized is less than 75% of the sub-sectors where commitments can potentially be made (dark grey cell).
- Commitments in most of the sector: more than 75% of the sub-sectors where commitments can potentially be made are scheduled. Only a few sub-sectors have been excluded (light grey lattice pattern)
- *Commitments across the entire sector* describes the situation where there are commitments in the totality of the sector (no sub-sector is excluded). If no figure appears in the cell, there are no limitations at all, *i.e.* full non-discriminatory treatment applies (white cells).
- The second information reported in the table is the number of limitations in each sector. It is indicated by a figure in the middle of the cell. There is no figure when no limitations are listed in the schedule.

Box 2. Specific rules that were followed when analysing the schedules and counting the limitations

- Only limitations or reservations on investment in services are taken into account. For NAFTA-inspired
 agreements, the services sectors were identified on the basis of their description in the relevant annex.
 Reservations for "all sectors" are reported when they are relevant for investment in services. For GATS-like
 schedules of commitments, only information on Mode 3 has been used (including for horizontal limitations).
- Only limitations to national treatment, MFN treatment and market access are reported. The definition used is
 the one from the agreement (and can therefore be different according to the RTA analysed).
- Non-conforming measures that are phased-out (NAFTA-inspired agreements) are not counted and precommitments in GATS-inspired schedules are included (we look at the degree of liberalisation achieved at the end of the transitory periods).
- There are commitments in the totality of the sector (blank cells) if no reservation is listed in the case of a negative list or if all the sub-sectors of the W/120 classification have commitments in the case of a GATSinspired schedule.
- The number of limitations tries to reflect the real number of measures that are inconsistent with the disciplines of the agreements but maintained by the parties. When several measures are listed in a same paragraph or a same "entry" in the schedule, they are counted separately. When a non-conforming measure is described through lengthy paragraphs that detail the reservation, it is counted as one. However, the number of limitations is still influenced by the way the schedule is organised (the same measure that applies to several sectors can be counted several times).
- When a sector or sub-sector is listed in the annex on future measures in a NAFTA-inspired agreement and the country can take any measure in the future, it is treated in the same way as an unbound sector in a GATS schedule (absence of commitment).

B. Caveats

This methodology comes with certain caveats. It should be kept in mind that commitments do not reflect the actual level of liberalisation of investment. A country that makes no commitment in a sector can nonetheless allow foreign investment. But it will be without guarantee of non-discriminatory treatment and the country may take any kind of measure in the sector. The schedules may be understood as reflecting the minimal treatment that is guaranteed.

On the other hand, investment may be restricted more than indicated by the schedules of commitments. "Liberalisation" in the context of services is measured through non-discriminatory treatment (national treatment, MFN) and/or the concept of "market access" (as defined in the agreements). For example, a restrictive investment regime can be applied equally to domestic and foreign investors. The analysis is about the schedules of commitments and not the actual level of investment liberalisation (or the implementation of these schedules).

The number of limitations should be interpreted with care, especially when comparing different agreements.⁶⁴ Countries have adopted different approaches in reporting their limitations to national treatment, MFN treatment, or market access. In particular, schedules of commitments that are provided at a disaggregated sectoral level will tend to have a higher number of limitations reported, some of them being reiterated for different sub-sectors. Some double-counting may therefore occur. The number of limitations is also not a very good indicator of how detrimental these limitations are for investment. A limitation can be very general and wide with a potentially high impact on investment. It can also be very specific and not essential. While limitations reported can be real barriers to foreign investment (such as a limitation on the percentage of foreign participation or a citizenship requirement), they can also be clarifications or indications about domestic legislation that does not necessarily represent a barrier to investment.

The number of limitations can also be higher when there are more commitments in the schedule. It can be surprising to see in the tables that there are sometimes more limitations in a RTA than in the GATS schedule but it is important also to consider the number of sub-sectors where commitments are taken. A country can open up to its bilateral partner more sub-sectors while listing additional limitations for these sub-sectors. The number of limitations is thus higher but the schedule has a greater coverage. From the point of view of investors, this situation is better than facing sectors with no commitments or where many sub-sectors are excluded (rather than included with limitations).

Despite these limitations, the advantage of the methodology is to its simplicity and providing a quick snapshot of the level of commitments by looking along the line which adds up the different sectors. It is also easy to make a comparison between the schedules of the parties to a same agreement or with schedules in another agreement.

^{64.} In the case of the EU, it should be noted that most limitations concern specific Member states and only limitations that exist across all EU countries are reported in the tables.

Table 12. Commitments and reservations in 5 NAFTA-inspired regional trade agreements

| Investment commitments | All sectors H | Business services 1 NT MA MFN | Communication services 2 NT MA MFN | Construction and related engineering services 3 NT MA MFN | Distribution services 4 NT MA MFN | Educational services 5 | Environmental services 6 NT MA MFN | Financial services 7 NT MA MFN | services 8 | Tourism and travel related services 9 NT MA MFN | Recreational, cultural and sporting services 10 NT MA MFN | Transport services 11 NT MA MFN | Other services not included elsewhere 12 NT MA MFN |
|---|-----------------------------|-------------------------------------|---|--|--|------------------------------|---|--------------------------------------|---------------|---|---|--|--|
| | NI MA MFN | NI MA MEN | NT MA MEN | NI MA MEN | NI MA MFN | NT MA MEN | NI MA MFN | NI MA MFN | NI MA MFN | NI MA MFN | NT MA MEN | NT MA MEN | NT MA MEN |
| US-Australia FTA | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| Australia | 4 n/a 2 | | 5 n/a 3 | n/a | 1 n/a | n/a | n/a | 3 | 2 n/a 1 | n/a | n/a | 6 n/a | n/a |
| United States | 3 n/a 4 | 1 n/a 1 | 2 n/a 2 | n/a | n/a | n/a | n/a | 10 10 5 | 1 n/a 1 | n/a | n/a | 4 n/a 3 | n/a |
| NAFTA | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| Canada | 8 n/a 2 | 2 n/a | 1 n/a 1 | n/a | n/a | n/a | n/a | | 1 n/a 1 | n/a | n/a | 2 n/a 2 | n/a |
| Mexico | 6 n/a 1 | 3 n/a 2 | 10 n/a 4 | 1 n/a | 3 n/a | 1 n/a | n/a | 10 12 1 | 1 n/a | n/a | n/a | 10 n/a 2 | n/a |
| United States | 4 n/a 5 | 2 n/a 2 | 3 n/a 2 | n/a | n/a | n/a | n/a | 7 4 | n/a | n/a | n/a | 5 n/a 4 | n/a |
| US-Morocco FTA | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| Morocco | 2 1 | 10 4 5 | 1 6 | | 2 | 2 | 1 | 7 11 | 7 4 5 | 1 | | 3 4 2 | |
| United States | 3 1 4 | 1 1 | 1 | | | | | 10 11 5 | | | | 4 | |
| Japan-Mexico Economi | c Partnership* | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| Mexico | 8 n/a 1 | 9 n/a 2 | 8 n/a 4 | 1 n/a | 1 n/a | 1 n/a | n/a | GATS & OECD | 1 n/a | n/a | 1 n/a 1 | 18 n/a 1 | n/a |
| Japan | 4 n/a 1 | 5 n/a 1 | 4 n/a | n/a | n/a | n/a | 1 n/a | GATS & OECD | 1 n/a | n/a | n/a | 11 n/a 4 | n/a |
| * The commitments in fin | ancial services a | are those of the | OECD Code of | Liberalisation of | r Capital Wover | ients and of the | GATS. | | | | | | |
| Chile-Korea FTA* | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| Chile | 5 n/a | 8 n/a | 11 n/a | n/a | n/a | n/a | n/a | | 1 n/a | n/a | n/a | 24 n/a | n/a |
| Korea | 8 n/a | 6 n/a | 26 n/a | n/a | n/a | 3 n/a | n/a | | 3 n/a | n/a | 3 n/a | 9 n/a | n/a |
| * Financial services are n | ot in the agreem | nent yet (a nego | tiation is schedi | uled four years a | ifter the entry in | to force of the a | greement) | | | | | | |
| No commitments in the sector Commitments in a limited numl Commitments in most of the se Commitments across the entire | ber of sub-sectors ector | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| Horizontal limitations (affect all | sectors) * first colu | mn only * | |] | | | | | | | | | |
| Number of limitations | | | 2 | | | | | | | | | | |
| Non applicable | | | n/a |] | | | | | | | | | |

Table 13. Commitments and reservations in 5 GATS-inspired regional trade agreements

| Investment commitments | All sectors H | Business services 1 | Communication services 2 | Construction and related engineering services 3 | Distribution services 4 | Educational services 5 | Environmental services 6 | Financial services 7 | Health related and social services 8 | Tourism and travel related services 9 | Recreational, cultural and sporting services 10 | Transport services 11 | Other services not included elsewhere 12 |
|--|------------------------|------------------------|--------------------------------|---|-------------------------------|------------------------------|--------------------------------|-------------------------|---|--|--|-----------------------------|---|
| | NT MA MFN | I NT MA MFN | NT MA MFN | NT MA MFN | NT MA MFN | NT MA MFN | I NT MA MFN | I NT MA MFN | NT MA MFN | NT MA MFN | NT MA MFN | NT MA MFN | NT MA MFN |
| Japan-Singapore New Age I | | | nent | | | | | | | | | | |
| Japan Singapore | 2 3 | 8 14 5 5 | 1 1 | 10 5 | 3 | | | 1 2 | 2 2 | | | 7 7 | |
| Thailand-Australia FTA (TAI | TA) | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| Australia Thailand | 4 9 | 2 32 | 5 | | | | | 2 13 6 29 | 1 | | 2 4 | 1 2 | |
| EU-Chile Association Agree | | J2 | 13 10 | 3 | | 4 1 | | | | | 2 4 | 13 3 | |
| Chile | 5 5 | 7 8 | 1 4 | | | | | 1 25 | | | 1 1 | 6 7 | |
| EU* * Limitations that apply in specific EU | 2* 1* Member States ar | | an asterisk signals t | heir presence | | | | 3* 3* | | | | 3 3* | |
| EFTA-Singapore FTA | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| Singapore Switzerland | 3 | 3 3 7 2 | | | 3 | | | 7 22 2 2 | 2 2 | 2 1 | | 2 2 3 4 | |
| India-Singapore Comprehen | sive Economic | | Agreement | | | | | | | | | | |
| India Singapore | 7 2 | 9 13 4 6 | 8 19 5 | 1 1 | 2 5 | 1 | | 3 30 42 45 | 1 2 1 2 | | | 1 2 1 1 | |
| No commitments in the sector - sector Commitments in a limited number of Commitments in most of the sector Commitments across the entire sector | sub-sectors | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| Horizontal limitations (affect all secto | rs) * first column or | nly * | | | | | | | | | | | |
| Number of limitations | | | 2 | | | | | | | | | | |

| GATS Mode 3 commitments | н | Business services 1 | 2 | Construction and related engineering services 3 | Distribution services 4 | Educational services 5 | Environmental services 6 | Financial services 7 | Health related and social services 8 | Tourism and travel related services 9 | Recreational, cultural and sporting services 10 | | Other services not included elsewhere 12 |
|-------------------------|-----------|------------------------|-----------|---|-------------------------------|------------------------------|--------------------------------|-------------------------------------|---|--|--|-----------|---|
| | NT MA MFN | NT MA MFN | NT MA MFN | NT MA MFN | N NT MA MFN | NT MA MFN | NT MA MFN | I NT MA MFN | NT MA MFN | NT MA MFN | NT MA MFN | NT MA MFN | NT MA MFN |
| Australia | 4 1 | 2 2 | 3 2 | | | | | 2 13 | | | | 1 | |
| European Union* | 2 1* 2* | * | * 5* | * | | | | * 2* 1* | | | 2 * | 1* 2* | |
| Canada | 8 2 1 | 4 4 | 1 3 2 | | | | | 992 | | 1 2 | | 1 5 3 | |
| Chile | 4 3 1 | 4 | 4 1 | | | | | 1 21 | | | | 5 | |
| India | 1 | 4 | 3 12 3 | 1 | | | | 8 20 | 1 | 2 | 1 | 2 | |
| Japan | | 8 | | | | | 1 | 1 3 | | | | 2 | |
| Jordan | 1 1 1 | 2 14 3 | 4 2 | | | 2 | | 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 | | 1 | 1 | 1 5 1 | |
| Korea | 4 2 | | 3 | 6 | <u> 5 </u> | | 4 | 4 36 | | | | 4 8 1 | |
| Mexico | 1 1 | 2 33 | 1 17 | 11111111711 | 4 | | | 30 | 4 | 10 2 | | 5 6 1 | 6 |
| Morocco | 1 | 1 | 4 | 1 | | | | | | | | 3 1 | |
| Singapore | 3 2 | 1 | 2 2 | | | | | 10 16 2 | | | | 2 | |
| Switzerland | 3 | 7 2 | 3 | | 3 | | | 2 2 1 | | 2 | | 2 4 4 | |
| United States | 3 3 | 4 | 1 3 1 | | | 2 | | 5 36 5 | 1 | 2 | | 2 5 | |
| Thailand | 1 2 | 29 3 | 9 10 | 3 | 1 | 3 | 9 | 6 29 | | 5 | 2 | 15 8 3 | |

* Limitations that apply in specific EU Member States are not reported but an asterisk signals their presence

| No commitments in the sector - sector excluded Commitments in a limited number of sub-sectors Commitments in most of the sector Commitments across the entire sector | |
|---|---|
| Horizontal limitations (affect all sectors) * first column only * | |
| Number of limitations | 2 |

ANNEX 3 - THE GATS W/120 SERVICES SECTORAL CLASSIFICATION LIST

SECTORS AND SUB-SECTORS

1. **BUSINESS SERVICES**

- A. Professional Services
- a. Legal Services
- b. Accounting, auditing and bookkeeping services
- c. Taxation Services
- d. Architectural services
- e. Engineering services
- f. Integrated engineering services
- g. Urban planning and landscape architectural services
- h. Medical and dental services
- i. Veterinary services
- j. Services provided by midwives, nurses, physiotherapists and paramedical personnel
- k. Other
- B. Computer and Related Services
- a. Consultancy services related to the installation of computer hardware
- b. Software implementation services
- c. Data processing services
- d. Data base services
- e. Other
- C. Research and Development Services
- a. R&D services on natural sciences
- b. R&D services on social sciences and humanities
- c. Interdisciplinary R&D services
- D. <u>Real Estate Services</u>
- a. Involving own or leased property
- b. On a fee or contract basis
- E. <u>Rental/Leasing Services without Operators</u>
- a. Relating to ships
- b. Relating to aircraft
- c. Relating to other transport equipment
- d. Relating to other machinery and equipment
- e. Other

- F. Other Business Services
- a. Advertising services
- b. Market research and public opinion polling services
- c. Management consulting service
- d. Services related to management consulting
- e. Technical testing and analysis services
- f. Services incidental to agriculture, hunting and forestry
- g. Services incidental to fishing
- h. Services incidental to mining
- i. Services incidental to manufacturing
- j. Services incidental to energy distribution
- k. Placement and supply services of Personnel
- 1. Investigation and security
- m. Related scientific and technical consulting services
- n. Maintenance and repair of equipment (not including maritime vessels, aircraft or other transport equipment)
- o. Building-cleaning services
- p. Photographic services
- q. Packaging services
- r. Printing, publishing
- s. Convention services
- t. Other

2. <u>COMMUNICATION SERVICES</u>

- A. Postal services
- B. Courier services
- C. <u>Telecommunication services</u>
- a. Voice telephone services
- b. Packet-switched data transmission services
- c. Circuit-switched data transmission services
- d. Telex services
- e. Telegraph services
- f. Facsimile services
- g. Private leased circuit services
- h. Electronic mail
- i. Voice mail
- j. On-line information and data base retrieval
- k. Electronic data interchange (EDI)
- 1. Enhanced/value-added facsimile services, incl. store and forward, store and retrieve
- m. Code and protocol conversion
- n. On-line information and/or data processing (incl. transaction processing)
- o. Other

- D. <u>Audiovisual services</u>
- a. Motion picture and video tape production and distribution services
- b. Motion picture projection service
- c. Radio and television services
- d. Radio and television transmission services
- e. Sound recording
- f. Other
- E. Other

3. <u>CONSTRUCTION AND RELATED ENGINEERING SERVICES</u>

- A. General construction work for buildings
- B. General construction work for civil engineering
- C. Installation and assembly work
- D. Building completion and finishing work
- E. Other

4. **DISTRIBUTION SERVICES**

- A. Commission agents' services
- B. <u>Wholesale trade services</u>
- C. <u>Retailing services</u>
- D. Franchising
- E. Other

5. EDUCATIONAL SERVICES

- A. Primary education services
- B. Secondary education services
- C. <u>Higher education services</u>
- D. Adult education
- E. Other education services

6. <u>ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES</u>

- A. Sewage services
- B. <u>Refuse disposal services</u>
- C. Sanitation and similar services
- D. Other

7. <u>FINANCIAL SERVICES</u>

- A. All insurance and insurance-related services
- a. Life, accident and health insurance services
- b. Non-life insurance services

- c. Reinsurance and retrocession
- d. Services auxiliary to insurance (including broking and agency services)
- B. <u>Banking and other financial services</u> (excl. insurance)
- a. Acceptance of deposits and other repayable funds from the public
- b. Lending of all types, incl., *inter alia*, consumer credit, mortgage credit, factoring and financing of commercial transaction
- c. Financial leasing
- d. All payment and money transmission services
- e. Guarantees and commitments
- f. Trading for own account or for account of customers, whether on an exchange, in an over-thecounter market or otherwise, the following:
 - money market instruments (cheques, bills, certificate of deposits, etc.)
 - foreign exchange
 - derivative products incl., but not limited to, futures and options
 - exchange rate and interest rate instruments, inclu. products such as swaps, forward rate agreements, etc.
 - transferable securities
 - other negotiable instruments and financial assets, incl. bullion
- g. Participation in issues of all kinds of securities, incl. under-writing and placement as agent (whether publicly or privately) and provision of service related to such issues
- h. Money broking
- i. Asset management, such as cash or portfolio management, all forms of collective investment management, pension fund management, custodial depository and trust services
- j. Settlement and clearing services for financial assets, incl. securities, derivative products, and other negotiable instruments
- k. Advisory and other auxiliary financial services on all the activities listed in Article 1B of MTN.TNC/W/50, incl. credit reference and analysis, investment and portfolio research and advice, advice on acquisitions and on corporate restructuring and strategy
- 1. Provision and transfer of financial information, and financial data processing and related software by providers of other financial services
- C. Other
- 8. <u>HEALTH RELATED AND SOCIAL SERVICES</u> (other than those listed under 1.A.h-j.)
- A. <u>Hospital services</u>
- B. Other Human Health Services
- C. Social Services
- D. Other

9. TOURISM AND TRAVEL RELATED SERVICES

- A. <u>Hotels and restaurants (incl. catering)</u>
- B. Travel agencies and tour operators services
- C. Tourist guides services
- D. <u>Other</u>

10. RECREATIONAL, CULTURAL AND SPORTING SERVICES

(other than audiovisual services)

- A. Entertainment services (including theatre, live bands and circus services)
- B. <u>News agency services</u>
- C. Libraries, archives, museums and other cultural services
- D. Sporting and other recreational services
- E. Other

11. TRANSPORT SERVICES

- A. Maritime Transport Services
- a. Passenger transportation
- b. Freight transportation
- c. Rental of vessels with crew
- d. Maintenance and repair of vessels
- e. Pushing and towing services
- f. Supporting services for maritime transport
- B. Internal Waterways Transport
- a. Passenger transportation
- b. Freight transportation
- c. Rental of vessels with crew
- d. Maintenance and repair of vessels
- e. Pushing and towing services
- f. Supporting services for internal waterway transport
- C. Air Transport Services
- a. Passenger transportation
- b. Freight transportation
- c. Rental of aircraft with crew
- d. Maintenance and repair of aircraft
- e. Supporting services for air transport

D. Space Transport

- E. Rail Transport Services
- a. Passenger transportation
- b. Freight transportation
- c. Pushing and towing services
- d. Maintenance and repair of rail transport equipment
- e. Supporting services for rail transport services
- F. Road Transport Services
- a. Passenger transportation
- b. Freight transportation
- c. Rental of commercial vehicles with operator
- d. Maintenance and repair of road transport equipment
- e. Supporting services for road transport services

- G. <u>Pipeline Transport</u>
- a. Transportation of fuels
- b. Transportation of other goods
- H. <u>Services auxiliary to all modes of transport</u>
- a. Cargo-handling services
- b. Storage and warehouse services
- c. Freight transport agency services
- d. Other
- I. Other Transport Services

12. OTHER SERVICES NOT INCLUDED ELSEWHERE